
BOROUGH OF TAMWORTH 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 
 

2 October 2024 
 
 
A meeting of the CABINET will be held on Thursday, 10th October, 2024, 6.00 pm 
in Town Hall, Market Street, Tamworth 
 

A G E N D A 
 

NON CONFIDENTIAL 
 
  
1 Apologies for Absence   
2 Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 8)  
3 Declarations of Interest  
 To receive any declarations of Members’ interests (pecuniary and non-pecuniary) 

in any matters which are to be considered at this meeting. 
  
When Members are declaring a pecuniary or non-pecuniary interest in respect of 
which they have dispensation, they should specify the nature of such interest.  
Members should leave the room if they have a pecuniary or non-pecuniary 
interest in respect of which they do not have a dispensation.   
  

4 Question Time:  
 To answer questions from members of the public pursuant to Executive 

Procedure Rule No. 13 
  

5 Matters Referred to the Cabinet in Accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules (Pages 9 - 12) 

 (Report of the Chair of Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny) 
  

6 Nature Declaration update (Pages 13 - 42) 
 (Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for 

Environmental Sustainability, Recycling and Waste) 
  

7 Social Housing Regulatory Programme Update (Pages 43 - 92) 
 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Homelessness and Planning) 

  

NON-CONFIDENTIAL



8 Staffordshire Leaders Board Update (To Follow) 
 (The Report of the Leader of the Council) 

  
9 Update on Strategic Review of Leasehold Service Charges (Pages 93 - 218) 
 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Homelessness and Planning). 

  
10 Exclusion of the Press and Public  
 To consider excluding the Press and Public from the meeting by passing the 

following resolution:- 
  
“That in accordance with the provisions of the Local Authorities (Executive 
Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, 
and Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting during the consideration of the following business on 
the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and the public interest in 
withholding the information outweighs the public  interest in disclosing the 
information to the public” 
  
At the time this agenda is published no representations have been received that 
this part of the meeting should be open to the public. 
  
  

11 House Project with Staffordshire County Council (Pages 219 - 264) 
 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Homelessness and Planning) 

  
12 Update on Housing Repairs Contract (Pages 265 - 346) 
 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Homelessness and Planning) 

  
13 Update on commercial Lease (Pages 347 - 366) 
 (Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Homelessness and Planning). 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
 
 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
  _____________________________________ 
 
Access arrangements 



If you have any particular access requirements when attending the meeting, please contact 
Democratic Services on 01827 709267 or e-mail democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk. We can 
then endeavour to ensure that any particular requirements you may have are catered for. 
 
Filming of Meetings 

The public part of this meeting may be filmed and broadcast.  Please refer to the Council’s 
Protocol on Filming, Videoing, Photography and Audio Recording at Council meetings which can 
be found here for further information. 

If a member of the public is particularly concerned about being filmed, please contact a member 
of Democratic Services before selecting a seat. 

FAQs 

For further information about the Council’s Committee arrangements please see the FAQ page 
here 

 
 
 
 
To Councillors: C Dean, D Foster, N Arkney, B  Clarke, S Daniels and L Smith. 

mailto:democratic-services@tamworth.gov.uk
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/councillors_docs/TBC-Filming-Protocol.docx
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-meetings-faqs


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 
CABINET 

HELD ON 16th SEPTEMBER 2024 
 
 
 
PRESENT: Councillors C Dean, D Foster, B  Clarke and L Smith 
 
The following officers were present: Stephen Gabriel (Chief Executive), Zoe 
Wolicki (Assistant Director People), Tracey Pointon (Legal Admin & Democratic 
Services Manager) and Laura Sandland (Democratic and Executive Support 
Officer) 
 
 

42 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors N Arkney and S Daniels. 
 

43 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting held on 8th August 2024 and 29th August 
2024 were approved as a correct record. 
 
(Moved by Councillor B Clarke and seconded by Councillor L Smith) 
 

44 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no Declarations of Interest. 
 

45 QUESTION TIME:  
 
QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC NO. 1 Under Schedule 4, 13, 
Huw Loxton will ask the Leader of the Council, Councillor C Dean the 
following question: - 
 
 
At the corporate scrutiny meeting on the 5th September, both yourself and the 
portfolio holder, Councillor Smith, made it very clear you felt the Tamworth 
Information Centre in the assembly rooms is an unsuitable venue for residents to 
go with council enquiries. Could you therefore please explain why you intend to 
continue offering the full customer service offer from this venue, alongside the 
planned reopening of a council reception at Marmion House? 
 
Response  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet 16 September 2024 
 

 
 

 

 
The primary function of front-facing customer services at the TIC will continue to 
be delivering box office and information centre services. However, our goal is to 
resolve enquiries at the first point of contact. Therefore, the same trained officers 
will answer questions and support residents wherever they visit, ensuring a 
customer-centred approach. It is acknowledged that for certain types of enquiries, 
the TIC venue has been unsuitable due to its open space and limited private 
areas. In such cases, Marmion House offers a more suitable environment. 
 
This approach enhances the service by offering a broader range of options and 
opening hours. The assembly rooms’ location is a sensible choice for continuing 
to provide information centre services, such as bus passes, parking permits, 
seasonal trails, local information, and guides. This is especially relevant given the 
ongoing regeneration work and anticipated changes in footfall. 
 
Supplementary  
 
Are you able to defer the decision for 6 months to do a full engagement with the 
public and other stakeholders and to give all 30 Councillors an opportunity to 
have their say at a future meeting.   
 
Response  
 
Thank you for your comments and I appreciate where you are coming from but in 
answer to that I would say we have consulted quite widely, every time we go out 
and speak to people on the doorstep they want to see those front facing services 
back at Marmion House, and only today at the tenants conference when they 
were told about it, there was a round of applause, there is a real appetite for this 
to happen and I understand your concerns about the whole building and those 
plans that were made to decommission a while ago but there were no plans in 
place for where the council’s forever home was going to be there were only plans 
for an interim  office space which would have cost a lot of money, much more 
than we are spending on opening the front desk up.  As I say this is something we 
are being asked about continually and its something that our whole group are 
committed to do and it is one of our manifesto pledges and we will be carrying on 
and we will take this thorough as arranged.   
 

46 MATTERS REFERRED TO THE CABINET IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURE RULES  
 
None 
 

47 MARMION HOUSE RECEPTION AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS  
 
Report of the Leader of the Council to update on details for a proposal for 
reopening reception at Marmion House and the steps needed to make this area fit 
for purpose for our customers once again.  The report also proposes to relocate 
all Committee meetings from the Town Hall to the council chamber at Marmion 
House.  And proposes to update audio visual technology to enhance meeting 
delivery and undertake minor refurbishment work to the current  
chamber. 

Page 6



Cabinet 16 September 2024 
 

 
 

 

 
RESOLVED: Cabinet 

 
1. Agreed to reopen the reception area at Marmion House to 

provide face-to-face customer services which meet the needs 
of the whole community as follows: Monday, Wednesday, 
Friday between 10.00am and 2.00pm & Tuesday and 
Thursday 2.00pm - 6.00pm  
 

2. approved the addition to the establishment for up to two years 
0.92 (Full Time Equivalent) Customer Experience Assistant, 
0.6 FTE Customer Service Officer funded from reserves. 
 

3.  Approved the redesign of the reception area to support the 
customer service offer which will open within four months of 
Cabinet approval (subject to contractors).   
 

4. Agreed to review opening hours, usage, and customer 
feedback on a weekly basis with a full review at six months.   
 

5. Agreed to continue to develop the service to explore and 
incorporate co-location working with statutory partners, the 
voluntary sector and community groups.   
 

6. Agreed to continue to deliver the full customer service offer 
from the Tamworth Information Centre at the Assembly 
Rooms during their opening hours. 
 

7. Agreed to relocate all council meetings to Marmion House 
upon completion of audio-visual technology installation and 
minor refurbishment of the council chamber, except for the 
civic ceremonies; and  
 

8.  
 
 

approved the repurposing of capital funds identified for 
Recovery and Reset and Town Hall improvement projects to 
fund refurbishments to the chamber and Marmion House 
reception. 
 

9.  A further recommendation was added that Cabinet  
 
Agreed to consider the option in conjunction with the Portfolio 
Holder of the sustainability of the re-opening of the front door 
with the aim to negate the environmental impact. 
 
 

 (Moved by Councillor B Clarke and seconded by Councillor L 
Smith) 

 
The Chair thanked Officers for the work that has been put into the report.   
  

  

Page 7



Cabinet 16 September 2024 
 

 
 

 

 Leader  
 

 

Page 8



 

 

Cabinet 
 

10th October 2024 
 
 

Report of the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee 
 
 

Matters referred to Cabinet in accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules 

 
Scrutiny Committee Title of Matter referred Date of Scrutiny 

meeting 
Health and Wellbeing 
Committee 

Updated Armed Forces Covenant 
Plan 

 

17th September 
2024 

 
Exempt Information 
None. 
 
Purpose 
 
To notify Cabinet of the report and recommendations from the Updated Armed 
Forces Covenant Plan item that was discussed at the meeting of the Health and 
Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee on the 17th September 2024 

 
Recommendations 
 
Following consideration of the item the Committee agree to the following 
recommendations being made to Cabinet: 
 
 
1. Consider the appointment of a nonpolitical role for an Armed Forces 

Champion whilst there are serving Members who are veterans. 
  

 (Moved by Councillor S Doyle and seconded by Councillor C Bain) 
 

 
Back Ground Information 
 
On the 11th July 2023 the Committee received a report from the Assistant Director 
Partnerships to reaffirm the signing of the Armed Forces Covenant following the Armed 
Forces act in 2021 before it was present to Cabinet.   
 
The Committee expressed their support for the delegation of Councillor Cooper as the 
Champion. It was highlighted that under Section 2.7.9 of the Constitution that a 
Member of the Executive could not be appointed a Member Champion and was 
suggested that instead it could be requested that this be written into his Portfolio. 
 
Following the discussion of Scrutiny the matter was considered by Cabinet on the 20th 
July 2023 and the following recommendation was carried as part of the report. 
 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



 

 

• Delegated authority to the Portfolio Holder for Entertainment and Leisure and 
Assistant Director Partnerships to oversee the associated work plan and report 
on an annual basis to the Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee. 

 
 
Executive Summary 
 
Armed Forces Covenant Update 2024 
 
On the 16th July 2024 as part of an annual update the Committee received an updated 
report  on work done to ensure the Council meets its commitment to the Armed Forces 
Covenant and associated plan. 
 
The Committee made the observation that in section 7.2 of the action plan, it stated 
that Cllr L Smith was to be the Armed Forces Champion and asked how that sat within 
the Constitution and also whether a recommendation had gone to last years Cabinet 
that an appropriate Champion be selected and where possible this should be a 
member of the veteran’s community? 
The Chair confirmed that the Constitution states that a Member of the Cabinet cannot 
be a Champion. 
The Officer confirmed that the Armed Forces Covenant is named within the Cabinet 
Members portfolio but the use of the word champion within the action plan could be 
reviewed. 
The Committee agree that it could not endorse the action plan until the action plan has 
been updated. 
 
The Committee received a briefing note on the 17th September 2024, as part of the 
briefing note the following information was provided –  
 

• Cabinet Members cannot be Champions. 
• No formal recommendation to Cabinet has been agreed that the Champion 

must be an armed forces veteran and not the Portfolio holder.  
• The Armed Forces Covenant Duty suggests that there is no mandatory 

requirement to appoint or name an elected member champion. It does offer 
actions that we might wish to consider adopting.  

• Cabinet Delegated authority to the then Portfolio Holder for Entertainment and 
Leisure and Assistant Director Partnerships to have responsibility for and 
oversee the associated work plan and report on an annual basis to the Health 
and Wellbeing Scrutiny Committee (Agenda for Cabinet on Thursday, 20th July, 
2023, 6.00 pm )  

•  The Armed Forces Covenant has now been placed in the renewed 
responsibilities of the Portfolio Holder for People Services, Leisure and 
Engagement, Councillor Lewis Smith for 2024/2025 onwards as Lead Member. 

 
The Committee were concerned that the current Portfolio Holder was not a veteran 
unlike the previous Portfolio Holder and discussed the possibility of having a Member 
Champion in addition to the Member lead and agreed to recommend that whilst there 
are serving veterans on the Council, that there is a Member Champion appointed who 
is a veteran.  
 
It was noted that the Constitution currently only allows for Member as Champions. 
 
Options Considered 

Page 10



 

 

The Committee could endorse the decision to appoint a Council Lead Member 
(Portfolio Holder) who would not necessarily represent the Armed Forces 
Community. 
 
 
Key considerations  
 

1. Scrutiny committees have statutory powers to make recommendations to the 
Executive, and the Executive (Cabinet) has a statutory duty to respond. They 
may also make reports and recommendations to external decision making 
bodies.  

 
2. The agenda for Executive meetings shall include a standing item entitled 

‘Matters Referred to the Cabinet In Accordance with the Overview and 
Scrutiny Procedure Rules’. The reports of overview and scrutiny committees 
and sub-committees referred to the Executive shall be included at this point in 
the agenda (unless they have been considered in the context of the 
Executive’s deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) within one 
calendar month of the overview and scrutiny committee or sub-committee 
completing its report/recommendations. 

 
3. Scrutiny recommendations are addressed to the Cabinet, as the main 

Executive decision making body of the council (or, where appropriate, an 
external agency).  

 
4. Cabinet is being asked to note the scrutiny report / recommendations and that 

an Executive Response to the scrutiny recommendations be prepared for 
consideration by the Cabinet within two months from receiving the report or 
recommendations.  

 
5. The minutes of the meeting of the scrutiny committee provide the record of the 

scrutiny committee’s consideration of the issue and the scrutiny 
recommendations made during the meeting.  

 
6. The scrutiny committee will be notified of the Executive Response made in 

respect to the scrutiny recommendations and may track the implementation of 
the Cabinet decisions and any actions agreed. This enables the scrutiny 
committee to track whether their recommendations have been agreed, what 
actually was agreed (if different) and review any outcomes arising 

 
 
Report Author 
Chris Bain   
Chair of Health and Wellbeing Scrutiny 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet 
 
 

Thursday 10th October 2024 
 
 

Report of the Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder 
  for Environmental Sustainability, Recycling and Waste 

 
 

Nature Recovery Declaration Briefing Paper and Biodiversity Consideration for 
Adoption 

 
 
Not Exempt 
 
 
Purpose 
To update the Cabinet on the authority’s work around the Nature Recovery Declaration that 
was made in November 2023. 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
It is recommended that: 

1. Cabinet approve the Biodiversity Consideration, following IS&G Committee 
scrutiny as set out in Appendix 1  

2. Cabinet endorse the progress and updates provided.  
 

 
 
Executive Summary 
The significance of the Nature Recovery Declaration for  the Borough Council was made in 
November 2023.  The declaration requires quarterly updates to share progress with 
Members and is replicated in the ‘Background’ section of the report.  
 
This update also outlines the importance to have a Biodiversity Consideration in place and 
provides a draft for Cabinet approval. The report also includes an overview of the work that 
the County Council are undertaking to deliver the Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) 
and of the work that the Planning Team have been doing to be Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) 
ready.  
 
Biodiversity Consideration: 
 
The Biodiversity Duty is a legal obligation that requires public authorities to show regard for 
conserving biodiversity in all of their actions. The Biodiversity Duty responsibilities table with 
identified areas of work is shown in Appendix 4. 
 
The Duty contains a number of expectations for action, of which the Biodiversity 
Consideration is the first. The Consideration must be completed by 1 January 2024, with 
policies and objectives to be agreed as soon as possible after then, the drafting of this has 
been delayed as it has followed the authority’s adoption of the Nature Declaration and the 
creation of a new nature and environment officer working group. Authorities must then 
reconsider the actions they could take within 5 years as a maximum, although there is no 
limit to the number of times it can be re-considered.  
 
The Consideration does not need to be published, but there is a statutory requirement to 
publish a Biodiversity Report by January 2026 and at regular intervals of a maximum of 5 
years from the end of the reporting period of the previous report.  

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



 
The nationally proposed structure and content for Biodiversity Considerations can be found 
in Appendix 1 (p 7-10) and the  proposed draft Biodiversity Consideration for Tamworth 
contained within Appendix 1 can be found from page 11. The Consideration has been 
developed with significant input from Staffordshire Wildlife Trust, utilising the suggested 
template from DEFRA (Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs) to create 
Tamworth’s baseline report. The Wildlife Trust have not been asked to support any other 
Authorities in undertaking a Consideration and no other Considerations have been made 
available to the public as far as Officers are aware.  
 
The proposed Biodiversity Consideration Report is available in Appendix 1, whilst the 
Biodiversity Duty responsibilities table can be found in Appendix 4. 
 
Progress on the Local Nature Recovery Strategy: 
 
 
Staffordshire County Council (SCC) is the responsible body for delivery of the Local Nature 
Recovery Strategy and has received Government funding to facilitate this across the 
County. The anticipated timetable for delivering this work is March 2025, and work is 
underway. 
 
 
The Local Nature Recovery Strategy Team are following multiple workstreams and meeting 
with different stakeholders, such as the Wildlife Trust, local species expert groups, local 
authorities and other interested parties, at least monthly. The project is being co-ordinated 
by The LNRS Project Manager of Staffordshire County Council (SCC) who  has met with 
various representatives from both Growth & Regeneration and Environment, Culture and 
Wellbeing teams. SCC are looking for substantial input into the project from local 
authorities.  
 
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG):  
 
The planning team are fully briefed on the implications and implementation of BNG and 
await our first BNG eligible application. It is not anticipated there will be large numbers of 
applications to be liable, due to the legal exemptions and the spatial picture in Tamworth 
(householder development, for example, is exempt).  An analysis of historical applications 
suggested that the authority will be looking at single figures for large site applications and 
small site applications are likely to be in the region of 20-30 annually.  An analysis of 
planning applications over the last three years that would now require BNG is depicted in 
Table 1 Below. 

Page 14



 
Table 1: Planning Applications Analysis for BNG Purposes 

 
 
 
The planning validation team have attended Local Government Association Planning 
Advisory Service (PAS) training, and the development management team will be liaising 
with Ecology teams at SCC when considering applications and post-determination 
submission of Gain Plans. The development management team have access to a weekly 
BNG drop ins run by the PAS should any questions arise.  
 
It remains for TBC to set a policy threshold for “significance” in the context of on-site gain 
given the spatial constraints of the borough and the likelihood that small gains are in fact 
more “significant” to nature recovery in Tamworth than elsewhere. This should be done as 
part of the local plan policy development and relates to aims 1 and 2 of the Nature 
Recovery Declaration.  
 
In order to ensure that development in Tamworth also leads to gains in Tamworth, 
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust (SWT) are looking at the spatial picture of the area and advising 
on whether any land we hold could be managed to improve its biodiversity value and 
provide the potential for BNG gains within Tamworth, that could be offered to developers to 
assist them in meeting their obligations. This work is still at an early stage, but sites have 
been identified that lie in transport corridors that would assist with linking green and blue 
spaces. 
 
SWT trust have estimated that 75 biodiversity units should provide sufficient habitat banking 
capacity to cover the borough’s needs. Some work done by West Midlands Combined 
Authority gives a “rule of thumb” indication of BNG unit value per hectare by land type, as 
shown in Appendix 2.  
 
Options Considered 
In terms of Biodiversity Net Gain delivery, the planning team, working with Staffordshire 
Wildlife Trust are looking at options for off-site biodiversity unit generation (habitat banking). 
Work has been commissioned to support this workload. Once a report has been drafted it 
will be presented to the Infrastructure, Safety and Growth Committee and will also be 
reported as part of the annual Local Plan monitoring report usually published in December. 
 
Resource Implications 
The Government has committed to funding all new burdens on local authorities arising from 
the Environment Act, including those due to the biodiversity duty on public authorities, 
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) for Tamworth and Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRSs) 
for SCC. Officer time is being invested into this work to support a collaborative and 

Page 15



partnership approach to its application. Any future impacts will be brought back to this 
committee if there are any impact on the MTFS. 
 
Legal/Risk Implications Background 
By undertaking this work, the council is in a stronger position to understand and fulfil the full 
requirements and legal obligations of the Environment Act 2021.  
 
The council is actively working to create, restore, and enhance the boroughs local wildlife, 
which will positively impact the environment and respond to the climate and nature crisis. 
Staying ahead and involved with the collaborative work from the Staffordshire Sustainability 
Board (SSB) can lead to bigger/better environmental outcomes. 
 
All public authorities have a duty to conserve and enhance biodiversity and must “have 
regard” to relevant local nature recovery strategies in the process. 
 
As stated in the initial Nature Recovery Declaration, the authority wishes to be seen as a 
leader in Nature Recovery and not complicit in nature’s decline. Failing to act on adopted 
Declarations could leave us open to reputational challenges if progress is not being made.  

 
The authority could be subject to challenge if they are unable to fulfil the statutory duties, 
such as the Biodiversity Duty. 
 
 
Equalities Implications 
The most vulnerable to the climate crisis will benefit from nature recovery.  
Nature deprivation can be closely linked with general deprivation and so working to 
enhance nature and biodiversity in the borough may positively support our residents’ sense 
of wellbeing and the mental health benefits that engaging in such spaces can bring. Within 
Tamworth, the good array of nature reserves and public open spaces means there is 
access to nature for many on the doorstep. 
 
Supporting all our residents to feel safe within our open spaces will enable them to gain the 
maximum wellbeing benefits from engaging within them. 
 
A Community Impact Assessment is available in appendix 5. 
 
Environment and Sustainability Implications (including climate change) 
The Nature Recovery Declaration and this area of work is intended to develop and build on 
the work already being undertaken by the council and increase collaboration with other 
authorities of the Staffordshire Sustainability Board with regards to the climate and nature 
crisis.  
 
The work will help focus on the important commitments to the environment by helping create 
more, bigger, better, and joined up habitats. Investing in nature recovery and nature-based 
solutions will also help alleviate and resolve impacts of Climate Change.  
 
 
Background Information 
 
In November 2023 the Council adopted the Nature declaration which is provided below and 
also updates on the progress made to date for Members. 
 
 
TBC’s Nature Recovery Declaration progress: 
 

Declaration: 
 

Page 16



Tamworth Borough Council recognise that: 
 

• Nature is in long-term decline, and the requirement to take action to halt and reverse 
this is urgent; 
  

• Nature provides us with vital support systems, and severe declines in biodiversity are 
undermining nature’s productivity and adaptability, posing excessive uncertainty for 
our economies and wellbeing;  
 

• A thriving natural environment underpins a healthy, happy, prosperous society;  
 

• The impacts of climate change are driving nature’s decline, while restoring nature 
provides a wide variety of cost-effective benefits to mitigate and adapt to the impacts 
of climate change.  
 

• Many of our areas of work across the Borough have an impact on nature, and we 
have responsibilities to make decisions to protect and enhance it.  
 

• That the ‘Bigger, Better, More and Joined-up’ principles of the 2010 Lawton Report – 
‘Making Space for Nature’ - should be followed to help rebuild nature: 

 
 
Tamworth Borough Council will: 
 
Putting Nature into Recovery: 
 

1. Create and implement an evidence-based Local Nature Recovery Action Plan for 
Tamworth that will support the Stoke and Staffordshire Local Nature Recovery 
Strategy (LNRS), when available, in collaboration with partners.   
 
Work is being undertaken with Staffordshire Wildlife Trust to develop a local action 
plan and this will demonstrate the authority’s commitment to monitor Tamworth's 
nature spaces. 
The Tamworth Action Plan will include short and long-term targets for putting nature 
into recovery over a specified timeframe, and reports on progress will be published 
on an annual basis. 
 

2. Embed nature’s recovery into all strategic plans and policy areas, not just those 
directly related to the environment. Use the council’s Nature Recovery Network map 
(Appendix 3) to inform strategic plans and policy areas, and to help guide 
development and land allocation decisions. Ensure the Nature Recovery Network 
map is embedded within the authority’s Local Plan, ensuring that there are dedicated, 
joined-up spaces for nature as well as housing, industrial areas and other land uses.’  

 
3. Ensure local nature recovery is well understood across the authority and 

complements other relevant plans and strategies. Provide training and resources for 
councillors and council employees about the ecological emergency.  
 
Officers will aim to have a training schedule set for staff and Members by the end of 
2024. 

 
 

Biodiversity Net Gain: 
 
4. To ensure that Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) legislation delivers real benefits for 

nature, the council will develop a locally specific BNG policy which requires 
developers to take into account the Local Nature Recovery Strategy and the Local 
Nature Recovery Action Plan for Tamworth when selecting locations and delivering 
both on- and offsite BNG.’  

Page 17



 
This work will be undertaken as part of the local plan; the draft sustainability appraisal 
for biodiversity, geodiversity and open space setting out the current picture is 
underway. 

 
30 by 30: 
 
5. Seek to manage at least 30% of council-owned greenspace for the benefit of wildlife 

by 2030.  
An open space / green space network project with SWT is currently ongoing to 
understand the current position and the percentage of council owned space being 
managed for the benefit of wildlife. 
 

Protected and Designated Landscapes: 
 
6. Produce a monitoring plan for all council-managed protected and designated nature 

sites, eg. SSSIs, LNRs and LWSs, with a view to achieving favourable condition 
status by 2030.  
 

Road Verges 
 

7. After satisfying safety and visibility priorities and the Highway Code, develop 
highways verge cutting regimes that maximise potential for biodiversity, carbon 
storage and sequestration.  
 
Future work in this area will support the development of residents, staff and Members 
understanding of this action, with potential cost implications being investigate as part 
of this process. 

 
Tree-planting 

 
8. Formulate a tree policy and strategy which is underpinned by Nature Recovery 

Network mapping across the local authority area, pursuing a “right tree, right place” 
approach.   
 

Protecting Peatlands 
 

9. Consider the adoption of a peat-free policy for all council contracts and supplies.  
Where appropriate peat-free composts are now being utilised in the borough.  

 
Nature Based Solutions  
 
10. Carry out a carbon audit of local authority sites to establish how carbon storage and 

sequestration can be improved.  
 
Access to Nature 
 
11. Improve access to good quality natural spaces for Tamworth Borough residents by 
following Natural England’s Green Infrastructure Framework.’  

 
 

Communications 
 

12. Begin sharing joint nature-based communications created by Staffordshire Wildlife 
Trust.   
Relevant communications and information by key partners will be shared as 
appropriate as the opportunities arise. 

 

Page 18



13. Demonstrate leadership by championing Nature Recovery and supporting and 
educating residents as well as the local business and communities to take action to 
put nature into recovery.  
 

Responsibility and Governance 
 

14. That the Leader of the Council is responsible for ensuring the delivery of the 
declaration.  
 

15. Appoint the Assistant Director Operations and Leisure as the Lead Officer for 
coordinating council operations in relation to local nature recovery.  
 
An Assistant Director of Environment, Culture and Wellbeing has been appointed in 
replacement to the above position. 

 
16. That the Infrastructure Safety and Growth Scrutiny Committee monitor the Local 

Nature Recovery Action Plan.  
 

17. Work closely with Staffordshire County Council and other local partners to form a 
Staffordshire-wide Local Nature Recovery Partnership. 
 
This group has now been established and is meeting quarterly. 

 
 
 
Report Authors 
Anna Miller – Assistant Director – Growth & Regeneration 
Niki Stokes – Planning Assistant (Policy) 
Hannah Peate- Assistant Director- Environment, Culture and Wellbeing 
Charlotte Cheesman- Climate Change Officer 
Mark Greaves- Operations Manager 
 
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1: Biodiversity Consideration national framework and TBC’s Proposed draft. 
Appendix 2: Habitat Types and BNG Unit Value 
Appendix 3: Tamworth Nature Recovery Network Map 
Appendix 4: Biodiversity Duty Responsibility Mapping 
Appendix 5: Community Impact Assessment 
 
 
 
Appendix 1:Biodiversity Consideration Overview P 7-11 
 
1. The Biodiversity Duty Introduction 
 

1. This report relates to the Council’s Corporate and Planning roles and responsibilities 
under the Environment Act 2021 for protecting and enhancing biodiversity across 
the Borough, and covers how the Council will:   

• Consider the new corporate Biodiversity Duty responsibilities set out in the 
Environment Act 2021 and Local Planning Authorities requirements to propose and 
report on actions within a Biodiversity Report, building and monitoring the 
intentions stated in this Biodiversity Consideration;  

• Require and monitor the delivery of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) as a mandatory 
requirement of (eligible) new development, which came into force 12th February 
2024 and progress of which must form part of the Biodiversity Report.  

 

Page 19



2. The 25 Year Environment Plan (25YEP) was published in 2018 and signalled the 
Government’s intentions to strengthen the Biodiversity Duty and introduce a 
mandatory system for the development of Biodiversity Net Gain to ensure that any 
habitats disturbed, degraded or lost as part of development are enhanced, 
recreated on-site, off-site, or off-set elsewhere on completion of that development 
and that this gain is secured for a minimum of 30 years  
  

3. The Environmental Improvement Plan (EIP23), published in January 2023, builds 
upon the foundation of the 25YEP and sets out government plans for significantly 
improving the natural environment by working with landowners, communities and 
businesses towards the joined vision.  
  

4. The Environment Act 2021 received Royal Assent on 9 November 2021 and 
amended section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 
(duty to conserve biodiversity) so that there is now a general biodiversity objective 
which is the “conservation and enhancement of biodiversity”. To comply with the 
duty Planning authorities must consider what action the authority can take “to 
further the general biodiversity objective”.  
   

5. The Planning authorities’ considerations, actions and reporting on those actions are 
required by the Environment Act to be set out in a Biodiversity Report and the 
legislation and accompanying guidance sets out the timescale and required content 
of the report which includes reporting on Biodiversity Net Gain  
  

6. The Government advised that 10% Biodiversity net Gain (BNG) would become 
mandatory for all major development in November 2023. The November date was 
the pushed back to January 2024, and finally to 12th February 2024, and only applies 
to major development with BNG and for most other relevant development coming 
into force in April 2024. 
 

7. The Tamworth Local Plan 2016-2031 sets out the current policy EN4: Protecting and 
Enhancing Biodiversity. This policy requires “no net loss” in areas of Biodiversity 
Action Plan Habitat but does not specify any acceptable ecological post-
development change for other sites. This policy will be updated in line with the new 
legislation as part of the development of the new local plan, but in the meantime is 
superseded by the Statutory requirement of at least 10% BNG.   
  

8. The Council has formally recognised the need for urgent action on Biodiversity 
through a declaration of a Nature Recovery (Full Council in December 2023) and 
previous Climate Emergency Declaration in 2019.   
  

9. Tamworth Borough Council has for many years identified and designated a wide 
and extensive range of sites to be protected for their wildlife interest and seeks to 
ensure their continued protection and enhancement through policies and actions 
including community involvement in conservation activities.   
  

10. This report is intended to set out what the Council currently does to deliver 
biodiversity and to set out how the Council will meet the new challenges posed by 
the Environment Act 2021 in respect of biodiversity, building on or re-drafting its 
existing policies, partnerships and actions setting out a clear strategy for going 

Page 20



forward that will maximise the benefits for biodiversity within the resources and 
influence.  

 
2. The Biodiversity Report:   

 
1. The Environment Act 2021 amends section 40 of the Natural Environment and 
Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC Act). The original duty was “so far as is 
consistent with the proper exercise of [the public authority’s] functions, to the 
purpose of conserving biodiversity” and this has been replaced by a more proactive 
duty (new section 40(1)) to “from time to time consider what action the authority 
can properly take, consistently with the proper exercise of its functions, to further 
the general biodiversity objective”.   

  
2. Public authorities must also under section 40A of the NERC Act evidence the 
action it takes by the publication of a Biodiversity Report which must also report on 
the outcomes of mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain.   

  
3. This is a corporate responsibility that goes across all Council departments, 
actions and decision making. The Government guidance (Reporting your 
biodiversity duty actions) specifically requires Local Authorities to publish 
biodiversity reports.  

  
4. The Environment Act 2021, section 102 to 103 and its associated guidance 
(Reporting your biodiversity duty actions) stipulates publication and frequency 
dates; the first Biodiversity Report must be published no later than January 2026, 
with the next within 3 years and subsequent reports published at a maximum of 5 
year intervals after that. Prior to the publication of the first report, all LPAs are 
required to make a consideration by 1st January 2024 and implement policy and 
strategy as soon as practicable after making the consideration. The consideration 
does not need to be published.   

  
5. The Government guidance (Complying with the biodiversity duty) summarises 
what, under the legislation, public authorities must do.  
By law, the report must include:  

• a summary of the action taken to comply with the biodiversity duty  
• a plan to comply with the biodiversity duty in the next reporting period  

any other information considered appropriate  
 
6. Reports from local planning authorities must also include:  

• actions carried out to meet biodiversity net gain obligations  
• details of biodiversity net gains resulting, or expected to result, from 

biodiversity gain plans approved  
• how the LPA plan to meet biodiversity net gain obligations in the next 

reporting period  
7. The report must be published within 12 weeks of the last day of the period being 

reported on.  
8. Guidance on reporting on biodiversity net gain will be published when it is 
available.  

  
 

3. Context of what has to go in the Biodiversity Report (as mandated by the 
government) 

Page 21



 
The report has three compulsory sections which are described in the Government 
guidance as follows:   

  
“Section 1: Your policies, objectives and actions   
You must include this information in your report.   
  
Explain:   
• the policies and objectives you have set to meet your biodiversity duty;   
• the actions you’ve completed, either alone or in partnership with others, that benefit 

biodiversity.   
  
Section 2: How you have considered other strategies   
You must include this information in your report.   
  
Explain how you’ve taken into account:   
• local nature recovery strategies   
• protected site strategies   
• species conservation strategies   
For example, include information about how:   
• you’ve advised or worked in a Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) partnership in 
your area   

• these strategies influenced your policies, objectives or actions   
  
Section 3: Your future actions   
You must include this information in your report.   
  
• Explain how your organisation plans to fulfil your biodiversity duty over the 5 years 

following the end of this reporting period.   
  
In addition, the guidance also refers to the following optional content:   
  
Much of this information may usefully be included and the Council intends that The 
Biodiversity Report will encompass the Council’s commitment to Nature’s Recovery via 
the Nature Recovery Declaration,  and to creating and reporting on the successes of an 
Environmental Performance Strategy  through a Biodiversity Action Plan. Tamworth 
Borough Council also hopes that the Biodiversity Report can also be of use in positively 
communicating to a wider audience the actions that the Council already undertakes to 
improve biodiversity through its partnership working.   
  
‘’You can report your plans for future actions in each section of your report alongside the 
ones you’ve achieved”.   
  
Section 4: Information about your authority   
Section 5: Your top achievements   
Section 6: How your policies and actions have helped   
Section 7: How you’ve raised awareness and educated the community   
Section 8: Monitoring and evaluating your actions   
Section 9: Biodiversity highlights and challenges   
  

Page 22



3. Whilst the first Biodiversity Report must be reviewed within three years and 
subsequent reports every five years, there is a requirement for a report that sets 
out the Council’s first consideration of what action to take for biodiversity to be 
published by 01 January 2024 and “agree your policies and objectives as soon as 
possible after this”. This report is then the Councils first consideration.   

4. The Guidance on Reporting your biodiversity duty actions stipulates that the end 
date of the first reporting period should be no later than 01 January 2026 which 
means that the first review or reporting period will be less than the 3 years 
maximum allowable.   

  
  

Page 23



 

4. Draft of the Tamworth Borough Council Consideration Baseline  
 
Section 1:  Our policies, objectives and actions  

1. A review of current policies in relation to biodiversity has found that:   
 

• The current local plan policy, EN4, is no longer compliant with national policy and 
needs updating as part of the new local plan development with regards to BNG and 
requiring development to be in line with local Nature Recovery objectives.   
 

• When local plan policy relating to biodiversity is updated, it should include clear 
guidance on BNG, i.e. set out any local priorities and strategies required for 
developers to take into account in delivering BNG, e.g. locally important habitats, 
Biodiversity Action Plans, Green Infrastructure strategies and Local Nature Recovery 
Strategies (LNRS). This will help to target offsite BNG delivery and determine the 
‘strategic significance’ score that is part of the Biodiversity Metric.  
 

• A locally specific BNG policy should also outline requirements for management and 
maintenance of habitats provided, and set out what is considered “significant” gain 
in the local context. 

 
• The current Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) does not include green 

building methods that could be used to encourage environmentally and nature 
friendly development in line with the suggestions in the Natural England Green 
Infrastructure Framework  (2022) and Building with Nature 
Standards(www.buildingwithnature.org.uk) in order to work towards an increase to 
40% of green cover in urban areas.   

 
• Wider policies need to be updated to ensure they are in line with the objectives of 

the Nature Recovery Declaration, particularly the commitment to manage 30% of 
Tamworth’s council-owned green spaces for Nature’s Recovery.   
 

2. Steps that we have already taken towards the biodiversity duty:   
 

• Adopting a local Nature Recovery Declaration.  
• Actively participating in the Local Nature Recovery Strategy working group at SCC.  
• Commissioning Staffordshire Wildlife Trust (SWT) to assess local green space to 

best guide any enhancement or potential for habitat banking locally, so that future 
development in Tamworth leaves Tamworth enhanced.   

• Preparing and training the Planning department to be BNG ready.   
• Preparing training for Planning Committee. 
• Preparing training for developers, land owners, and planning agents to drive up the 

standard of applications and expedite BNG in a timely fashion 
• Developed an Officer working group to work collaboratively on this agenda.  

  
Section 2: How you have considered other strategies  
 

1. The local nature recovery strategy is still in development and so cannot be referred 
to in order to guide this consideration; instead we have used the previous 
Staffordshire Biodiversity Action Plan (on advice from SWT), our more locally- 
focussed Biodiversity Opportunity Mapping from 2019, and the Staffordshire 
Ecological Record.   

2. A Species Conservation Strategy is a new mechanism to safeguard the future of 
particular species at greatest risk. The strategies will find better ways to comply with 
existing legal obligations to protect species at risk and to improve their conservation 
status. It builds on the success of the district level licensing approach for great 
crested newts.  

Page 24



  
3. A Protected Site Strategy will seek to achieve a similar purpose in respect of 

protected sites. The concept of a Protected Site Strategy is broad, and it includes 
any approach to mitigation or compensation that is wider than the individual project 
level. They will be particularly helpful where evidence shows sites are being affected 
by a range of different impacts. There will be a whole variety of solutions that a 
strategic approach can lead to depending on the factors affecting the site’s condition 
and the local circumstances.   

 
4. Species Conservation and Protected Site Strategies are designed to provide a more 

strategic approach to the complex challenge of protecting and restoring species and 
habitats. Both strategies will avoid the need to identify project-specific solutions 
which can be difficult, time-consuming and costly to implement. The measures will 
place a new duty on local planning authorities to cooperate with Natural England 
and other local planning authorities and public bodies in the establishment and 
operation of the strategies. The strategies will feed into Local Nature Recovery 
Strategies, support local planning authorities and other public authorities in 
discharging their duty in respect of biodiversity and developing Local Plans, and 
complement plans for biodiversity net gain. However, SWT have advised they are 
not aware of any Species Conservation or Protected Site strategies being prepared 
in Staffordshire Currently.  

 
Section 3: Future actions  

1. Between now and January 2026, Tamworth Borough Council intends to:   
• Complete an audit of policies relevant to the Biodiversity Duty and review these to 

ensure they are still compliant and relate to our objectives under this new Duty. 
  

• Complete work looking at potential sites for Nature’s Recovery within the council’s 
estate and within the Borough, working towards managing 30% of Tamworth’s green 
spaces for Nature’s Recovery. 

 
• Continue to work towards the objectives of the Nature Recovery Declaration   
• Consider whether we can create or work in partnership with local wildlife trusts or 

private companies to create Habitat Banking for off-site BNG  
• Commission an Environmental Performance Strategy / Biodiversity Action Plan from 

Staffordshire Wildlife Trust  
• Continue to contribute to LNRS working groups   
• Fully implement mandatory BNG of a minimum of 10% to all eligible development  
• Update local policies requiring BNG as part of the new local plan   
• Develop a new design SPD focussing on green building in line with the Natural 

England Green Infrastructure Framework standards / Building With Nature 
standards as part of the new local plan development  

• Raise awareness and educate residents, local businesses, and developers in the 
area on the contribution to be made by them to Nature’s Recovery   

• Create and maintain a list of habit banks where BNG units can be purchased within 
each of the 3 National Character Areas defined within Tamworth   

• Audit Internal policies to ensure they are Green Infrastructure Framework, Nature 
Recovery  and Net Zero compliant   

• Commission Internal and external communications to educate staff, members of the 
public, and local business about simple actions they can take to help support Nature 
Recovery, support local biodiversity, and raise awareness of our environmental 
strategy and objectives   

• Offer training on nature recovery to elected members and relevant staff, e.g. land-
management team  

• Ensure ecological mapping that was commissioned by the council is well understood 
internally and taken into account in decision-making across all work areas, such as 
planning, place-making, green infrastructure, greenspace management.  

  
 

Page 25



2. Biodiversity net gain information (for local planning authorities only)  
  
• Tamworth Borough council consider themselves proactive in their response to the 

need to prepare for BNG, and have, in the short time since the final regulations were 
published:  

o Tasked a dedicated member of staff to guiding implementation of BNG.  
o Created briefing notes and infographics explaining BNG to internal and external 

partners.  
o Undertaken internal training of Development Management team members on BNG.  
o Set up a list of Habitat Banks in the area /NCAs of Trent Valley Washlands, Sence 

and Mease, and Arden in order to support developers in finding, if needed, off-site 
unit providers.  

o Undertaken a desktop review of Green sites owned by the Council and 
commissioned Staffordshire Wildlife Trust to assess these sites with a view to 
creating council-owned habitat banks.   

o Ascertained whether Ecologists at SCC have the capacity to deal with our 
applications.   

o Prepared to use S106 templates as soon as these are available.   
Reporting on Net Gains   

• There are currently no Net Gains to report, nor any Gain Plans submitted. These will 
be reported through the Nature Declaration Updates as any arise through 
relevant planning applications. 

•   
Summary of how we will meet BNG obligations in the next reporting period  

• Between the Consideration and the first Report in January 2026 we intend to follow 
the statutory framework for applying BNG and identify and correct any difficulties 
with the processes in place. As Tamworth is a small and densely developed 
Borough, it is not anticipated that there will be many major applications going 
forwards.   

• Defra will provide a suggested format for tabulating any quantitative data on 
biodiversity net gains which we will consider when collating and publishing such 
data.  

Optional information  
Section 4: Information about your authority  

1. Tamworth Borough Council is the democratically elected authority for Tamworth. It 
has statutory responsibility for the provision of services such as housing, benefits, 
council tax, planning, waste, street cleaning, environmental health and the collection 
of business rates.  

2. Tamworth itself is a small market town which was once the historic capital of Mercia 
and has significant Saxon and medieval history, including an intact motte and bailey 
Castle. The town borders North Warwickshire to the east and north, Lichfield to the 
north, south-west and west. The town takes its name from the  River Tame, West 
Midlands which flows through it. The population of Tamworth is 78,800. The 
population per square mile of Tamworth is 6,616.  
  

3. Governance  
  

Tamworth Borough Council has 30 councillors, with three councillors serving each of 
the 10 electoral divisions, or wards, of the town. Councillors represent their communities 
for four years. We elect a third of the council (10 seats) every three out of four years. In 
the fourth year, there are no borough council elections.  

  
Full council: All councillors meet together regularly as the ‘council’ or ‘full council’. This 
is where the council’s overall policies and budgets are set each year.  
Cabinet: Also referred to as ‘the executive’, cabinet is responsible for most day-to-day 
decisions. This is made up of the leader of the council and up to nine of their chosen 
councillor representatives.  
Regulatory committees: The planning, licensing and licensing sub-committees make 
regulatory decisions on planning and licensing matters.  

Page 26

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/North_Warwickshire
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lichfield_District
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/River_Tame,_West_Midlands
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/River_Tame,_West_Midlands
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/budgets


Scrutiny committees: There are three main scrutiny committees which hold the 
executive to account and support the work and performance of the council as a whole. 
They monitor decisions and make recommendations. There is also a joint scrutiny 
committee which meets annually to consider the budget.  
Audit and governance committee: This has oversight of internal and external audit 
work and is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the council’s risk 
management arrangements and policies for fraud, whistle-blowing and complaints 
handling.  

  
The council is in a period of rapid change following the appointment of Stephen Gabriel 
as Chief Executive in April 2024.   
 

How our authority can affect biodiversity:  
 

• Tamworth is a largely urban landscape and densely developed.  
• There is significant wetland habitat along the flood plains of the Tame and Anker and 

protecting the town from flood damage is also a priority.  
• Tamworth has 13 wildlife sites within the borough, seven of which are designated as 

Local Nature Reserves (LNRs): Broad Meadow (LNR & SBI), Dosthill Park (LNR), 
Hodge Lane (LNR), Kettlebrook (LNR), Tameside (LNR), Town Wall (LNR) Warwickshire 
Moore (LNR), Wigginton Park , Egg Meadow, Borrowpit Lakes, Burgess Nature Park, 
Middleton Lakes(RSPB Reserve) and the Coventry Canal.   

• There is a potential for recent development within Tamworth to adversely affect the 
neighbouring Alvcote Pools SSSI and this needs to be managed appropriately.  

• Tamworth has a number of waterways running through it (River Tame, River Anker, 
Kettle Brook, Coventry Canal, Fazeley and Birmingham Canal) which need to be 
restored and/or maintained at a ‘good’ standard.   

• A comprehensive desktop review of open space owned by the Council has been 
undertaken and we are working in partnership with Staffordshire Wildlife Trust to 
ascertain if any of these sites can be enhanced for Nature’s Recovery.  

• Current policies protect these sites from development except under exceptional 
circumstances.  

• Our Planning Department offer a “pre application advice” service for developers wishing 
to seek support around proposed developments in terms of the likelihood of approval or 
improvement of the scheme in line with local policies; this will include BNG advice.  

• We invited local planning agents to our recent BNG training to ensure the shared 
responsibilities around this are understood.  

• We are proposing to develop ways of raising awareness of ways that residents and local 
businesses can support our aims to halt the decline in nature and create the right 
conditions for its recovery.   
 
How your operations affect the environment  
 

• Our petrol vehicle fleet is contributing to air pollution, and we are looking into replacing 
some of our fleet with electric vehicles. Six EV vehicles have recently been procured for 
the depot. 

• Our joint waste service is working to collect all waste but there will be some that is not 
accounted for which is damaging to nature, such as plastic waste that is not 
biodegradable and can be hazardous for wildlife. We are zero waste to landfill, but could 
run more anti littering campaigns. Working with our Joint Waste Partners at Lichfield 
District Council, TBC  will support the promotion of recycling campaigns. 

• Lighting, heating and operating all council owned buildings emits carbon, which is 
causing further global warming, altering species habitats and ecosystems. We are 
developing a climate action plan to implement energy efficiency carbon reduction 
initiatives.  
 
We can consider the following to protect and enhance biodiversity:  

•  Green Infrastructure can deliver essential ecological services and help conserve 
biodiversity by creating and connecting important habitats. It should be incorporated and 

Page 27



enhanced within land development, growth management and built infrastructure 
planning.  

• The grounds of many cemeteries can be sympathetically managed to benefit a wide 
range of biodiversity.  

•  We can manage Local Nature Reserves (LNRs) for the benefit of both wildlife and 
people.  

• Parks and public open spaces offer excellent opportunities for biodiversity conservation 
and enhancement. Management operations must take account of protected species, 
such as great crested newts, in ponds.  

• Walking and cycling routes (such as disused railway lines) offer excellent opportunities 
for biodiversity conservation and enhancement. Historic buildings such as Tamworth 
Castle can provide a home for important biodiversity, such as breeding birds and bats.  

• Bridges and structures often contain bats and breeding birds, and maintenance works to 
these must have regard for such species. The timing and/or method of works must take 
account of their presence.  

• Highway verges can be managed to protect and enhance a wide variety of wildlife – 
including many rare and protected species.  

• Landscaping schemes associated with any council project offer opportunities to create 
new habitats and features of value for local wildlife.  

•  Making decisions about procurement should have regard for the biodiversity 
implications. For instance, using wood products for fencing and gates from sustainable 
sources and using peat-free compost.  

• Management of trees and hedgerows must have regard for the nesting season and 
breeding birds.  

• Careful consideration needs to be given to the indirect effect of light pollution and its 
impact on nocturnal species such as bats.  

•  Council buildings present opportunities for biodiversity enhancements – for instance 
installing bird and bat boxes, green roofs and walls and management of grounds and 
open space.  
 

Section 5: Your top achievements  
As this is a consideration, we have not yet made the changes that will lead to 
achievements.  

Section 6: How your policies and actions have helped  
Sections 6 and 7 pertain to issues that are currently objectives of the council. We are not 
yet within the monitoring cycle (as BNG has not commenced). We will report qualitative 
and quantitative data in the report of January 2026.  

Section 7: How you’ve raised awareness and educated the community  
Sections 6 and 7 pertain to issues that are currently objectives of the council. We are not 
yet within the monitoring cycle (as BNG has not commenced). We will report qualitative 
and quantitative data in the report of January 2026.  

Section 8: Monitoring and evaluating your actions  
The authority will develop monitoring and evaluation actions within the Environment 
Performance Strategy/Biodiversity Action Plan which will be commissioned following this 
consideration.   

Section 9: Biodiversity highlights and challenges  
For a number of years Staffordshire wildlife Trust have delivered the Wild About 
Tamworth project has delivered some benefits to wildlife already. Working to support 
friends of groups within Tamworth these dedicated volunteers support the enhancement 
of nature and biodiversity through their work. Wild About Tamworth | Staffordshire 
Wildlife Trust (staffs-wildlife.org.uk) 
  

  
 
 

Page 28

https://www.staffs-wildlife.org.uk/wilder-communities/wild-about-tamworth
https://www.staffs-wildlife.org.uk/wilder-communities/wild-about-tamworth


Appendix 2 Habitat type and BNG Unit Value 
 
 

 

 
 
  

Page 29



 
Appendix 3: Tamworth Nature Recovery Map  
 

 

Tamworth Borough 
Council  green land

Green Belt 

Staffs Wildlife Trust 
priority areas

Flood Zone

Ecological Sites 

Tree Preservation Order 
protected trees 

Local Nature 
Reserves

Open Space 

Sites of Biological 
Interest

Page 30



 
Appendix 4: Biodiversity Duty responsibilities  
 
Biodiversity Duty responsibilities  
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty   

Nature 
Recovery 
Declaration 
aim(s)   

Responsible 
Directorate(s)   

Consider 
relevant 
strategies  
  

You must check if these strategies will affect how your organisation complies with the 
biodiversity duty:  

• local nature recovery strategies  
• species conservation strategies  
• protected site strategies  

You must:  
• understand how/if they are relevant to your organisation  
• be aware of how these strategies affect land that you own or manage, or  
             actions you could take to conserve and enhance biodiversity  
• consider how you could contribute to the strategy, where appropriate  

 
Environment, 
Culture and 
Wellbeing  
  
Growth and 
Regeneration 
(planning 
policy)   

How your 
biodiversity 
duty helps 
achieve 
biodiversity 
goals and 
targets  
  

Contribute to the achievement of national goals and targets on biodiversity in 
the Environmental Improvement Plan (EIP23)i  
  
Consider the value of taking a Natural Capital approach.  
Consider the biodiversity duty when complying with requirements under:  

• strategic environmental assessment  
• environmental impact assessment  
• Habitats Regulations assessment  

1,2, 3, 4  Environment, 
Culture and 
Wellbeing  
  
  
Growth and 
Regeneration 
(planning 
policy)  
  

Manage land 
to improve 
biodiversity  

  

Consider how the land you manage could improve biodiversity. This includes green 
and blue spaces like:  

• allotments  
• cemeteries  
• parks and sports fields  
• amenity spaces and communal gardens  

1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 
7, 8, 9, 10  

Environment, 
Culture and 
Wellbeing   

P
age 31

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#local-nature-recovery-strategies
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#species-conservation-strategies
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#protected-site-strategies
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-improvement-plan
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/enabling-a-natural-capital-approach-enca
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/environmental-impact-assessment
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/habitats-regulations-assessments-protecting-a-european-site


• roadside and railway verges  
• field margins and hedgerows  
• rights of way and access routes  
• woodlands and nature reserves  
• canals and rivers  
• water-dependent habitats  
• estuaries and coastal habitats  

Consider other things you can do to improve habitats, including:  
• using native and sustainably sourced trees when planting  
• creating dedicated spaces for wildlife  
• leaving dead wood safely in place in woodlands to provide additional  
                habitat  
• maintaining planted trees to give them the best chance of survival  
• reducing the use of herbicides, pesticides, peat and water  
• implementing measures to prevent the spread of invasive species and 
                plant disease  

These actions can save money while delivering benefits to biodiversity.  
If you own or manage large areas of land, consider promoting and encouraging nature-
based solutions, restoration of natural processes and landscape recovery.  
Natural England has published the Green Infrastructure Framework - Principles and 
Standards for England. This includes planning, design and process guides.  

1, 2, 3, 5, 6, 8,   Environment, 
Culture and 
Wellbeing  
  

Make space 
for wildlife  
  

You could create dedicated spaces to attract wildlife and enhance biodiversity. This 
is possible even if your public authority owns a single office building. It is important that 
these measures are appropriate to the location.  
You could:  

• build and install nest boxes for birds, bats and other animals  
• add green walls or roofs to existing or new buildings  
• plant native trees and shrubs  
• plant wildflowers for pollinators  

You can do more if you own or manage specific types of land. For example, if you own or 
manage:  

5, 7, 10, 11  Environment, 
Culture and 
Wellbeing  
  
Growth and 
Regeneration  
  
(planning 
policy)   

P
age 32

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#make-space-for-wildlife
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/GreenInfrastructure/Home.aspx
https://designatedsites.naturalengland.org.uk/GreenInfrastructure/Home.aspx


• school grounds – create gardens, ponds, meadows or woodlands to  
                improve biodiversity and aid education  
• farmland – be aware of soil health, water use and waste management  
               and encourage farmers to apply for agri-environment schemes and 
use  
               pesticides appropriately.  

Enhance 
protected 
sites  
  

Sites that public authorities own or manage can be protected by other legislation. For 
example:  

• sites of special scientific interest  
• special areas of conservation or special protection areas  
• national nature reserves  
• local nature reserves and local sites  

You should already be helping to conserve and enhance biodiversity on this land. For 
example, public bodies already have a duty to take all reasonable steps to conserve and 
enhance sites of special scientific interest.  
The Environmental Improvement Plan set the expectation that all public authorities 
should ensure they have management plans in place by the end of 2023 to support 
their sites to reach favourable status.  
Authorities should produce those plans and work actively with Natural England and others 
to identify and implement the actions needed to improve site condition.  

1, 5, 6  Environment, 
Culture and 
Wellbeing  
  
Growth and 
regeneration 
(Planning 
policy - BNG/ 
habitat banking 
project)   

Improve how 
you manage 
buildings  
  

Review how you manage buildings and the land around them. This could include 
considering:  

• whether you should remove vegetation around your buildings and if  
             you do, when to do it  
• what chemicals you use on the premises  
• when you carry out maintenance work, to minimise disturbance to  
            wildlife  
• whether you can reduce the use of energy and water to help reduce  
             pollution and address the pressure it puts on wildlife  

3,4, 10  Environment, 
Culture and 
Wellbeing  
  
Growth and 
regeneration 
(climate 
change)   

Educate, 
advise and 

You can help the public understand biodiversity and why it’s important to conserve and 
enhance it. This can encourage land managers, businesses and the general public to take 
action to benefit biodiversity too.  

3, 12,13  Environment, 
Culture and 
Wellbeing  

P
age 33

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/protected-areas-sites-of-special-scientific-interest
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/duty-to-protect-conserve-and-restore-european-sites
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/national-nature-reserves-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-improvement-plan


raise 
awareness  
  

For your policies, objectives and actions, you could:  
• include the public in projects to improve biodiversity  
• feature biodiversity in public or internal communications  
• use libraries and museums to raise awareness of biodiversity  
• put information boards in green spaces or offer guided walks  
• include biodiversity considerations in advice for internal and external  
               clients and service users  
• educate your staff on your biodiversity actions and why they’re 
important  
• raise public awareness of how their gardens can support biodiversity, 
for example by avoiding artificial grass  

 
Growth and 
regeneration 
  
  

Review 
internal 
policies and 
processes  
  

All public authorities have internal policies and processes for staff and facilities that could 
affect biodiversity.  
Changes to internal policies and processes that can affect biodiversity are another way 
you can meet your duty. Policies you could review include:  

• transport – support sustainable travel to reduce carbon emissions and  
               improve air quality  
• waste – review waste management and recycling processes to 
reduce  
                water pollution and air pollution from waste transport and landfill  
• water – improve water efficiency to reduce the effect water abstraction  
               can have on sensitive habitats and species  
• procurement – buy sustainable materials and supplies to reduce the  
                demand on natural resources  
• light – make sure the design of artificial lighting minimises effects on  
                nature  

2, 3  All 
directorates   
  

Prepare for 
biodiversity 
net gain  
  

Biodiversity net gain (BNG) is an approach to development or land management that aims 
to leave the natural environment in a measurably better state than it was beforehand. If 
your public authority does not have a biodiversity net gain policy in the local plan, you 
could consider preparing one.  
Future development projects (apart from exempt developments) will need to achieve a 
10% biodiversity net gain. This is expected to be required from:  

4  Growth and 
Regeneration   
  
(planning - 
development 
management)  

P
age 34



• November 2023 for Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (TCPA)  
                projects not falling under the small sites definition [footnote 1]  
• April 2024 for TCPA small sites  
• the end of 2025 for Planning Act 2008 (Nationally Significant  
               Infrastructure Projects)  

Local planning authorities will need to report what is done for biodiversity net gain on and 
off development sites.  
Local planning authorities should consider areas that are appropriate for biodiversity net 
gain. Consider how existing planning advice and strategies can protect and enhance 
biodiversity.  
The developer is responsible for selecting the competent person for completing the small 
sites metric (SSM). The competent person does not need to be an ecologist for the SSM. 
The local planning authority does not need to verify the competent person.  
Find out about biodiversity net gain and how it affects you.  
  

Get help 
with your 
actions  
  

You can get help from experts when considering what actions you can take. For example, 
you could:  

• commission a survey or audit to help assess your property and its potential 
to  
                  improve biodiversity  
• consult your local nature recovery strategy to find out what actions would  
                  benefit your area – preparation of these will begin in 2023  
• check existing data about wildlife and habitats in the area  
• speak to Natural England, Environment Agency, Forestry Commission, local  
                 wildlife trusts or consultant ecologists  

You can get existing local data from Local Environmental Record Centres. If you 
commission research, you can share that data with them. To help you understand habitats 
and species in your area, you can use the national Magic Map.  
Getting expert advice can help you understand how you can make a difference for 
biodiversity and avoid unintended outcomes.   
You may need to get expert environmental advice on planning before preparing plans or 
considering development proposals.  

Not directly 
mentioned in 
Nature 
Recovery 
Declaration.   
  
However we are 
working with:   
  
Local Nature 
Recovery 
Strategy team 
at Staffs   
  
SWT / Wild 
About 
Tamworth / 

Environment, 
Culture and 
Wellbeing  
  
Growth and 
Regeneration  
(Planning 
policy)   

P
age 35

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/complying-with-the-biodiversity-duty#footnote-1
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/biodiversity-net-gain
https://www.alerc.org.uk/lerc-finder.html
https://magic.defra.gov.uk/magicmap.aspx
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-planning-authorities-get-environmental-advice
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-planning-authorities-get-environmental-advice


Environmental assessment regulations require monitoring of the effects of development 
plans and projects. You could use the results of this monitoring as a source of 
environmental data.  

Staffs Eco 
Record  
  
Environment 
Agency (re 
watercourses)   
  
Canal and River 
Trust   

 
  

P
age 36



  25 of 29 

Appendix 5 Community Impact Assessment. 
 
Part 1 – Details  
What Policy/ Procedure/ 
Strategy/Project/Service 
is being assessed? 

Nature Recovery and Biodiversity 
Consideration 

Date Conducted 
 

5/7/24 

Name of Lead Officer and 
Service Area 

Assistant Director Environment, Culture and 
Wellbeing 
 

Commissioning Team 
(if applicable) 

 

Director Responsible for  
project/service area 

Executive Director Organisation 

Who are the main 
stakeholders 

Environment, Culture and Wellbeing 
Regeneration and Growth 
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust 

Describe what 
consultation has been 
undertaken.  Who was 
involved and what was 
the outcome 

As above 

Outline the wider 
research that has taken 
place (E.G. 
commissioners, partners, 
other providers etc) 

Staffordshire wildlife trust are supporting the 
authority on the biodiversity net gain work. 

A decision to review or 
change a service 
 

 

A 
Strategy/Policy/Procedure 
 
 

 Yes 

What are you assessing? 
Indicate with an ‘x’ which 
applies 
 

A function, service or 
project 
 

 

New 
 

 Yes 
Existing 
 

 

What kind of assessment 
is it?  Indicate with an ‘x’ 
which applies 
 

Being reviewed 
 

 

Page 37



  26 of 29 

Being reviewed as a 
result of budget 
constraints / End of 
Contract 

 

 
 
Part 2 – Summary of Assessment  
Give a summary of your proposal and set out the aims/ objectives/ 
purposes/ and outcomes of the area you are impact assessing. 
 
This the councils first Biodiversity Consideration. The Biodiversity Duty is a 
legal obligation that requires public authorities to show regard for the conserving 
biodiversity in all of their actions 
 
 
Who will be affected and how? 
By providing people with access to quality green and blue spaces it can 
positively impact on individuals sense of wellbeing and connection with 
nature. 
All current and future users of these spaces will be affected. 
 
 
Are there any other functions, policies or services linked to this impact 
assessment? 
 
Yes X   No   
 
If you answered ‘Yes’, please indicate what they are? 
 
Nature Declaration 
 

 
 
Part 3 – Impact on the Community  
Thinking about each of the Areas below, does or could the Policy 
function, or service have a direct impact on them? 
 
Impact Area Yes No Reason (provide brief 

explanation ) 
Age 
 

  Currently there is little evidence to 
suggest that the draft Biodiversity 
Consideration will have specific impacts 
upon protected characteristic groups; 
however, once adopted it has the 
potential to deliver increased access to 
natural green spaces and other green 
infrastructure for local communities 
across Tamworth. Such access has been 
shown to have a positive impact upon an 
individual’s mental health and overall 
well-being. 

Page 38



  27 of 29 

Some improved access may be 
beneficial to specific age groups 

Disability   We may have some nature reserves 
where it is not reasonably practicable for 
all nature spaces to be accessible. Also it 
should be noted that there maybe areas 
identified in the borough moving forward 
that will have no access to  support the 
enhancement of their biodiversity value. 
Signage / advertising documentation will 
require further consideration with those 
with specific sight needs eg use of braille 
and large print. 

Gender Reassignment    
Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

   

Pregnancy & Maternity    
Race    
Religion or belief    
Sexual orientation    
Sex    
Gypsy/Travelling 
Community 

   

Those with 
caring/dependent 
responsibilities  

   

Those having an offending 
past 

   

Children    

Vulnerable Adults    

Families    

Those who are homeless    

Those on low income    

Those with drug or alcohol 
problems 

   

Those with mental health 
issues 

  As detailed in ‘age’ section above 

Those with physical health 
issues 

   

Social inclusion 
Please include refugees 
and asylum seekers,  

   

Social inclusion: Armed 
Forces 
The Armed Forces 
Covenant is a pledge that 
together we acknowledge 
and understand that those 
who have served in the 

   

Page 39



  28 of 29 

armed forces, and their 
families, should be treated 
with fairness and respect 
and any impact should be 
considered 
Health and Wellbeing 
 

  Nature connectedness is well-known 
to potentially improve an individuals 
sense of wellbeing and improve 
mental wellbeing. 

Climate Change    The work around BNG can positively 
impact on climate change. 

 
Part 4 – Risk Assessment 
From evidence given from previous question, please detail what 
measures or changes will be put in place to mitigate adverse 
implications. this includes climate change considerations 
 
This is the section in which to please outline any actions to mitigate 
negative or enhance positive impacts in terms of economic, 
environmental or wider societal considerations, and actions to review 
and monitor the overall impact of the change accordingly. 
Impact Area 
 

Details of the 
Impact 

Action to reduce risk 

Eg:  Families Families no longer 
supported which 
may lead to a 
reduced standard 
of living & 
subsequent health 
issues 

Signposting to other services.  
Look to external funding 
opportunities.  

Disability It is not reasonably 
practicable for all 
nature spaces to be 
accessible 

In the future the authority will look at 
creating information for the numerous 
accessible green and open spaces in 
the borough.  
 

   

Page 40



  29 of 29 

Part 5 - Action Plan and Review  
 
Detail in the plan below, actions that you have identified in your Community Impact Assessment, which will eliminate discrimination, advance 
equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations. 
 
If you are unable to eliminate or reduce negative impact on any of the impact areas, you should explain why 
 
Impact (positive or 
negative) identified 

Action Person(s) 
responsible 

Target date Required outcome 

 
 

Outcomes and Actions entered onto 
Pentana 

   

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
Date of Review (If applicable) ……………………………………………….. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Guidance and form updated July 2023 following CMT approval. 
 
 

P
age 41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet 
 
 

Thursday, 10 October 2024 
 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Homelessness and Planning 
 
 

Social Housing Regulatory Programme Update 
 
 
Exempt Information 
Non-Exempt 
 
 
1.0. Purpose 
 
1.1 To update Cabinet on the latest position regarding compliance with the Regulator 

Social Housing (RSH) Consumer Standards, published with effect from 2nd April 
2024  
 

1.2 To support any emerging and/or additional recommendations arising from Corporate 
Scrutiny meeting on 09th October 2024; further informed by discussions at the 
Homelessness & Housing Advisory Board meeting on 1st October 2024 

  
 
 2.0.    Recommendations 
 
2.1.    Cabinet are recommended to:- 
 

1. Acknowledge progress regarding the areas identified for self-referral to the 
Regulator Social Housing, summarised at Annex one 

2. Approve the Tenant Impact & Risk Assessment arising from the Self-referral 
developed with Staffordshire Fire & Rescue Services, shown at Annex Two 

3. Support Homelessness & Housing Advisory Board discussions on the 1st October 
2024 to progress the Autumn Roadshow consulting on the Tenant Involvement & 
Engagement Strategy launched at the Tenant Conference (16/9/24), Summarised 
at Annex Three 

4. Agree recruitment of an independent Tenant Advocate to the Homelessness & 
Housing Advisory Board to support the Tenant Voice – referring details to 
Appointments & Staffing Committee for formal approval  
 

 
3.0. Executive Summary 
 
Self-Referral Regulatory Housing Consumer Standards 
 
3.1. The consumer standards were published on 2/4/24 and were largely unchanged from 

those published February 2024 and were updated in Tamworth’s own programme to 
drive improvement. These cover 4 key standards Neighbourhood and Community; 
Safety & quality; Tenancy and Transparency, Influence and Accountability (including 
Tenant Satisfaction Measures).  

  
3.2 Self-Referral is particularly addressed in the Transparency, Influence and 

Accountability Standard at 2.6 and cautions that  
  
2.6.1 Registered providers must communicate in a timely manner with the regulator on all material 
issues that relate to non-compliance or potential non-compliance with the consumer standard 

Page 43

Agenda Item 7

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6694f08aa3c2a28abb50cf2b/Consumer_Regulation_Review_23-24_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/6694f08aa3c2a28abb50cf2b/Consumer_Regulation_Review_23-24_FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/factors-for-assessing-regulatory-issues
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/five-social-landlords-fail-to-meet-rshs-standards
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/housing_docs/tenant-survey-2024.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65fc480ca6c0f70011ef91c7/April_2024_-_Transparency__Influence_and_Accountability_Standard_FINAL__1_.pdf
https://www.youtube.com/watch
https://www.youtube.com/watch


 
3.3. As a result of the Programme, the Leadership Board agreed on 31st July 2024 to 

trigger a self-referral, taking into account:- 
 

• Self-assessment undertaken externally in 2023 by YDS and checks 
on progress 

• Independent Asset Compliance Review Accepted 17/7/24 
• Homelessness & Housing Advisory Board updates around 

organisational progress (including tenant representatives) 
• Recommendations from the Programme Lead and Officers 

 
3.4 Since the Self-referral on 12th August 2024 (letter to RSH shown at annex four), the 

Leadership Board have received routine updates on a weekly basis. 
 
 

Achievements have included 
 

o Investment in Resource with backfilling arrangements for Programme lead/Head of 
Repairs until end of November aimed at accelerating progress on priority 
workstreams with routine updates through the Trade Union Liaison Group, Corporate 
Operations Group and retained external expertise 

 
o Updated data reflecting progress, sent to the Regulator on 30/9/24 – (annex one) in 

readiness for a scheduled appointment on Friday 25th October 2024  
 

o Housing Ombudsman confirmed receipt of self-assessment and published data 
rectifying this area of non-compliance (Cabinet 29/8 – published 5/9)  
 

o Significant improvements across Asset Compliance Areas – with progress across all 
compliance areas as shown in annex one and two.  
 

o Work-shop with Staffordshire Fire & Rescue Servicess on tenant/resident impact 
assessment with inclusions around sprinkler testing; FAQ development and ‘waking 
watch’ arrangements (i.e. enhanced cleaner identification of issues)  

 
o Tenant Conference launching consultation on a refreshed and modernised  ‘Tenant & 

Leaseholder Voice’ improvement plan – Roadshow to commence November 2024  
 

o Approval for Tenant Voice & Teant Analyst to support ‘getting to know you’ campaign 
and review of TSM improvement planning  

 
 
 
3.5. The areas for self-referral are summarised below with specific progress shown 
 
 
  
RSH Standard  Lead AD  Ref  Requirement 

copied from 
RSH standard  

Breach  Similar Org. 
reporting 
breach(es)  

Progress  

Safety & 
Quality  

Paul 
Weston  

1.3 Health 
& safety  

1.3.1 When 
acting as 
landlords, 
registered 
providers must 
take all 
reasonable 
steps to ensure 
the health and 
safety of 

1386 Electrical 
Inspections 
outstanding 
including 39 
communal 
blocks  
  
Fire Risk 
Assessments – 
299 arising 

Southwark  
  
Bristol – 3000 
overdue fire 
safety 
remedial 
actions  
  
Guildford – 
1700 without 

A detailed 
improvement 
plan supported 
by external 
consultants is in 
place with 
SMART actions 
and a focus on 
critical actions 

Page 44

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/regulatory-standards-for-landlords
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65fc3d30f1d3a0001d32acef/April_2024_-_Neighbourhood_and_Community_Standard_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65fc3d30f1d3a0001d32acef/April_2024_-_Neighbourhood_and_Community_Standard_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65fc3d30f1d3a0001d32acef/April_2024_-_Neighbourhood_and_Community_Standard_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65fc3d30f1d3a0001d32acef/April_2024_-_Neighbourhood_and_Community_Standard_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65fc3d30f1d3a0001d32acef/April_2024_-_Neighbourhood_and_Community_Standard_FINAL.pdf


tenants in their 
homes and 
associated 
communal 
areas.  

management 
actions 
outstanding  
  
Legionella Risk 
Assessments – 
5 missing 
blocks now 
complete 
(25/25) with 
541 
management 
actions 
outstanding  
  
Asbestos 
Reporting – 
insufficient 
process to 
share 
information with 
contractors  
  
Corporate H&S 
reporting & 
Accountability – 
an identified 
H&S lead 
member as 
required under 
the standard  

up-to-date 
electrical 
certification  
  
Octavia – 
1200 overdue 
fire safety 
actions  
  
South 
Derbyshire – 
stock 
condition not 
up to date  
  
  
  
  

until December 
2024. 
 
Progress has 
been made 
across all 
housing asset 
compliance 
areas as shown 
to the update to 
the RSH on 
30/9/24 attached 
at annex one 

Transparency, 
Influence & 
accountability  

Zoe 
Wolicki  

1.6 
Complaints  

1.6.1 
Registered 
providers must 
ensure 
complaints are 
addressed 
fairly, 
effectively, and 
promptly.  

Failure to 
submit the self-
assessment by 
30th June 2024 
and show 
organisational 
learning from 
complaints – 
see HO letter 
received 
26/7/24  

  Completed – 
The Housing 
Ombudsman has 
acknowledged 
the Cabinet 
decision on  
29/8/24 to agree 
publication, 
complaints 
member lead & 
continuous 
learning and this 
is now on the 
Councils website 
(05/9/24) 

Neighbourhood 
& Community  

Hannah 
Peate  

1.1 Safety 
of Shared 
Spaces  

1.1.1 
Registered 
providers must 
work co-
operatively with 
tenants , other 
landlords and 
relevant 
organisations 
to take all 
reasonable 
steps to ensure 
the safety of 
shared spaces  

    Several 
workshops have 
now been held 
with tenants to 
develop and co-
design the 
environmental 
service 
standards.  A 
draft was 
informed by 
discussions with 
TCG and is due 
to be finalised 
September 
2024  

  

Page 45

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65f8250c78087a001a59ebac/April_2024_-_Safety_and_Quality_Standard_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65f8250c78087a001a59ebac/April_2024_-_Safety_and_Quality_Standard_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65f8250c78087a001a59ebac/April_2024_-_Safety_and_Quality_Standard_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65f8250c78087a001a59ebac/April_2024_-_Safety_and_Quality_Standard_FINAL.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/65f8250c78087a001a59ebac/April_2024_-_Safety_and_Quality_Standard_FINAL.pdf


3.6 The need for organisational transparency around self-referral was further re-enforced 
by the Regulator at recent ‘round table discussions’ with providers. Kate Dodsworth 
(Chief of regulatory Engagement) said that all providers were encouraged in the 
interests of transparency to share with the RSH where there was any issue with 
compliance, a failure to do so could invite regulatory sanction where it was assessed 
during routine inspection that it should have done so.  

  
3.7 There is a growing number of referrals across the sector, evidenced by the latest 

consumer report, with providers seeking to demonstrate ‘organisational grip’ by self-
referring.  We know there were 986 referrals, an increase of 5% from the year before 
with 217 referrals investigated and 9 landlords in breach.  Since 2024, this is  
increasing as other regulatory breaches have been published including South 
Derbyshire, South Kesteven, Southwark, etc.  The RSH also produced inspection 
guidance and mitigating factors supporting self-referral when RSH is considering a 
breach.  

  
3.8. Tamworth have already had very positive discussions with the Regulator and have 

welcomed the openness, organisational understanding and commitment to 
improvement.  At the last meeting on the 20th September 2024 the regulator 
described three potential routes following the self-referral preliminary assessment: - 

 
1. No further action 
2. Regulatory Intelligence and ongoing dialogue with the RSH 
3. A grading review based on the self-referral which could be either a C3 or C4 rating 

 
Tamworth is planning for three, it would be evidence of considerable progress 
to follow route two. 

  
 
Tenant Voice & Involvement in Service Improvement 
 
3.8 Central to improving housing services is ensuring tenants and leaseholders are at the 

heart of this.  A refreshed tenant involvement and engagement strategy was launched 
for consultation at the Tenant Conference on the 16th September 2024. 

 
3.9. The Homelessness & Housing Advisory Board continue to discuss the next steps 

arising from the event; and the planned roadshow over the Autumn is supported by 
the Board and forms part of this cabinet report.  Following the consultation the new 
Tenant Voice Strategy will be reported to Cabinet on 25/2/25.  Full details of the 
Board report are provided.  Key headlines are summarised in the slide below were 
presented at the conference and reflect key principles aimed at transforming tenant 
engagement. 

 

  
 
Independent Tenant Advocate 

Tenant &
Leaseholder Voice
Better Together!

• Your Voice in every Choice
• No voice no vote
• Tenants & Leaseholders First culture
• More Involvement opportunities
• Easy as ABCD
• Improving services together
• Development Tamworth Talent Academy–

Staff & you!

Page 46

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/660c0ad967958c0011365a58/April_2024_-_Tenancy_Standard_FINAL.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consumer-standards-code-of-practice
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consumer-standards-code-of-practice
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/regulator-publishes-first-results-of-consumer-inspections-87781
https://www.insidehousing.co.uk/news/regulator-publishes-first-results-of-consumer-inspections-87781


 
3.10 As part of discussions at the Tenant Consultative Group (TCG) and Homelessness & 

Housing Advisory Board, it is accepted that TCG would benefit from an independent 
tenant advocate, similar to a non-executive director at a registered provider.   

 
The development of the Homelessness & Housing Advisory Board was recognised as 
good practice from the self-assessment and at a recent tenant workshop, it was 
recommended that this independent advocate would help tenants develop and 
strengthen their ability to hold the executive to account across scrutiny, training and 
overall assurance when representing and channelling the wider tenant and 
leaseholder feedback. 
 

3.11 It is therefore proposed to develop this and make proposals to Appointments and 
Staffing Committee on the detail if this is agreed in principle. 

 
4.0. Resource Implications 
 
4.1. There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations as these 

can be contained within existing budgets, specifically policy changes agreed in 
2023/2024 for the Social Housing regulatory Programme. 

 
4.2 It is envisaged that expenses will be paid to the tenant independent advocate and this 

can be met from the tenant involvement budgets, save further benchmarking and 
review which will be reported to Appointments and Staffing Committee. 

 
 
5.0. Legal/Risk Implications Background 
 
5.1 Routinely the Social Housing Regulatory Programme meets to discuss progress and 

the Risks are mapped and those scoring 12 and above reported to Audit & 
Governance Committee.  The headlines are as follows 

 

  
 
 

Page 47



 

 
 
 
 
6.0. Equalities Implications 
 
6.1. As a result of areas identified around asset non-compliance a tenant/resident impact 

assessment has been developed in conjunction with stakeholders, including 
Staffordshire Fire & Rescue Services.  This is shown at annex two. 

 
6.2. In addition to the risk and equality implications the following communications are 

planned and will kept under review 
 

  
 
 
7.0. Environment and Sustainability Implications (including climate change) 
 

Page 48



7.1 Delivery of excellent housing services directly contributes to the environment and 
sustainability of services.  There are links to the HRA business plan and this is 
elsewhere on the forward plan for consideration.  

 
8.0. Matters for Consideration 
 
 Regulatory Context  
  
8.1 All Chief Executives and Leaders were written to on 3rd April 2024 setting out the new 

social housing regulation requirements.  This follows a range of publications on new 
consumer standards set out in the Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023 and builds 
on the Regulator approach to reshaping consumer standards   

  
A self-referral is simply where the Landlord does not believe it is meeting the RSH 
consumer standards – the timing of this must be based on where it believes it can not 
evidence compliance, rather than anecdote.  

  
8.2 The Social Housing Regulatory Programme commenced June 2023 and Trueman 

Change were engaged October 2023 to support preparedness’ for housing relater 
inspection, service improvement and housing-based compliance.  All designed to put 
tenants at the heart of our housing-based service offer; recognising housing functions 
are split across the Council.  

  
8.3 The Programme including details on associated projects, risk management and the 

need to seek quality assurance have been built around the consumer standards.  The 
Summary has been routinely featured at the Homelessness’ & Housing Advisory 
Board, the latest 1st October 2024 – as well as subject to previous Cabinet decisions 
and scrutinised at several service specific Scrutiny Committees.  This follows 
Tamworth’s own self-assessment in 2022/2023 which informed the action and 
improvement plans.  

  
8.4. Tamworth Leadership team know that all housing providers will be inspected over a 

four (4) year period with the first Inspections commencing April 2024.  Whilst the 
Regulator has published a range of inspection guidance; the timetable specific to 
Tamworth remains unknown.  The Regulator described Landlords needing to be in 
constant pursuit of tenant excellence and should therefore see inspection as part of 
that journey. Ratings are from C1 to C4 (higher better) – details on gradings and 
latest was published 17th July by the RSH in their latest Consumer Regulation Review 
2023-2024.   

  
8.5 The Regulator published its first set of regulatory judgments on 24/7/24 with Watford 

Community Housing Trust and Nottingham Community Housing Associations being 
given C1 ratings, and five(5) Social Landlords given C3 ratings (Bristol, Cambridge, 
Guildford, Sheffield and Octavia Housing) – more ratings continue to be published 
which Tamworth continues to review.  

  
8.6. Tamworth has spoken to the majority involved in the first wave of inspections (Melton, 

Staffordshire Moorlands/High Peak, Cobalt, Saffron Waldon, Kensington & Chelsea) 
and is developing an outward focus on which to build strong peer networks and 
evidence continual improvement through benchmarking and learning. 

  
Tenant Satisfaction Measures – submission by 30th June 2024  
   
8.7. Tamworth successfully submitted the required Tenant Satisfaction Measures before 

the 30th of June 2024 deadline.  The focus was on accuracy, data validation and 
interpretation of the Regulators technical guidance.  

  
8.8 The TSMs were published as required and tenants designed the leaflet and the vice 

chair of the tenant consultative group headlined the video explaining the results  

Page 49

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/rsh-publishes-key-findings-from-its-2023-24-consumer-regulation-work
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/what-happens-after-you-make-a-referral-to-us
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/southwark-council-grading-under-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/southwark-council-grading-under-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/five-social-landlords-fail-to-meet-rshs-standards
https://www.southderbyshire.gov.uk/our-services/housing/housing-consumer-standards
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/660c15c067958c001f365a6e/20240326_April1-letter-to-ceos__002_.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reshaping-consumer-regulation-our-new-approach?si=icd3HS69psBFr4kr&v=SoodL3GYv48&feature=youtu.be
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reshaping-consumer-regulation-our-new-approach?si=icd3HS69psBFr4kr&v=SoodL3GYv48&feature=youtu.be


  
8.9 The results were disappointing across several areas relating to tenant satisfaction 

(down from 78% to 58% overall), response times to complaints at 54.5% and 42.1% 
along with proportion of homes required to have a legionella risk assessment at 
69.9%.   The roadshow seeks to develop the improvement plan and this will be 
reported back to Cabinet routinely. 

  
  
Report Author 
Tina Mustafa – Assistant Director Neighbourhoods / Programme Director 
 
 
 
Appendices 

1. Self-Referral Progress Statement sent to RSH 30th September 2024 
2. Tenant/Resident Impact Assessment arising from asset non-compliance 
3. Homelessness & Housing Advisory Board Report from Tenant Conference on 

Tenant Involvement Strategy 
4. Self-referral letter 

Page 50



Progress report for the RSH at 27th September 2024 
 
 RSH Question Information Required Lead Officer Evidence Links 
1 Electrical position update? Numbers and Summary with 

target dates for Nov-March  
@Weston, 
Paul@Mustafa, 
Tina@Ian Gardner 

2 Fire Position Update? By 
types of actions and targets 
to end of October completion 

Numbers and Summary @Harper, Martin 

3 Legionella/Water Update? 
By types of actions and 
Targets to end of October 
completion 

Numbers and Summary @Harper, Martin 

4 Latest Position on Stock 
condition and how that links 
to Carbon/fire detection 

Numbers and Summary as 
referenced around AMS/HRA 
etc 

@Weston, 
Paul@Mustafa, 
Tina 

Tamworth has taken the opportunity to update 
the RSH template previously submitted on 30th 
August showing progress across core 
compliance areas.   
 
Please refer to attached link 

5 Tenant Risk Assessment 
whilst work underway? 

Collaborative work with SFARs @Mustafa, 
Tina@Harper, 
Martin 

Tamworth has undertaken an impact 
assessment to mitigate risks to tenants and 
leaseholders whilst it completes outstanding 
works.  This risk assessment has had regard for 
property types and household vulnerability and 
was done in conjunction with the council’s 
compliance team, retained external consultants, 
the council’s H&S lead. Details of which were 
also shared with SFRS via a workshop which 
resulted in further measured being included.  
The council’s tenant voice manager is 
overseeing the continued implementation of all 
these actions.  
 
Please refer to the attached link.  

6 How are you going to 
sustain momentum and 
service improvement – root 

Discussed scope of externally 
support review 

@Barnes, Rob 
@Mustafa, Tina 

A key objective of the improvement plan was to 
conduct a thorough root and branch review of 
the causation factors around the self-referral.  

P
age 51

mailto:Paul-Weston@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Paul-Weston@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Tina-Mustafa@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Tina-Mustafa@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:ian_gardner@btconnect.com
mailto:Martin-Harper@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Martin-Harper@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Paul-Weston@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Paul-Weston@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Tina-Mustafa@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Tina-Mustafa@tamworth.gov.uk
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Compliance%20Data%20for%20the%20Regulator.docx?d=wc57d08ab6b5d483a9e27259fb462fc39&csf=1&web=1&e=GhemHI
mailto:Tina-Mustafa@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Tina-Mustafa@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Martin-Harper@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Martin-Harper@tamworth.gov.uk
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Compliance%20risk%20assessment%202024.docx?d=w12e137b70d2b49419a9b57430a60df1d&csf=1&web=1&e=xNKrXa
mailto:Rob-Barnes@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Tina-Mustafa@tamworth.gov.uk


and branch review to avoid 
self-referral, ensure 
capacity, resource and 
structural adequacy? 

The scope of this is currently being finalised and 
will be undertaken with external support and 
completed by Christmas. This review is intended 
to follow best value principles and look at the 
repairs service generally rather than a narrow 
focus. This will also be informed by the external 
review undertaken for asset compliance; as well 
as the ongoing one into repairs contractor(s). 
 
Whilst this full review is undertaken the 
Programme Director will be recommending 
complimentary options around adding capacity 
and resource given new pressures within the 
team relating to training, turnover and expertise.   
 
Tamworth has already seconded the Programme 
Director full-time, adding back fill resource until 
November to ensure that momentum and 
progress is sustained.   
   

7 Complaint handling – Can 
we see detailed numbers 
and themes ? 

Latest improvement plan; 
housing 
complaints/compliments/service 
request intel for 2023/4 with 
response times and 
improvement plan for learning 

@Wolicki, 
Zoe@Hesketh, 
Nicola 

The external review of complaints for 2023/24 is 
attached.  Further work is needed on improving 
response times and learning from complaints at 
a more granular level which is the next piece of 
work.   
Performance for Q1 was 27 stage 1 complaints 
with 13 answered in target.  8 stage 2 complaints 
with 2 answered in target.   
Minutes of the tenant meeting review the 
2023/24 is attached.  It is intended that the 
complaint review panel will work on the ‘You 
said, We did’ approach reflected in the tenants 
annual report. 
 

P
age 52

mailto:Zoe-Wolicki@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Zoe-Wolicki@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Nicola-Hesketh@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Nicola-Hesketh@tamworth.gov.uk
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Appendix%20A%20-%20Annual%20Complaints%20Performance%20and%20Service%20Improvement%20Report%20202324.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=x5UNan
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Tenant%20Consultative%20Group%20Meeting%20Minutes%2014.05.24.docx?d=w8d43c4a2bd7d4d42811adaf2a2882a40&csf=1&web=1&e=ERsnYL
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Tenant%20Consultative%20Group%20Meeting%20Minutes%2014.05.24.docx?d=w8d43c4a2bd7d4d42811adaf2a2882a40&csf=1&web=1&e=ERsnYL


Tamworth has invested in resources approving a 
tenant voice manager and a tenant analyst in the 
tenant involvement team to support tenant 
complaint investigation and complaint handling 
improvements.   
 

8 Damp & Mould self 
assessment – please to see 
can we have an update on 
progress 

Review of ‘spotlight’ on damp 
self assessment with check of 
SMART plan 

@Weston, Paul Tamworth has taken the opportunity to update 
the RSH template previously submitted on 30th 
August showing progress across core 
compliance areas.   
 
Please refer to attached link 
 

9 Complaint handling – 23% 
satisfaction – where do you 
want this to be? 

Linked to above and 
improvement plan with 
narrative 

@Wolicki, 
Zoe@Hesketh, 
Nicola 

As per the plan above, aiming for 35% in this 
year’s survey and 50% next year. 

10 Environmental Service 
standards have you 
progressed? 

Draft service offer for HMOs  @Peate, 
Hannah@Greaves, 
Mark 

Good progress.  Draft service standards 
attached which have been discussed with 
tenants.  Minutes of the meeting with tenants are 
attached. Further work and consultation needed 
which should be completed by November. 
 
The evidence attached in the folder shows 
comprehensive tenant engagement in the co-
design of service standards as you will see these 
include mechanisms by which tenants can 
monitor these standards.  There is an 
organisational intention to rationalise all the 
service standards so there is a consistent 
approach and this is reflected in the actions 
within the TIA standard.   
 

 TSM questionnaire used – 
have checked website and 
pleased to see published 

Completed see attached @Birch, Lee This is attached.  The action is complete. 

P
age 53

mailto:Paul-Weston@tamworth.gov.uk
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Compliance%20Data%20for%20the%20Regulator.docx?d=wc57d08ab6b5d483a9e27259fb462fc39&csf=1&web=1&e=GhemHI
mailto:Zoe-Wolicki@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Zoe-Wolicki@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Nicola-Hesketh@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Nicola-Hesketh@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Hannah-Peate@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Hannah-Peate@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Mark-Greaves@tamworth.gov.uk
mailto:Mark-Greaves@tamworth.gov.uk
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:f:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Environmental%20Service%20Standards?csf=1&web=1&e=PBgTYI
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:f:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Environmental%20Service%20Standards?csf=1&web=1&e=PBgTYI
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:p:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Environmental%20Service%20Standards/20240514%20Tenant%20Mtg.pptx?d=w75371683ecbe4bc28af4144a31092323&csf=1&web=1&e=tP8eHO
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:p:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Environmental%20Service%20Standards/20240514%20Tenant%20Mtg.pptx?d=w75371683ecbe4bc28af4144a31092323&csf=1&web=1&e=tP8eHO
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Tenant%20Consultative%20Group%20Meeting%20Minutes%2014.05.24.docx?d=w8d43c4a2bd7d4d42811adaf2a2882a40&csf=1&web=1&e=ERsnYL
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Tenant%20Consultative%20Group%20Meeting%20Minutes%2014.05.24.docx?d=w8d43c4a2bd7d4d42811adaf2a2882a40&csf=1&web=1&e=ERsnYL
mailto:Lee-Birch@tamworth.gov.uk
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Blank%20survey.docx?d=w509cd1f03bed45d99d850852aab08d6f&csf=1&web=1&e=P7OqO7


information but want the 
blank questionnaire 

 Governance & Timeline Dates for Members @Mustafa, Tina  Homelessness & Housing Advisory Board 
1/10/24 - the item on the self-referral is 
confidential.  Please click on the link for the full 
report.  
 
Corporate Scrutiny to review Draft Cabinet report 
09/10/24 - Cabinet 10/10/24 
 
Discussion with JB around whether to release 
ahead of formal review – as items currently non-
confidential – reports not yet issued. 
 

 
 

P
age 54

mailto:TinaM@tamworth.gov.uk
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/01102024%201800%20Housing%20and%20Homelessness%20Advisory%20Board.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=u33ZMl
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/01102024%201800%20Housing%20and%20Homelessness%20Advisory%20Board.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=u33ZMl
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Social%20Housing%20Regulatory%20Programme%20Update%20Cabinet%20101024%20v1.docx?d=w874d2e195ccc4dd2996443ab75943d9d&csf=1&web=1&e=qF3E0a
https://tamworthbc.sharepoint.com/:w:/r/sites/SocialHousingRegulatoryProgramme/Shared%20Documents/Project%20Resources/Regulator%20of%20Social%20Housing%20Contact%20TM%20for%20permission/RSH%20progress%20report%20folder%20300924/Social%20Housing%20Regulatory%20Programme%20Update%20Cabinet%20101024%20v1.docx?d=w874d2e195ccc4dd2996443ab75943d9d&csf=1&web=1&e=qF3E0a


 
OFFICIAL 

Annex F - Example compliance data template 
PROVIDER: Tamworth Borough Council – Original submission unchanged 30/8/24.  Update 27/9/24 below   
     

 
     

 

Workstream 
  

Total No. 
of Assets 
in prog. 

 No. of Compliant Assets No. of Non-Compliant Assets COMPLIANCE (%) 

GAS SAFETY Domestic gas (LGSR)  3637 3636 1  99.98% 
  Communal gas (LGSR)  4 4 0 100% 

    

No. of 
capped 

properties 

No. of capped 
properties over 3 

months 
   

  Properties with a capped gas supply 27 22*    

    

No. of 
overdue 
checks 

      

  Overdue gas safety checks  (<1 month) 0        
  Overdue gas safety checks  (1-3 months)  1       
  Overdue gas safety checks (> 3 months)  0       
*All 22 have had a gas service and are capped.  This includes the carcass and gas infrastructure.  Capped properties have always been included in the gas 
programme.  All capped properties are reviewed by the tenancy team as part of the vulnerable tenants procedure as we recognise that this is an indicator of a 
household in financial stress.  There is a lead officer assigned to this, and all cases are subject to routine review including referrals to third parties for 
financial/pastoral support.  
 
We currently have 1 overdue gas service; this property is included in the properties capped. We are following our no access process to gain access to the 
property to make this compliant. A notice has been served.  Awaiting a court date for a warrant. 
 
As part of the asset compliance improvement plan, there is a critical action to complete a reconciliation exercise across all the compliance areas, so the council 
has assurance that the assets in the programme are accurate.   
 
27th September Update Commentary 
 

P
age 55



 
OFFICIAL 

*22 – confirmation that all capped properties have had an initial contact and where residents have engaged, they all now have a support plan to maximise 
their income and reduce fuel poverty.  These agreed plans provide support with targeted assistance through the tenancy management team.   
 
The one overdue has now been completed however, in accordance with the no access procedure there is now one different property going through the 
court process.  

  

P
age 56



 
OFFICIAL 

     
 

     
 

Workstream 
  

Total No. 
of Assets 
in prog. 

 No. of Compliant Assets No. of Non-Compliant Assets COMPLIANCE (%) 

ELECTRICAL SAFETY 5 Year EICR domestic testing cycle 4316  2829 1487 65.5% 

  10 Year EICR domestic testing cycle 0 0 0 0 

  Domestic properties with no EICRs 0       

  Communal EICRs 78  29  49  37% 

    

Overdue 
high risk - 
No. of C1 

(danger to 
life)  

Overdue medium risk - No. 
of actions C2 (potentially 

dangerous) 

Overdue low risk - No. of 
actions C3 (improvement 

recommended) 

 

  Overdue electrical remedials (< 3 month) 0 1 0   

  Overdue electrical remedials (3-6  months) 0 0 0   

  Overdue electrical remedials (6-12 months) 0 0 0   

  Overdue electrical remedials (12+ months) 0 0 0   
Comments:  
 
A review of the stock list has taken place and the number of required EICRs is 4316.  The change is a result of updating the EICR spreadsheet with new builds and sold 
properties.  A new method of maintaining the spreadsheet with current properties has been introduced to ensure that no properties are missed.  Ultimately it is the intention 
of the Council to track this through an upgrade in Orchard. 
 
There are 2829 properties with a current EICR as of 1st September 2024.  This number has been established from the live database in Orchard.  This provided the completion 
dates of all EICRs for occupied properties in the last 5 years, all void properties and all mutual exchanges.  All EICRs are stored on our Civica Document Management System 
and an audit of 1% of the properties with a current EICR has produced a valid certificate for all the properties.  Whilst this verifies the information, the sample size was very 
small.  The Council is aiming to complete a 10% check of the valid EICRs within the next 2 months.   
 
There is an ongoing programme to address the backlog of 1487 properties and further work is needed to prioritise the addresses.  The Council is also conscious that properties 
will be moving from compliant to non-compliant every day.   
 
The increase in non-compliant properties from the 1386 reported on 16th May 2024 to 1487 on 1st September 2024 is a result of the robust approach to validation before an 
EICR is considered compliant.     
 
There is a manual check of every EICR, remedial works are done whilst at the property, one Cat 2 has been picked up and works order has been raised to rectify this work.  
Background information has been checked and shown that works are being progressed through the system.  There is no backlog of C1, C2 and C3s as these are affectively 
rectified during the EICR Inspection. 

P
age 57



 
OFFICIAL 

 
27th September Updated Commentary  
 
Completed phase 1 of the EICR project and awarded the contract via Fusion 21 framework to Grooms.  Mobilisation is underway with a target of 15th October for 
commencement.  320 estimated per month until the end of March 2025 resulting in 1919 EICR updates of which 1487 were overdue at 30th August 2024.  Risk mitigations 
for no access includes dedicated TLO arrangements, mop up sessions planned for April to June 2025 and prioritised impact assessment informed by Staffordshire Fire and 
Rescue Service (attach in the pack).  
      

  

P
age 58



 
OFFICIAL 

      

Workstream 
  

Total No. of Assets in 
prog 

 No. of Compliant 
Assets 

No. of Non-Compliant 
Assets COMPLIANCE (%) 

FIRE SAFETY 
Fire Risk Assessments 
in high risk buildings  6 (348)  6  0 100 

  

Fire Risk Assessments 
in non-high risk 
buildings 

 71 
(847)  71   100 

  
Overall Fire Risk 
Assessments  77      

Comments: Please provide information on any high risk buildings, the types of Fire Risk Assessments undertaken across the portfolio, whether there are 
PEEPs in place, and if there are leasehold properties where the Provider carries out the FRAs but is not responsible for remedial actions. It is important to 
be clear where a single FRA of a building contains a large number of flats as the quantum of completed FRAs may not be representative of the number of 
homes impacted. 
 
73 blocks were included as a part of the TSMs submission which (number of stock as 1117).  77 (1195 properties) is as a result of the external compliance 
report identifying the correct number, accepted by the Council on 31st July 2024.   
 
27th September Updated Commentary 
 
An external third party fire risk assessor has been engaged to support the reconciliation of the council’s stock requiring an FRA.  This will be 
completed by the end of October.  Any additional blocks identified and/or requiring a Fire Risk Assessment will be completed at that time.  The 
Council’s position will therefore remain 100%.   
 

1. Definitions of high-risk a. building Safety Act 18+m (used). b. NROSH returns 11+m 
2. High rise blocks are 18+m, there is on 11+m included in the non- high rise. (The number in brackets is the number of residences) 
3. There is information for the fire service in the Premises Information Box at the 6 high rises detailing relevant infrastructure/ planning 

information for the blocks.   
4. There is a lead officer who completes a vulnerability plan for the high rises that details PEEPs/relevant mobility information that is shared with 

Staffordshire Fire and Rescue and the Council’s community alarm call handling service (Tunstall) for in and out of hours access on a routine basis.  
5. There are 48 leaseholders within the 6 high rise blocks and the council has incorporated any remedial actions within its overall plan.   

    
No. of high risk actions No. of medium risk 

actions 
No. of low risk actions   

  
Overdue FRA remedial 
actions (<3 months) 

0  0  0    

P
age 59



 
OFFICIAL 

  
Overdue FRA remedial 
actions (3-6 months) 

0   0  0   

  
Overdue FRA remedial 
actions (6-12 months) 

0 146 114   

  
Overdue FRA remedial 
actions (12+ months)  0  0  0   

Comments: Please include a definition of high, medium and low risks and associated target times for completion. If remedial actions get routed through 
other programmes (e.g. capital works), please explain how these actions are recorded and monitored. Outline mitigations that are in place for overdue 
high risk remedial actions. Does the provider differentiate between FRA remedial actions and tasks that are linked to the remedial action (i.e. is the FRA 
remedial action figure a consolidation of the number of activities that need to be undertaken to complete the remedial action) 
 
The 297 remedial actions identified as part of the self-referral were as a result of the external asset compliance review in May 2024.  Since then, all 
actions have been checked and categorised in relation to remedial type.  The table below shows that 97% of all fire actions are now either in progress, 
completed of which 47% have now been verified.   
 
Update to Executive Leadership Team on 19th August 2024. 
 

 
 

P
age 60



 
OFFICIAL 

The numbers in the table above reflect in medium and low-level risk remedial actions have target dates of the 30th September 2024 (90 of them have 
already been completed and 33 completed and verified) as new fire risk assessments are due from 31st August 2024.  Any remaining remedials will be 
passed to the fire risk assessed to incorporate and prioritise in the new risk assessment. For further quality assurance the council has engaged a third-
party expert to support the council’s future approach to fire risk management.  The Council is currently seeking quotations from both the existing 
contractor and alternatives to ensure the requisite level of fire competence.  It is expected that this will be concluded by the end of September.   
 
27th September Updated Commentary 
 

 
Key progress includes:  

• 100% of all actions are now completed, in progress or verified. 
• Tenancy Management – 52 in progress with target dates for the end of October.   
• Quotations have now been received and are currently being evaluated for the 2024/25 risk assessments to be completed.         

  

P
age 61



 
OFFICIAL 

 
    

 

Workstream 

  

Total 
No. of 
Assets 
in prog 

 No. of Compliant 
Assets 

No. of Non-Compliant 
Assets 

COMPLIANCE 
(%) 

SMOKE AND CO 
ALARMS Smoke alarms / detectors 4294       

  Carbon monoxide alarms / detectors  3637      

Comments:   The Council currently includes this information on the LGSR and other individual records and it would require a manual exercise to complete the 
table.  Whilst the Council is satisfied that all gas properties have above detection because this is a requirement of the LGSR to record it, it is also the council’s 
custom and practice to fit one.  There are legacy records indicating that this has been the case.     
 
The Council is currently undertaking a full 100% site-based stock condition survey.  The information being captured includes smoke and carbon monoxide 
detection based on the current sample of 36.07% there is 98.78% compliance for smoke detectors and 99.62% compliance for CO detectors.  We would expect 
this to be the case across all the stock.  The council is developing its housing management system to include an attribute field to capture this for routine 
onward monitoring as presently it does not.  Therefore, the council is relying on historical records to evidence that it has had commitments to fitting these to 
all properties.  
 
27th September Updated Commentary 
 
Stock condition is now at 39% complete and we will update the CO / Smoke detection rates when this is above 50% to more accurately focus updates to the 
figures above.   
      

     
 

Workstream 

  

Total 
No. of 
Assets 
in prog 

 No. of Compliant 
Assets 

No. of Non-Compliant 
Assets 

COMPLIANCE 
(%) 

WATER SAFETY Legionella risk assessments 
 28 

(710) 100 0 100 

P
age 62



 
OFFICIAL 

    

No. of 
high risk 
remedia
l actions  

No. of medium risk 
overdue remedial 

actions  

No. of low risk remedial 
actions   

  
Overdue water safety remedial actions (< 3 
months) 

      
  

  
Overdue water safety remedial actions (3-6 
months) 

   
  

  
Overdue water safety remedial actions (6-12 
months) 

45 137 322 
  

  
Overdue water safety remedial actions (6-12 
months) 

   
  

Comments:     
A further review of the stock has led to a revision of the number of properties requiring LRAs.  The increase is from 25 to 28.  All 28 blocks 
have current LRAs and the progress of the actions arising is being tracked internally through to the Executive Leadership Team.   
 
As indicated above, there were 504 actions arising from the LRAs.  52 have been completed leaving 452 outstanding actions.  45 are a high 
priority, 137 are a medium priority and 322 are a low priority. 
 
The table below shows the TBC timescales.  Priority 4 is High, Priority 3 is Medium, Priorities 2, 1 and 0 are Low.   
 

Rating Policy Duration (days) 
Priority Level 4 1 Day 1 
Priority Level 3 1 month 30 
Priority Level 2 3 months 90 
Priority Level 1 Defer or schedule 365 
Priority Level 0     

 
Priority Level Not Issued In Progress Completed Verified Grand Total 
Priority Level 0  67 39 17 0 123 
Priority Level 1 0 33 4 0 37 
Priority Level 2 7 153 2 0 162   

P
age 63



 
OFFICIAL 

Priority Level 3 14 119 4 0 137 
Priority Level 4 2 18 24 1 45 
Grand Total 90 362 51 1 504 

 
 
 
 
 
27th September Updated Table 
 
Priority Level Not Issued In Progress Completed Verified Grand Total 
Priority Level 0  0 30 49 44 123 
Priority Level 1 0 33 4 0 37 
Priority Level 2 0 154 6 2 162 
Priority Level 3 0 121 13 3 137 
Priority Level 4 0 19 25 1 45 
Grand Total 0 357 97 50 504 

 
Key progress includes: 

• 100% of all actions now issues. 
• 29% are now complete/ verified. 
• All 28 LRAs are due for 2024/25 and compliance officers are currently reviewing the new ones to refresh the actions, prioritising 

any outstanding actions from the 2023/24 LRA set. 
     

 

       

Workstream 

  

Total 
No. of 
Assets 
in prog 

 No. of Compliant 
Assets 

No. of Non-Compliant 
Assets 

COMPLIANCE 
(%) 

ASBESTOS SAFETY Asbestos re-inspections 69  68 1 99.31 

  
Overdue asbestos re-inspections (< 3 
months)         

P
age 64



 
OFFICIAL 

  
Overdue asbestos re-inspections (3-6 
months)         

  
Overdue asbestos re-inspections (6-12 
months)         

 
Overdue asbestos re-inspections (12+ 
months)  1       

Comments:    The one site outstanding (Arden Laundry) was last surveyed in 2019 and was moth-balled for a time.  It is no longer used as a laundry but as 
cleaner’s storage. The presumed asbestos on site is low risk, not easily accessible (Electricity supply) and doesn’t require more than a visual inspection.  The re-
inspection has been booked for the coming week. 
 
27th September Updated Commentary 
 

• The additional inspection at Arden Close Laundry has been completed and the Council is now 100% compliant. 
• The improvement plan identified the need to improve the asbestos register arrangements.  External consultants have completed 50% of the 69 sites 

cataloguing asbestos management plans risk rated. Interim arrangements for contractor access is in place via the job ticketing process and via the 
newly created records.  The target date for completion is the end of October. 

      

  

P
age 65



 
OFFICIAL 

           

Workstream 
  

Total No. of 
Assets in 

programme 
 No. of Compliant Assets No. of Non-Compliant Assets COMPLIANCE (%) 

LIFT SAFETY Passenger lifts (LOLER) servicing 
19  19 0 100 

  Overdue remedial actions (<3 months) 
 0       

  Overdue remedial actions (3-6 months) 
 0       

  Overdue remedial actions (6-12 months) 
 0       

  Overdue remedial actions (12+ months)  0       
Comments:    Yes, we do LOLER Inspections although L113 ACOP for lifts does not require them for the high-rise lifts as they are not deemed a place of work, 
although sheltered sites could fall within this category.  We have Thorough Examinations carried out by a third party (Zurich) and at the time of the last 
inspections, three were overdue (Peel x 2, would not carry out the inspection due to one lift being out of service, and not willing to isolate the other, leaving 
the site with no working lift. Strode x 1, lift out of service) and have now been completed, none out of date.  The 19 assets are spread over 12 sites. 
 
27th September – No further update. 
       

      
 

Workstream 
  

No. of open 
D&M cases 

Open cases assessed as 
Category 1 HHSRS 

  

DAMP AND MOULD Damp and mould cases 29 1 
  

 Cases overdue by <3 months 23   1 
  

 
Cases overdue 3-6 months  5  0 

 
  

Cases overdue by 6-12 months  1  0 
 

  
Cases overdue by 12+ months  0  0 

 
 

Comments: e.g. are remedial works are programmed in and risk to tenants mitigated? 
 Figure taken from Cat 1 HHSRS as reported through the stock condition survey results. 
603 cases reported in the last 12 months.  
The vast majority of HHSRS failures identified through the stock condition survey have fallen into Cat 3-5 and considered to be slight - moderate 

P
age 66



 
OFFICIAL 

All open cases are at various stages with the contractor and are actively being worked on in line with the Council’s Damp and Mould Policy and Housing Repairs 
Policy.    
 
27th September Updated Commentary 
 
A resource has been identified as part of the improvement plan to refresh the self-assessment on Damp and Mould and audit the current open cases.   

  

P
age 67



 
OFFICIAL 

      

Workstream 
  

Total No. of 
Assets in 

programme 
 No. of Compliant Assets No. of Non-Compliant Assets COMPLIANCE (%) 

STOCK CONDITION Meet the Decent Homes Standard  4316  3945 371  93.59% 

  

Please provide information on the latest stock condition survey, including its extent, type of survey, and whether it includes cloned data. 
In addition, how does the provider intend to maintain the currency of its SCS (i.e. what is the rolling programme?) 

  

Please provide a summary of your stock profile:    
 
1,557 properties have had a full stock condition survey representing 36.07% of the stock. 8.61% of the properties fall outside the decent 
homes definition.  A third of the failures are a result of a Cat 1 HHSRS failure and orders have been placed to address these hazards.  A 
third of the failures are a result of the age of the boilers and orders have been place for new boilers to be installed.   
 
The remaining stock condition surveys are in target for completion by December 2024. 
 
27th September Updated Commentary 
 
We have completed a total of 1,763 surveys, representing 39% of the target number of 4,517 surveys.   
  

 
     

 
 

    

Workstream           
INVESTIGATIONS 
AND 
ENFORCEMENT 
ACTION 

Please provide information below on current investigations and enforcement actions being undertaken by third parties into health and 
safety, including the Housing Ombudsman, Building Safety Regulator, Fire Service, Health & Safety Executive, and Local Authorities under 
the HHSRS: 
 
The Housing Ombudsman have given Tamworth an extension until the 5th September 2024 to submit the relevant details.  This allows for 
Cabinet decisions on the 29th August detailing the Councils approach to compliant handling and governance arrangements.  Details will 
be published on the 5th September as per the Housing Ombudsman requirements. 
 
TBC can confirm that there are no investigations being undertaken at present by the Building Safety Regulator, Fire Service, Health and 
Safety Executive or Local Authority under the HHSRS. 
 

P
age 68



 
OFFICIAL 

The Housing Ombudsman has two current cases open which it is investigating.  (202414906 HO reference) The first one relates to a 
damaged door which the tenant paid to repair and is seeking reimbursement.  (202336512 HO reference) The second relates to an anti-
social behaviour case where the complaint remains unhappy with the management of the case.   
 
27th September Updated Commentary 
 
The cabinet report and the online submission of the self-assessment has now been completed and accepted by the Housing 
Ombudsman.  HO letter in the RSH file.   
 
There have been no further Housing Ombudsman cases opened since the last update.   
   

 

 

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  1 of 14 

 

 

Assessment No: 

Task Risk Assessment Form 
 

Location/Dept Assets  Date 
Assessment 
Completed 

07/08/2024 
17/9/2024 
TM&SFARS 

Assessor Martin Harper 
Tina Mustafa 
Steve Langston 

 
 

Purpose  This risk assessment should be read in conjunction with the health and safety housing asset 
compliance improvement plan. This risk assessment impact assesses the known hazards and 
mitigating actions across the areas of non-compliance identified with a particular focus on the stake 
holder/ tenant impact. 

 
Employee y 
Volunteer y 
Members Of The Public/Tennant house 
holds  

y 

Visitors y 

Who Is At Risk 
(tick as appropriate) 

Contractors y 

Other (please specify) 
 
A corresponding tenant impact assessment is being undertaken to 
determine prioritised risk actions 
 
This risk assessment will then be reviewed as part f a workshop 
with other partners to determine the most reasonable and 
proportionate actions 

 
 
 
 
Risk Identified  Hazards Identified  Outcome & injury  

P
age 71



  2 of 14 

Electrical risk- 1386 Risk assessments to 
domestic properties. 39 out of the 51 
communal area electrical checks had not been 
completed. 

EICR’s not completed 
Electrocution 
Fire  
Electrical Burns 

 
Death 
Death or Serious injury   
Minor or serious injury 

Legionella- 541 legionella actions outstanding  Legionella outbreak Serious illness or death 
Loss of water supply  

Fire- 259 FRA actions to complete  Fire Serious injury or Death 
Asbestos – Asbestos registers to be 
completed. 

Exposure to asbestos Respiratory disease 
Contamination of property  

 
Examine each of the hazards involved in the task and note down any preventative or safety measures you already have in place. 

 
 

Control Measures Already In Place to Address Above Hazards Likelihood Severity Risk Rating 
Electric  

1. Undertake EICR’s on all voids and mutual exchanges  
2. Undertake EICR’s to planned Kitchen and Bathrooms  
3. Undertake EICR’s on Communal areas  
4. Diagnostic and triage at the first point of contact through our in-house call contact 

centre  
5. Repairs policy that prioritises Total loss of power 24hrs partial loss of power 5 

working days unsafe power, lighting socket or electrical fitting 24 hours.TBC 
Repairs Policy 

6. Any defects C1,C2,C3 identified from the EICR’s are rectified  
7.  We encourage active reporting of defects from residents as well as cases of 

injury.    
8. Stock condition survey being carried out currently at 31.15% completion with a 

final completion date of December 2024 with current decency levels at 6.32%. All 
cat 1 hazards identified within the stock condition survey including electrics are 
referred for repairs. Of the 31.15% 7 properties failed for electric and assumption 

 
4 

 
4 

 
16 

P
age 72

https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/housing_docs/Repairs_policy_document.pdf
https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/housing_docs/Repairs_policy_document.pdf


  3 of 14 

could be that there would be <30 across the stock which would be a decent 
homes failure.  

9. Smoke detection in most dwellings 
Legionella  
 

1. Legionella risk assessments carried out by specialist contractor. 
2. 100% of risk assessments completed subject to reconciliation exercise (25 Blocks)  
3. Monthly sampling being carried out by specialist contractor including on the 5 blocks 

originally missed June 2024. 
 

 
 
3 

 
 
4 

 
 
12 

Fire  
1. 100% of FRA’s completed subject to reconciliation exercise (73 blocks with seen risk 

assessments 77 identified block subject too validation.  
2. Sprinklers fitted to all high rise including Eringden  
3. Smoke detection in most dwellings 
4. Scheme managers/ resident support officer on site at all sheltered schemes/ 

Eringden   
5. completing agreed risk management arrangements. 
6. Cleaners should report notifiable hazards i.e rubbish on landings. 
7. Tenancy management team undertake estate inspections across communal areas  
8. Fire alarm testing and emergency light testing carried out. 
9. Permits to work process in place with contractors. 
10. Already work with Staffordshire fire and rescue to provide community support at 

public events. 
11. Sprinklers added to evidence complimentary fire control   
12. FAQs/Leaflets advising on good housekeeping (closing doors, not leaving 

rubbish etc) 
13. Waking watch increase – cleaners to share inspection sheets 

 
2 

 
4 

 
8 

P
age 73



  4 of 14 

14. Increased testing of fire alarms, sprinklers, communal lighting Increased 
testing of fire alarms, sprinklers, communal lighting. 

15. Doors to communal flats checked for compliance 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Asbestos 
 

1. Asbestos re-inspection programme.  
2. We have a data set by address including a range of asbestos related files with log on 

access to Equans (5 logons) Wates (2 logons) and ancillary staff  
3. Some availability of asbestos flags on job tickets  
4. All repairs related contracts procured require a contractor statement around 

asbestos.  
5. Refurbishment surveys take place prior to planned works and void works. 
6. There is a process in place to supply contractors with asbestos information on 

planned works 
 

 
 
 
 
 
2 

 
 
 
 
 
4 

 
 
 
 
 
8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 74



  5 of 14 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Further Action Needed to Decrease Risks Person 
Responsible 

Date 
Required 

Date 
Implemented 

Likelihood Severity Risk Rating 

Electrical  
1. Write to all residents advising them of a 

programme of works and providing contact 
details in case of an emergency. 

2. Using the tenant data profile remedial 
works in terms of vulnerability.  

3. At sign up on void, mutual exchanges and 
planned works issue FAQ’s on tenant top 
tips on managing health and safety. 
   
 

 

Mark Barlow 30/11/24 To be 
determined 

4 4 16 

P
age 75



  6 of 14 

Legionella  
 

1. Improve diagnostic of potential 
legionella risk through the repairs 
contact centre eg hot water through 
cold water taps.   

2. Provide details to tenants on good 
water hygiene practises eg top tips and 
leaflets   

Jason Lobley 30/11/24 To be 
determined 

4 4 16 

Fire  
1. Provide details to tenants on fire safety  
2. Provide details on how to test smoke 

alarms  
3. To meet with Staffordshire fire and rescue 

to agree community support linked to the 
safe and well checks.   

 

Barry Curtis 30/11/24 To be 
determined 

4 4 16 

P
age 76



  7 of 14 

Asbestos 
 

1. Provide tenant leaflet on top tips on 
decoration. 

2. Increase awareness and diagnostic with 
contact centre  

3. Inform the contractor to refure to the 
asbestos Surveys pending the asbestos 
register. 

4. Head of service to refresh risk 
assessments and onsite requirements 
ahead of training for premises managers.  

 

Martin Harper 30/11/24 To be 
determined 

4 4 16 

       
       

 
Date 7/8/24 

17/9/24 
Assessor Signature  

Martin Harper 
 
Reviews 
(If there are no changes then the assessment should just be signed. However if anything changes a new assessment must be completed) 

1st Reassessment Date 30/9/24 Assessor Signature  
2nd Reassessment Date 15/12/24 Assessor Signature  

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 77



  8 of 14 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Part 1 – Details  
What Policy/ Procedure/ 
Strategy/Project/Service is 
being assessed? 

Housing Asset Compliance 

Date Conducted 
 

September 2024 

Name of Lead Officer and 
Service Area 

Martin Harper 

Commissioning Team 
(if applicable) 

 

Director Responsible for  
project/service area 

Tina Mustafa 

Who are the main 
stakeholders 

Tenants, Leaseholders, Residents  

Describe what consultation 
has been undertaken.  
Who was involved and 
what was the outcome 

External Consultants supporting Asset Compliance 
Review, Trueman Change, Staffordshire Fire and 
Rescue 

Outline the wider research 
that has taken place (E.G. 

Reviewed other providers who have asset replated 
compliance issues & reviewed RSH reports 

P
age 78



  9 of 14 

commissioners, partners, 
other providers etc) 

A decision to review or 
change a service 
 

 

A 
Strategy/Policy/Procedure 
 
 

 

What are you assessing? 
Indicate with an ‘x’ which 
applies 
 

A function, service or 
project 
 

x 

New 
 

 
Existing 
 

 
Being reviewed 
 

x 

What kind of assessment 
is it?  Indicate with an ‘x’ 
which applies 
 

Being reviewed as a 
result of budget 
constraints / End of 
Contract 

 

 
 
Part 2 – Summary of Assessment  
Give a summary of your proposal and set out the aims/ objectives/ purposes/ 
and outcomes of the area you are impact assessing. 
 

P
age 79



  10 of 14 

The Health & Safety tenant/resident impact assessment (attached ) as been 
prepared based on property/person centric data.  The improvement plan to 
drive down remedial actions is the ultimate resolution – this is a time limited 
H&S risk mitigation plan whilst that is undertaken 
 
 
Who will be affected and how? 
 
There is no-one group particularly impacted – the remedial actions are split 
across a full range of property and person centric demographics 
 
 
 
Are there any other functions, policies or services linked to this impact 
assessment? 
 
Yes    No  x 
 
If you answered ‘Yes’, please indicate what they are? 
 
 
 

 
 
Part 3 – Impact on the Community  
Thinking about each of the Areas below, does or could the Policy 
function, or service have a direct impact on them? 
 

P
age 80



  11 of 14 

Impact Area Yes No Reason (provide brief 
explanation ) 

Age 
 

 x 

Disability  x 
Gender Reassignment  x 
Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

 x 

Pregnancy & Maternity  x 
Race  x 
Religion or belief  x 
Sexual orientation  x 
Sex  x 
Gypsy/Travelling 
Community 

 x 

Those with 
caring/dependent 
responsibilities  

 x 

Those having an offending 
past 

 x 

Children  x 
Vulnerable Adults  x 
Families  x 
Those who are homeless  x 
Those on low income  x 

The attached risk assessment 
has identified the property 
archetypes and identified the 
likely household composition.  
No-one group is 
disadvantaged and the health 
and safety risk mitigation 
factors will support all groups. 

P
age 81



  12 of 14 

Those with drug or alcohol 
problems 

 x 

Those with mental health 
issues 

 x 

Those with physical health 
issues 

 x 

Social inclusion 
Please include refugees 
and asylum seekers,  

 x 

Social inclusion: Armed 
Forces 
The Armed Forces 
Covenant is a pledge that 
together we acknowledge 
and understand that those 
who have served in the 
armed forces, and their 
families, should be treated 
with fairness and respect 
and any impact should be 
considered 

 x 

Health and Wellbeing 
 

 x 

Climate Change   x 
 
Part 4 – Risk Assessment 
From evidence given from previous question, please detail what 
measures or changes will be put in place to mitigate adverse 
implications. this includes climate change considerations 

P
age 82



  13 of 14 

 
This is the section in which to please outline any actions to mitigate 
negative or enhance positive impacts in terms of economic, 
environmental or wider societal considerations, and actions to review 
and monitor the overall impact of the change accordingly. 
Impact Area 
 

Details of the 
Impact 

Action to reduce risk 

Eg:  Families Families no longer 
supported which 
may lead to a 
reduced standard 
of living & 
subsequent health 
issues 

Signposting to other services.  
Look to external funding 
opportunities.  

   
   

P
age 83



Section 2 Health & Safety Arrangements 
Appendix 1 Task Risk Assessment Form 

Issue No 1: November 2018 
Review Date: November 2020 

Page 14 of 14 

Part 5 - Action Plan and Review  
 
Detail in the plan below, actions that you have identified in your Community Impact Assessment, which will eliminate discrimination, advance 
equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations. 
 
If you are unable to eliminate or reduce negative impact on any of the impact areas, you should explain why 
 
Impact (positive or 
negative) identified 

Action Person(s) 
responsible 

Target date Required outcome 

 
 

    

 
The actions within the 
related tenant impact 
assessment will be 
kept under review by 
the Health & Safety 
Lead and SFARS  

  
Martin Harper 

 
End of March 
2025 

 
Risks mitigated from 
outstanding compliance 
remedial actions 

 
 

    

 
 

    

 
Date of Review (If applicable) ……Monthly via Health & safety review meeitngs………………………………………….. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Guidance and form updated July 2023 following CMT approval. 
 

P
age 84



Housing and Homelessness Advisory Board 
 
 

Tuesday, 1 October 2024 
 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Homelessness and Planning / 
Assistant Director - Neighbourhoods 

 
 

Update on the Tenants' Conference 2024 
 
 
Exempt Information 
None 
 
 
Purpose 
 
To update the board on the success of the Tenants’ Conference which took place on 
Monday 16th September 2024 at the Assembly Rooms and what actions are to follow 
as a result. 
 
 
Recommendations 
 
It is recommended that the Board endorse the next steps action plan and timetable 
set out in the report below.  
 

Executive Summary 
 

Tamworth Borough Council were proud to host its Tenants & Leaseholders 
Conference 2024 at the Assembly Rooms in Tamworth on Monday 16th September 
2024, from 12 noon to 3:30pm. It was a full house with over 70 tenants and 
leaseholders in attendance. 
 
Tenants and leaseholders came from all over Tamworth to attend the conference. 
Some used free transport to and from the venue provided by the Council. This meant 
those who are unable to drive could be given the chance to go.  
 
With the Regulator of Social Housing’s new approach to consumer regulation which 
came into force from 1st April 2024, the aims of this year’s tenant conference were to 
put a spotlight on these regulatory changes and was a good start to rebuilding trust, 
improving tenant-landlord relationship, whilst continuing to putting tenants are the 
heart of the housing services we provide. 
 
Background 
 
The days agenda included: 

• Welcome from Tina Mustafa, Assistant Director Neighbourhoods 

• An opening presentation from the Council’s Chief Executive, Stephen Gabriel 

Page 85



• Introduction to Tenant Consultative Group Chair, Iris Clements and tenant 
involvement video 

• 2 Key Guest Speakers:  

o Yvonne Davis, Housing Regulator Expert who provided an update on 
Regulator of Social Housing new consumer standards 

o Linda Moir, former customer care expert for Richard Brandson shared 
insight into the importance of good customer service 

• Celebrating our Tenants & Leaseholders Voice presentation from Tina 
Mustafa, Assistant Director for Neighbourhoods 

• Closing presentation from the Council’s Leader Carol Dean and Portfolio 
Holder for Housing, Homelessness and Planning, Ben Clarke 

• Question & answer time for tenants and leaseholders 

• Exhibition Information time with services across housing and external partners 
including repairs, income team, customer services, supported & sheltered 
housing, neighbourhood impact, police, fire service, Heart of Tamworth, CIC 
and more…. 

The full presentations and tenants’ involvement video shown during the conference 
are available on the following links below: 

S:\Housing and Health Directorate\Housing\Board - tenants conference 2024\Tenant 
Conference 16 September 2024 final.pptx 

S:\Housing and Health Directorate\Housing\Board - tenants conference 2024\Update 
on Consumer Regulation Yvonne Davies Slides.pptx 

S:\Housing and Health Directorate\Housing\Board - tenants conference 2024\Linda 
Slides Tamworth 2024 V2.pptx 

S:\Housing and Health Directorate\Housing\Board - tenants conference 2024\Tenant 
Conference Celebrating our Tenant Leaseholder Voice 160924.pptx 

S:\Housing and Health Directorate\Housing\Board - tenants conference 2024\Tenant 
Conference - Final.pptx 

 
Each tenant and leaseholder had a free raffle ticket and a take home goodie bag 
which includes free donated gifts.  4 prizes included £30 gift voucher for Asda and 
one grand prize of a Samsung tablet. 

Set out below is a summary of some of the questions and feedback were received 
from the tenants and leaseholders during the conference, which were answered by a 
range of Council Officers including the Chief Executive, Assistant Director for 
Neighbourhoods, Director for Communities and the Leader of the Council. 

 

 

 

Page 86

file:///S:/Housing%20and%20Health%20Directorate/Housing/Board%20-%20tenants%20conference%202024/Tenant%20Conference%2016%20September%202024%20final.pptx
file:///S:/Housing%20and%20Health%20Directorate/Housing/Board%20-%20tenants%20conference%202024/Tenant%20Conference%2016%20September%202024%20final.pptx
file:///S:/Housing%20and%20Health%20Directorate/Housing/Board%20-%20tenants%20conference%202024/Update%20on%20Consumer%20Regulation%20Yvonne%20Davies%20Slides.pptx
file:///S:/Housing%20and%20Health%20Directorate/Housing/Board%20-%20tenants%20conference%202024/Update%20on%20Consumer%20Regulation%20Yvonne%20Davies%20Slides.pptx
file:///S:/Housing%20and%20Health%20Directorate/Housing/Board%20-%20tenants%20conference%202024/Linda%20Slides%20Tamworth%202024%20V2.pptx
file:///S:/Housing%20and%20Health%20Directorate/Housing/Board%20-%20tenants%20conference%202024/Linda%20Slides%20Tamworth%202024%20V2.pptx
file:///S:/Housing%20and%20Health%20Directorate/Housing/Board%20-%20tenants%20conference%202024/Tenant%20Conference%20Celebrating%20our%20Tenant%20Leaseholder%20Voice%20160924.pptx
file:///S:/Housing%20and%20Health%20Directorate/Housing/Board%20-%20tenants%20conference%202024/Tenant%20Conference%20Celebrating%20our%20Tenant%20Leaseholder%20Voice%20160924.pptx
file:///S:/Housing%20and%20Health%20Directorate/Housing/Board%20-%20tenants%20conference%202024/Tenant%20Conference%20-%20Final.pptx
file:///S:/Housing%20and%20Health%20Directorate/Housing/Board%20-%20tenants%20conference%202024/Tenant%20Conference%20-%20Final.pptx


 

Summary of tenant & leaseholder questions 

“How much did this conference all cost?” 

“Are you going to open a reception area at Marmion House?” 

“Will you consider energy saving measures for high rise households” 

“I am partially deaf and accessing the council the best” 

“We can’t afford to pay the high-rise service charges within the time scales given” 

“We are still experiencing anti-social behaviour where we live” 

“The conference was interest and informative, but can we have more content 
specific to leaseholder” 

Next Steps Action Plan & Timetable 

Subject to approval, listed below is what will happen next following this year’s 
conference. 

1. Thank You Video to all tenants & leaseholders 

As a way of thanking tenants, leaseholders and partner agencies for attending the 
tenants’ conference and to provide those who could not attend the opportunity to see 
what went on, Council Officers are now preparing a short video which will include a 
wide range of photos taken throughout the conference (with consent from all 
participants). The video will also include details of a Tenant Consultation Roadshow 
event which is coming soon  `Consultation on the Tenant Involvement & Consultation 
Strategy 2025-2030`. 

The thank you video will appear on the Council’s website along the presentations and 
tenant involvement video shown during the conference for all tenants, leaseholders, 
members, staff and partners to be able to access. The video will also be shared with 
staff, members and external partner too. 

2. Communication Plan  

The Council will publish a news article on the success of the tenants’ conference 
2024 on the Council’s website, tenants open house magazine, member zone, social 
media, tenants’ portal, press release, tenant group updates, staff newsletter etc. 

3. Tenant Consultation Roadshow coming soon 

The Council will be undertaking consultation with groups of tenants from across 
Tamworth with the aim of co-producing is new 5 year `Tenant Involvement and 
Consultation Strategy 2025-2030`.  The final draft strategy will be presented to 
Cabinet for approval in February 2025. 

Council Officers are currently preparing the roadshow programme timetable which 
will take place throughout November 2024 and will include visits to sheltered housing 
schemes for older persons, supported housing schemes for younger persons, high-

Page 87



rise living residents’ groups, Eringden for general needs living, and all the existing 
tenant groups. 

4. Planning the next tenant & leaseholder conference 

Starting in summer 2025, Council Officers will commence plans for preparing for the 
next tenant and leaseholder conference and will take into consideration the feedback 
we received during this year’s conference from tenants and leaseholders: 

• Having a conference later at night to accommodate those who work during 
the day in addition to one during the day 

• Have more content/presentation specific to leaseholders 
• Hold bi-annual conferences due to the cost and time involved 

 

Action Plan Timetable 

 All final plans for the next tenant and leaseholder conference will be subject to the 
normal Council approvals. 

1.Tenants Conference thank you 
video – on council’s website along 
with links to conference presentations.  
Video will also be shared with 
members, staff and external partners 
too that joined the conference. 

October 2024 

2.Communication Plan – sharing the 
success of the tenants’ conference 
2024 

October 2024 

3.Consultation Roadshow - with 
groups of tenants from across 
Tamworth with the aim of co-producing 
is new 5 year `Tenant Involvement and 
Consultation Strategy 2025-2030`.   

November 2025 

4.Planning for next tenants & 
leaseholder conference  

Summer 2025 

5.Seek the normal Council 
approvals - for final plans for next 
tenant and leaseholder conference 

Autumn 2025 

 
 
Report Author 
Mrs Lee Birch – Head of Housing Management & Neighbourhood Resilience 
 
 

Page 88



 

 

 
 
 
My Ref: SG/SW 
Your Ref:  
 
Sent via email 
 
12th August 2024 
 
 
Dear Rachael and James,  
 
Re: Self-Referral Tamworth – Social Housing (Regulation) Act 2023 
 
Thank you for meeting with our team on Friday 2nd August 2024 to discuss Tamworth’s position in 
relation to meeting the Regulatory consumer standards. The contents of this letter and summary 
presentation have been fully shared with our Executive Leadership Team, including the Leader, 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet colleagues.   
 
At this meeting our team informed you of our intention to self-refer under 2.6 of the Transparency, 
Influence and Accountability Standard with specific reference to the consumer standard(s) outcomes 
and requirements identified in the summary presentation attached (Appendix One).  
 
Also, at this meeting, you clarified the self-referral process including approximate timescales.  We 
understand that rather than a published regulatory breach, you now prefer to determine whether 
Tamworth is meeting the requirements and publish a consumer grading following an investigatory 
period.  Our Improvement Plan, which remains under review, is contained within the attached 
information and has been informed by contact with peers previously inspected, your latest consumer 
report and published judgements.  Our understanding of your internal protocols would suggest the 
timeline illustrated below, to which we have based our internal planning.    
 

 
 
At the meeting on 2nd August 2024 you requested further information in relation to the wider Safety & 
Quality Consumer Standard - specifically damp and mould, stock decency levels as well as an outline 
Improvement Plan and a risk assessment including an initial assessment of the tenant impact.  For 
ease of reference the detail in the summary presentation provides more context in relation to those 
specific areas requested (slide summary overleaf: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Slide 2 Areas not meeting the requirements 
Slide 3 Tenant Voice & Putting Tenants at the Heart 
Slide 4 Social Housing Regulatory Programme 
Slide 5-8 Housing Asset Compliance Improvement Plan 

Self Referral 090824 Referrals & regulatory 
Enquiries (15 days) 300824

RSH Engagement Team 
(10)days) 130928

RSH meeting  to discuss
Scheduled for 200924 

Stephen Gabriel
Chief Executive

 
Please ask for: Stephen Gabriel

Direct dial: 01827 709453
E-mail: stephen-gabriel@tamworth.gov.uk

Page 89



 

 

Slide 9 Stock Condition & Decency 
Slide 10 Damp & Mould 
Slide 11   Health & safety Risk Assessment & Tenant Impact Assessment 

 
    
As we discussed, Tamworth is self-referring not because of any incident, regulatory intervention or 
external influence, but because it has identified through its Social Housing Regulatory Programme 
that there are areas not meeting the standards.  This is consistent with the Council’s desire for 
transparency.  Following an external self-assessment, ongoing peer support and ultimately an 
external review of its Health & Safety Asset Compliance, the Council has concluded that there is 
insufficient progress against the improvement planning areas.  The decision to self-refer now arises 
from agreement of the finalised Health & Safety Asset review on 24th July 2024.  The Leadership 
Board, which includes the Executive Leadership Team and political leadership, subsequently met on 
31st July 2024 and agreed to self-refer mobilising resources necessary to achieve rapid improvement 
progress. 
 
Since this decision Tamworth has re-directed staffing resources.  The current Assistant Director 
Neighbourhoods is now seconded to drive compliance right across the Social Housing Regulatory 
Plan, as well as assuming line management responsibility for the asset compliance team.  In addition, 
the Head of Repairs has also been seconded to focus on housing asset compliance.  Whilst the next 
few months are focused on rectifying the critical areas identified, the Council will also review root 
causes as part of its Improvement Plan. 
 
Progress to Date 
 
Despite what have been unprecedented community challenges, the Council has maintained its focus 
in responding to the risks arising from self-referral (Appendix One contains further detail) and within 
the last two weeks has: 
 
• Reviewed every action outstanding in relation to Legionella and Fire Risk tasks – shifting the 

majority into progress  
• Completed a damp and mould self-assessment with a workshop planned with tenants to develop 

an action plan 
• Reviewed the Housing Asset Compliance Improvement Plan, agreeing with tenants’ critical 

actions and SMART timescales from now until December 2024 
• Risk assessed and developed proposals to discuss with tenants supporting those specific 

households impacted 
 
 
 
 
 
 
• Agreed with the Housing Ombudsman an extension for submission of the completed Self-

assessment for the Complaint Handling Code 
 
Tenants at our Heart 
 
Tamworth is looking forward to it’s Tenant Conference on 16th September 2024.  This will see 
consultation launched on its draft tenant inclusivity and engagement plan.  Council Housing Services, 

Page 90

https://www.tamworth.gov.uk/council-housing-tenants-invited-join-2024-conference


 

 

stakeholders and partners will also exhibit at the conference to capture feedback on how the service 
can improve.  The Regulator is welcome to observe this as it will start with a tenant led talking heads 
video aimed at evidencing the Council’s commitment to co-creation of sustainable housing solutions 
going forward.  Details are in the presentation (Appendix One). 
 
Social Housing Regulatory Programme 
 
In the attached presentation, the programme and project highlights are provided and the Council is 
currently preparing a Service Summary reflecting it’s position statement across all consumer 
standards.  It is envisaged this will be reported to Cabinet on 10th October 2024 and will be available 
for us to share as part of the ongoing dialogue. 
 
Communication Strategy 
 
The Council intends to ensure transparency in relation to it’s decision to self-refer and is developing a 
communications plan with tenants and other stakeholders.     
 
We noted that you would prefer to jointly lead on any wider communications so have taken the 
opportunity to move an update on the Social Housing Regulatory Programme on the Council’s 
Forward Plan from 29th August 2024 to 10th October 2024 so that this can be debated at 
September’s Homelessness & Housing Advisory Board. Our Portfolio Holder is committed to 
meeting with you to inform the Cabinet report; I have therefore asked that a Teams meeting planner 
is offered for Friday 20th September 2024, so we can update the Board and subsequently Cabinet.  
Of course, we can change this to accommodate all parties and we expect you will be in touch as 
required for further information in any event. 
 
We look forward to working with you and together we will give tenants in Tamworth the assurance it 
needs on the quality of it’s housing services. 
 
Yours sincerely     Yours sincerely 

 
Stephen Gabriel    Councillor Ben Clarke 
Chief Executive      Portfolio Holder Homelessness, Housing & Planning 
 
 
 

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



Cabinet 
 
 

Thursday, 10 October 2024 
 

Corporate Scrutiny Committee – Wednesday, 9 October 2024 
 
 

Report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Homelessness and Planning / Executive 
Director Communities 

 
 

Update on Strategic Leasehold Review 
 
 
Exempt Information 
Not exempt. 
 
 
Purpose 
This report provides an update on the work done by Campbell Tickell in relation to Leasehold 
Service Charges and sets out a series of recommendations in relation to that report. 
 
Recommendations 
 
It is recommended that: 

1. Cabinet notes the recommendations set out in the Campbell Tickell report at 
Appendix 1 and specifically endorses the recommendations from that report for 
implementation. Details on the specific recommendations contained within the report 
are set out in the Executive Summary. (see report at Appendix 1) 

2. Cabinet endorses and reaffirms the recovery of sums related to Leasehold Service 
charge invoices in accordance with the Corporate Credit Policy (previously approved 
by Cabinet on 31st August 2023) 

3. Cabinet approves the development of a service improvement plan that considers the 
timing and resources required to implement the recommendations set out at point 1 
above. (see draft at Appendix 2) 

4. Cabinet approves the commencement of remedial works in line with the surveys that 
have been completed, this would include commencement of consultations and the 
issuing of invoices upon completion. 

5. Cabinet approves the use of Campbell Tickell to assist in the development of the 
Leaseholder Policy [recommendation (d) in Campbell Tickell report] 

6. Cabinet approves the updated s20 notices produced by Campbell Tickell 
[recommendation (a) in Campbell Tickell report] (see Appendix 3) 

7. Cabinet approves the responses to matters referred to Cabinet as set out in the table 
below. 

8. Cabinet approves taking a test case through the First Tier Tribunal to test 
assumptions in relation to component renewal. This will be subject to identifying one 
or more Leaseholders who are willing to participate in such a test case and is likely 
to take place once further engagement mechanisms are in place with Leaseholders.. 

 

Executive Summary 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 9



On 21st August 2023 it was agreed at Full Council that the Council would undertake a detailed 
strategic review of Leaseholder Service Charges; this came about following a number of 
concerns raised by Leaseholders and Elected Members in relation to some planned roofing 
renewals predominantly in the Gillway area of Tamworth. Consultation letters had been issued 
under the Section 20 [s20] process; the scale and cost of the works combined with the sterile, 
legal nature of the consultation letters raised concerns amongst Leaseholders and Elected 
Members as such the proposals were suspended and a strategic review ordered. 
 
To assist in delivery of the strategic review the Portfolio Holder for Housing, Homelessness 
and Planning at the time established a Leaseholder Working Group consisting of Elected 
Members and Leaseholder representatives. The Group working with Officers commissioned a 
consultant through a competitive tendering process to undertake a strategic review of the 
Leaseholder Service charge process, this included a view on the legal aspects of the lease, 
the procurement process and the consultation process as well as a detailed technical 
assessment of the roofs that were at the centre of the original challenge by Leaseholders. The 
report produced by Campbell Tickell can be found at Appendix 1. The draft report has been 
presented to and considered by the Leaseholder Working Group. 
 
During discussions with Leaseholders and Campbell Tickell the question was raised as to 
whether the current leases allowed for major works.This question appears to centre on whether 
or not renewal at the end of a component's life falls under the definition of a repair and, whilst 
a previous First Tier Tribunal case appears to support the fact that current leases do allow for 
renewal of major components at end of life it is felt that there may be benefit in taking a test 
case through the First Tier Tribunal to confirm the position. 
 
Contained within the report from Campbell Tickell are a number of specific recommendations: 
- 
 
Report 
Item 

Recommendation -  Action Required Progress to Date 

a Revise Section 20 notices so they 
are more customer friendly, and 
the explanation of works goes 
beyond statutory requirements. 

S.20 Notices drafted 
by Cambell Tickell 
and included at 
Appendix 3 

Documents drafted 
and included in 
report for approval. 

b Ensure Section 20 notices are 
supported by additional information 
that explains the Section 20 
process and answers questions 
commonly asked by leaseholders 

S.20 Notices drafted 
by Cambell Tickell 
and included at 
Appendix 3 

Documents drafted 
and included in 
report for approval. 

c Update website to provide 
leaseholders with more detail on 
the Section 20 procedure. 

Develop 
Leaseholder policy 
and share via 
website. 

To be actioned 

d Draft Section 20 policy and 
procedures to ensure Section 20 
notices are completed and 
administered correctly and that 
officer responsibilities are defined 
for each stage of the process. 
Procedures should include some 
informal consultation with 
leaseholders before entering the 
formal Section 20 process. 

Appoint Campbell 
Tickell to work with 
the Council to 
develop policy. 

To be actioned. 

e The Council should clearly save 
the original, dated Section 20 
consultation notices to ensure no 
ambiguity when subsequent 
queries are raised. 

New notices will be 
properly recorded 
upon issue. 

To be actioned once 
new notices are 
issued. 

Page 94



f Notices should be addressed to 
the leaseholder at the 
correspondence address. 

Where Leaseholders 
have given an 
alternative address 
for correspondence 
this is already being 
used. 

To be actioned once 
new notices are 
issued. 
 

g Develop a Repayment Options 
policy that gives leaseholders 
repayment options for the cost of 
major works 

AD Finance, s151 
Officer, ED 
Communities and 
Portfolio Holder to 
consider options. 

To be considerd 
See table below 

h Review all lease agreements to 
ensure officers understand the 
terms of each, in particular the 
extent of the demise of the 
property. 

In-house team to be 
developed, training 
and support to be 
provided. 

To be actioned 

i Improve knowledge of leasehold 
legislation and practice across 
TBC by engaging a retained 
leasehold consultant to advise on 
leasehold matters. 

The services of an 
external Leasehold 
specialist to be 
procured. 
 
Policy to be regularly 
reviewed and 
updated. 

To be actioned. 

j 
Modernise lease agreements 
terms in order that leases issued 
moving forwards:  

Review RTB lease for 
new RTB sales to 
include renewal and 
improvement clauses 
and the ability to collect 
a management fee to 
deliver the leasehold 
service.  

Review approach to 
lease extensions for 
existing leaseholders. 
Consider offering 
leaseholders a non-
statutory route to lease 
extensions with 
incentives such as 
reduced premium 
costs, legal costs etc. if 
renewal, improvement 
and management fee 
clauses are included in 
the new lease.  

Explore whether legally 
it would be possible to 
introduce a 
management fee to 
existing leaseholders 
to pay for the delivery 

Right to buy team to 
work with external 
legal support to 
review lease 
documents. 
 
Leasehold Policy to 
include provisions 
for lease extensions 
and lease 
amendments. 
 
External legal 
support to be 
commissioned to 
advise on the 
inclusion of 
management 
charges and the 
possible routes to 
achieving this. 
Further approvals for 
this to be sought 
from Cabinet once 
legal advice is 
available. 

To be actioned 

Page 95



of the leasehold 
service. There is case 
law (Brent v Hamilton 
2006) that suggests 
that this may be 
possible. 

k Update the stock condition survey 
information with the outcomes of 
the roof inspections to provide a 
current data base to inform 
investment. 

Carry out stock 
condition survey and 
update records. 

Stock condition 
survey is underway 
and due to be 
complete before the 
current financial 
year-end. 

l Use repairs, void and other recent 
feedback information to update the 
stock condition data base with 
regular operational information. 

Carry out stock 
condition survey and 
update records. 

Stock condition 
survey is underway 
and due to be 
complete before 
year-end. 

m Undertake on site sample 
inspections to validate the life 
cycle projections to inform the 
investment programme for 
imminent planned or major works 

Carry out stock 
condition survey and 
update records. 

Stock condition 
survey is underway 
and due to be 
complete before 
year-end. 

n Identify the specific blocks that are 
likely to be in the following year’s 
programme and identify the 
number of leaseholders likely to be 
affected to assist with both 
consultation and cost and income 
analysis 

Carry out stock 
condition survey and 
update records. 
 
Condition survey will 
identify future 
programmes. 
 
Condition survey will 
drive MTFS and 
HRA business plan 

Stock condition 
survey is underway 
and due to be 
complete before 
year-end. 
 
Information to be 
used to develop 
programmes. 

o Prepare 5 year and 30 year 
investment plans to clarify potential 
investment decisions and financial 
impact. 

Carry out stock 
condition survey and 
update records. 
Condition survey will 
identify future 
programmes. 
 
Condition survey will 
drive MTFS and 
HRA business plan 

Stock condition 
survey is underway 
and due to be 
complete before 
year-end. 
 
Information to be 
used to develop 
programmes. 

p Publish indicative 5 year 
investment plans annually and 
ensure leaseholders are aware 
when works are planned for their 
building. 

Indicative 
programmes to be 
published based on 
condition survey 
data, HRA Business 
plan and MTFS 
budget setting. 

To be actioned 

q Following the recommendations in 
the roof report, assess the costs 
for each block for the remedial 
works to prolong the life of the roof 
for approximately 10 years and 
ensure this provides value in 
delaying roof works. 

Costings for works 
identified from 
survey to be costed 
by the planned 
works contractor 
using the SOR and 
existing contracts. 

Costs obtained from 
Wates 

Page 96



r On an ‘asset by asset’ basis, either 
undertake the remedial works or 
replace the roof. 

Conduct options 
appraisal to 
compare repair 
against renewal. 

See table below 

s If remedial works are progressed, 
TBC should consider if other works 
can be undertaken while the 
access equipment is in place. 

Work with contractor 
and condition data to 
identify additional 
works. 

To be actioned 

t Advise residents of the proposed 
remedial works programme and 
likely timescale for roof renewal. 

Commence s20 
stage 3 consultation 
process once 
approved by 
Cabinet. 

To be actioned upon 
approval by Cabinet 
to re-commence 
consultation 
process. 

u Review the condition of the roofs in 
five to seven years to assess the 
point renewal will be needed. 

Future surveys to be 
diarised but also 
expected to be 
inspected as part of 
the Councils 
ongoing stock 
condition updates. 

To be actioned 

 
The items marked as ‘To be actioned’ in the table above will form the basis of the ‘Service 
Improvement Plan’. The draft ‘Service Improvement Plan’ is attached at Appendix 2 and sets 
out proposed timescales for implementation. 
 
Matters referred to Cabinet by Scrutiny Committee 
The following recommendations were made to Cabinet by the Corporate scrutiny Committee. 
 

Recommendation Comment/Action 
1. Strongly recommended that Cabinet 

adopt the recommendations of the 
report produced by Campbell Tickell.  

This is addressed in the body of the report 
and tables above. 

2. This Council further develops a 
Service Improvement Plan, and this 
comes back to the Corporate 
Scrutiny Committee. 

An initial draft of the outline actions is 
included at Appendix 2. 

3. The Portfolio Holder and Officers 
devise an appropriate goodwill 
payment using industry standards as 
a small gesture from this Council to 
these residents in light of the 
inconvenience and worry caused 
during this period and seek approval 
from this Scrutiny Committee for 
this. 

There doesn’t appear to be any specific 
basis for the payment of any sort of 
compensatory or ‘goodwill’ payment to 
Leaseholders in respect of this matter. With 
this in mind compensation should not be 
given. 
 
Should any Leaseholder be able to 
demonstrate actual losses arising from the 
consultation process consideration can be 
given to compensation in line with the 
Housing Compensation Policy. 

4. That Cabinet consider the adoption 
of a plain English crystal mark or 
similar alternative across the board 
for all Tamworth Borough Council 
communications. 

This item has not been considered as part 
of this report as it relates to a corporate 
approach to communications and is not 
specific to the Leaseholder review. 

 
 
Options Considered 
 

Page 97



Immediate Renewal vs Remedial Works [recommendation (r) from Campbell Tickell 
report] 
 
The options considered in response to recommendation (r) are set out below, the 
recommendation being taken forwards is the partial renewal based on the survey work 
competed by Cambell Tickell [item 3 in table] 
 

Option Advantages Risks 
1. Complete all works 

as planned and 
recover costs in full 
from Leaseholders 

• Works are completed 
in a planned manner 
making use of the 
existing contracts. 

• Avoids the risk of 
component failure 
and the associated 
costs and disruption. 

• Compliant with 
legislation and 
Council satisfies its 
obligations to collect 
monies due. 

• Costs are set at the 
current market rate 
and not affected by 
future inflation. 

• Likely to be unpopular 
with Leaseholders. 

• Exact remaining life of 
component won’t be fully 
known until failure 
occurs. 

• Likely to be challenged 
through the First Tier 
Tribunal and outcome 
not guaranteed for either 
party. 

2. Renew roofs and 
any other 
component upon 
Failure 

• Full life of 
component achieved. 

• Unlikely to be 
challenged by 
Leaseholders as 
failure has already 
occurred. 

• Council should be 
able to forego the 
normal statutory 
consultation process 
as work would be 
completed as a 
matter of urgency. 

• Assuming the underlying 
renewal costs remain the 
same there will be 
additional costs 
associated with the 
emergency works to 
make the property 
watertight on the report 
of a failure. 

• Works will need to be 
planned, statutory 
notices served, labour 
and materials put in place 
which will leave residents 
in a situation where the 
roof over their home is 
not wind and watertight. 

• There may be 
consequential damage to 
the property arising from 
water ingress and 
residents may suffer 
consequential losses. 

Page 98



• There may be insurance 
implications associated 
with consequential losses 
as the Council may be 
seen to have failed to 
properly maintain the 
fabric of the building. This 
is likely to be exacerbated 
by the fact that the 
components were known 
to be at or beyond end-
of-life. 

• Leaseholders may be 
adversely affected by 
inflation. 

3. Partial renewal and 
ongoing repair 
based on third-
party surveys. 

• Full life of 
component achieved. 

• Unlikely to be 
challenged by 
Leaseholders as 
failure has already 
occurred and 
remedial works are 
supported by the 
third-party surveys. 

• There may be 
consequential damage to 
the property arising from 
water ingress and 
residents may suffer 
consequential losses. 

• There may be insurance 
implications associated 
with consequential losses 
as the Council may be 
seen to have failed to 
properly maintain the 
fabric of the building. This 
is likely to be exacerbated 
by the fact that the 
components were known 
to be at or beyond end-
of-life. 

• At some point the 
ongoing cost of repair has 
the potential to exceed 
the cost of renewal and 
given the age of the 
element's replacement it 
still the likely end 
outcome. 

• Any remedial works done 
now may end up being 
replaced when the roof is 
renewed. 

Page 99



• Leaseholders may be 
adversely affected by 
inflation. 

4. Renew roof and 
discount for 
estimated 
remaining life. 

• Works are completed 
in a planned manner 
making use of the 
existing contracts. 

• Avoids the risk of 
component failure 
and the associated 
costs and disruption. 

• Costs are set at the 
current market rate 
and not affected by 
future inflation. 

• Leaseholders benefit 
from cost reduction 
linked to remaining 
life of roof. 

• Although the cost to the 
Leaseholder would be 
reduced it is still likely to 
be unpopular. 

• Risk of challenge at First 
Tier Tribunal. 

• Life expectancy of roof 
already expired so 
difficult to justify 
reduction. 

• When repair costs are 
factored in the overall 
cost reduction is likely to 
be limited. 

 
Test Case 
 
The preferred option is to take a test case through the First Tier Tribunal (option 2 from the 
table below) subject to being able to identify one or more Leaseholders willing to participate 
in the process. It is anticipated that this process will only take place once there is a more 
developed approach to engagement with Leaseholders as a group. This engagement work 
will form part of the overall Service Improvement Plan. 
 

Option Advantages Risks 
1. Do nothing • No upfront costs for 

a project that may 
not happen for some 
time. 

• No wasted costs if 
legislation changes. 

• Lacks certainty for all 
parties. 

• More likely to be 
challenged on a case-by-
case basis when notices 
are served. 

• Goes against Campbell 
Tickell recommendations. 

2. Commence test 
case now before 
works are needed. 

• The position on 
whether the Council 
can charge for roof 
renewals will be 
clear. Both the 
Council and 
Leaseholders will 
understand the 
position and can plan 
for the process when 

• Leaseholders could still 
choose to challenge on a 
case-by-case basis 

• Legislation could change 
between test case and 
carrying out planned 
works. 

• Cost involved in taking 
test case. Consultation 
would still be required 

Page 100



the time comes to 
carry out renewals. 

• Can be done in a 
controlled manner in 
full consultation with 
Leaseholders. 

• Outcome will be 
known before a roof 
is in need of full 
renewal. 

• Less likely to be 
challenged on a case-
by-case basis. 

when actual works are 
planned. 

 

 
Staffing Resources 
 
The resources required to deliver services to Leaseholders will be considered and developed 
further as part of the overall Service Improvement Plan development. 
 

Option Advantages Risks 
1. Do nothing – apply 

collection as we do 
now. 

• No additional costs 
to Leaseholders or 
the HRA. 

• Doesn’t address the 
recommendations 
around enhanced levels 
of engagement. 

• Other than the improved 
letters engagement with 
Leaseholders would 
remain unchanged. 

2. Engage additional 
resource to support 
Leaseholder 
Engagement 
Activities 

• Addresses the 
concerns raised over 
the level of 
engagement. 

• Has the ability to 
improve the service 
further through a 
Leaseholder Forum. 

• Leaseholders 
become more 
engaged in the 
overall process. 

• Customer focussed. 
• Dedicated resource 

able to keep up with 
changing legislation. 

• Costs will have to be met 
from the HRA budget as 
leases don’t allow for 
management fees. 

• Leaseholder forum may 
not integrate with other 
engagement forums. 

3. Engage with 
Leaseholders 
through the wider 

• Addresses the 
concerns raised over 

• Costs will have to be met 
from the HRA budget as 

Page 101



Tenant Engagement 
Resource 

the level of 
engagement. 

• Has the ability to 
improve the service 
further through a 
Leaseholder Forum. 

• Leaseholders 
become more 
engaged in the 
overall process. 

• Customer focussed. 
• Links with other 

engagement forums. 

leases don’t allow for 
management fees. 

• May not have the 
expertise to keep up with 
legislative changes. 

 

 
 
Payment options [recommendation (g) from Campbell Tickell report) 
 
It is the view of the s151 Officer that option 1 from the table is the only option that complies 
with the current Corporate Credit Policy and as such is the option that should be adopted. 
This option still allows for consideration to be given to individual circumstances and for 
payment plans to be implemented where appropriate. 
 

Option Advantages Risks 
1. Do nothing – apply 

collection as we do 
now. 
 
Leaseholders would 
have to make 
payment from 
personal savings, 
private borrowing 
or through an 
agreed payment 
plan with the 
Council based on 
personal 
circumstances. 

• Compliant with 
current terms of the 
lease. 

• Compliant with 
current financial 
regulations. 

• Limited amount of 
administration for 
either party if paid in 
full. 

• Doesn’t require 
Leaseholder to take 
out loan or security 
in any way. 

• Compliant with 
existing Corporate 
Credit Policy. 

• Many Leaseholders are 
on fixed income and have 
limited/no savings and 
cannot afford to pay. 

• Invasive and 
administratively onerous 
process when setting up 
payment plans. 

• Leaseholders may end up 
with multiple payment 
plans. 

• With no interest being 
paid the term of any 
repayment plan 
negatively affects its 
value to the Council. 

2. Service Charge Loan 
– Leaseholders 
would be 
encouraged to  
apply for a loan 
through Homes 
England – there are 
certain criteria 

• Compliant with 
current terms of the 
lease. 

• Compliant with 
current financial 
regulations. 

• Accessible to all 
Leaseholders once 

• May not be affordable to 
Leaseholders on a fixed 
income. 

• Some Leaseholders may 
not be comfortable 
taking out a loan. 

• Not clear if product is 
Shari’ah Compliant. 

Page 102



surrounding the 
loan. The loan 
carries interest and 
is secured against 
the leasehold 
interest. 

minimum service 
charge value is met. 

• Limited impact on 
staffing resources. 

• Likely to be 
compliant with 
current Corporate 
Credit Policy 

 

• May lead to repossession 
claims if loans are unpaid. 

• Risk of non-payment and 
additional financial 
burden on HRA 

• Additional interest costs 
payable by the 
leaseholder 

• Minimum contribution 
required by leaseholder 

3. Deferred payment 
by way of a 
discretionary loan 
provided by the 
Council. This would 
operate similar to 
the current 
arrangements for 
payment plans but 
would be set out in 
a more formal 
manner. 

• Compliant with 
current terms of the 
lease. 

• Compliant with 
current financial 
regulations. 

 

• May not be affordable to 
Leaseholders on a fixed 
income. 

• Some Leaseholders may 
not be comfortable 
taking out a loan. 

• Would need a clear 
process that deals with 
Leaseholders failing to 
pay. 

• Additional interest costs 
payable by the 
leaseholder 

• May lead to repossession 
claims if loans are unpaid. 

• Will have implications on 
staffing resources 
involved in setting up and 
monitoring payment 
plans. 

• Not compliant with 
current Corporate Credit 
Policy. 

• Risk of non-payment and 
additional financial 
burden on HRA 

• Risk of significant amount 
of bad debt which would 
have to be written off. 

4. Voluntary charge on 
the property. The 
leaseholder would 
agree to a charge 
being placed on the 
property, this would 

• Compliant with 
current terms of the 
lease. 

• Compliant with 
current financial 
regulations although 
this is currently only 

• May not be approved by 
other lenders or those 
with existing charges on 
the property. 

• Leaseholders could end 
up with multiple charges 

Page 103



be repaid when the 
property is sold. 

actioned as a last 
resort and in limited 
circumstances. 

• Limits immediate 
financial risk to 
Leaseholder. 

• Limited impact on 
staffing resources. 

on the property over a 
period of time. 

• The Council may not 
realise the income for 
many years additional 
financial burden on the 
HRA. 

• Leaseholders may be 
concerned that there is 
no value in their Lease 
due to the scale of 
charges. 

• Charges may impact on 
the ability of a 
Leaseholder to sell and 
move. 

• Leaseholders would need 
to take independent 
financial advice and there 
is a cost to implementing 
a charging order. 

5. Prompt payment 
discount. A discount 
(percentage to be 
agreed) would be 
applied to any 
payments in full 
made within the 
required 28 days. 
This would 
encourage 
Leaseholders to 
make use of savings 
to pay for charges. 

• May be attractive to 
Leaseholders who 
have savings and 
have the ability to 
pay immediately. 

• Council recovers 
money quickly. 

• Limited impact on 
staffing resources. 

• Many Leaseholders will 
be unable to pay larger 
bills early and will be 
unable to take 
advantage. 

• Not compliant with 
financial regulations. 

• HRA budget would have 
to make up the 
difference. 

• Not compliant with 
current Corporate Credit 
Policy. 

• Sets precedent for other 
types of income 
collection which would 
not be sustainable. 

 
 
Resource Implications 
 
Works – the works element, assuming that costs are recoverable under the lease, should be 
cost neutral as any monies expended by the Council would be recovered from the Leaseholder. 
It is important that the correct legal process is followed in order to allow the Council to recover 
costs. No specific works budget it identified for Leaseholder works because of the full recovery 
process. There are however risks where recovery is not possible, and debts remain 
outstanding; in such cases consideration needs to be given to placing a charge on the property 
which at least allows for deferred recovery. 

Page 104



Staffing – it is anticipated that an increase in the levels of consultation beyond the legal 
minimum will require the Council to engage additional staffing resources to support. The exact 
nature of the engagement will be set out in the policy document and will be costed as part of 
that process. As leases do not allow for a management charge to be applied it is anticipated 
that that any additional staffing resource will have to be funded through the HRA. 
Consultancy – It is anticipated that from time-to-time external consultancy support will be 
required in order to review and update policies and documentation in line with changes to 
legislation. It is expected that this would be no more than £2,500 per annum (adjusted for 
inflation) and in the absence of the ability to apply a management charge under the lease 
would have to be met from General Fund budgets. 
HRA Business Plan – It is assumed that the costs associated with works will be fully 
recoverable from Leaseholders and will have no overall impact on the HRA budgets. It should 
however be noted that the HRA budget will have assumed that roof replacements will take 
place on an agreed life cycle basis and that costs will have been allocated based on a roof 
renewal. Where extensive remedial works are carried out these will be in addition to the 
renewal costs already built into to the HRA Business Plan, the outcome of this will mean an 
increased cost to the HRA Business Plan. (i.e. the HRA Business Plan will have assumed a 
renewal cost of £36,000 in the current 30-year cycle, with remedial works being done 
immediately and a renewal in 7-10 years this could mean a cost of £44,000 in the current 30-
year cycle) 
Recovery of charges - recovery of charges is managed through the Revenues Team in 
Finance. Various options have been identified by Campbell Tickell for the recovery of charges 
some options have more impact on the resources needed than others. Typically, those options 
where some sort of deferred payment and/or loan scheme is suggested will have a greater 
impact on staffing resources. The prompt discount option would have a detrimental effect on 
the HRA budget and those options with some sort of deferred payment without interest would 
reduce the value of the charges collected due to the effects of inflation. 
Deferred payments and loan schemes will increase the risk of non-payment and bad debts 
and increase the financial burden on the HRA. It is the view of the s151 Officer that offering a 
prompt payment discount may also be ultra vires as it would mean that the HRA is in effect 
subsidising non-HRA costs.  The current position of the Council remains that, leaseholders 
who have the means to pay their charges on a timely basis, do so, and for those who are 
struggling, arrangements for payment are made on an individual basis, which are affordable 
for the leaseholder but also aim to maximise income collection for the Council 
Inflation – On the assumption that both budgets and costs increase annually in line with CPI 
the effects of inflation have been ignored. Leaseholders intending on using savings or 
Leaseholders whose income does not increase in line with inflation may feel the impact of the 
inflationary increases associated with delaying the renewal works. 
 
Legal/Risk Implications Background 
 
Previous legal advice has set out clearly that where the Council is entitled to collect service 
charges it must do so. 
 
The new suite of letters produced by Campbell Tickell are both legally compliant and customer 
friendly. 
 
Campbell Tickell has confirmed that the procurement process and the early stages of 
Leaseholder consultation were legally compliant. 
 
It is known that changes to legislation relating to Leaseholder is due and that consideration will 
need to be given to this in any future policy development. 
 
Equalities Implications 
There are no new Equalities impacts arising from this report. A Community Impact Assessment 
can be found at Appendix 4. 
  
 
Environment and Sustainability Implications (including climate change) 

Page 105



None specifically arising from this report. Impact Assessments would apply to specific 
programmes of work which due to the varied nature wull have varying degrees of impact. 
 
 
Background Information 
23rd February 2023 – Corporate Scrutiny Committee make recommendations to Cabinet 
around Leasehold Service Charges. 
21st August 2023 – Full Council agrees to Strategic Review of Leasehold Service Charges 
 
Report Author 
Paul Weston – Assistant Director Assets 
 
 
Appendices 
Appendix 1 – Campbell Tickell Report 
Appendix 2 – Draft Improvement Plan 
Appendix 3 – Suite of letters produced by Cambell Tickell 
Appendix 4 – Impact Assessment 

Page 106



Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 1 of 24

Section 20 Review

 

DRAFT

Page 107



CONTENTS 

1. Executive Summary                                                             .........................................................  3  

2. The Commission                                                                   ...............................................................  4  

3. Recommendations                                                                ............................................................  5  

4. Leaseholder Consultation                                                    ................................................  7  

5. Tamworth Investment Planning                                         .....................................  13  

6. Works Procurement & Contract                                        ....................................  14  

7. Contract Prices & Management                                        ....................................  15  

8. Roof Inspections                                                                ............................................................  18  

9. Conclusions                                                                        ....................................................................  20  

Appendix 1: Repayment Options Policy                                 .............................  22  

Appendix 2: Roof Condition Report                                       ...................................  22  

Appendix 3: Schedule of Roof Survey data                            ........................  22  

   

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 2 of 24

Page 108



1. Executive Summary

1.1 Campbell Tickell (CT) has been commissioned by Tamworth Borough Council 
(TBC) to review its engagement with leaseholders and its method for 
planning investment works.

1.2 The Section 20 notices for the Qualifying Long-Term Agreement (QLTA) for 
planned works met the basic statutory requirements but were not customer 
focused, confusing in places and did not adopt sector good practice. The 
notices were not supported by general information about the Section 20 
process, frequently asked questions, repayment options etc and there was 
no informal consultation with leaseholders prior to entering the formal 
Section 20 process. Although the QLTA process is capable of improvement 
we are satisfied that the approach taken was compliant with statue and 
regulation.

1.3 There is evidence that Section 20 processes have improved, particularly 
since the First-Tier Tribunal hearing in March 2022 but there is more to do to 
support the improvement of leasehold knowledge and good practice across 
TBC. 

1.4 The lease terms date back to the 1980s so do not include the clauses 
commonly seen in modern leases i.e. improvement and renewal clauses, 
ability to charge a management fee. This is problematic in terms of TBC 
recovering its costs of management and maintenance from leaseholders. CT 
considers that the cost of roof renewals is recoverable from leaseholders, 
although we do recommend that determination is obtained from the First- 
tier Tribunal to confirm this, prior to carrying out any roof renewals. 

1.5 TBC needs to clarify payment options for leaseholders.

1.6 Tamworth’s investment planning follows typical sector approaches, based 
on stock condition information. Tamworth needs to update its stock 
condition data information and support the survey data with on-site 
inspections prior to commissioning specific works. It also needs to prepare 
headline plans for the medium and long term to clarify its investment 
strategy and enable residents to be aware of the probable timing of works 
impacting on them. 

1.7 The Qualifying Long Term Agreement is again a typical practice in the sector 
and can be a cost effective vehicle to simplify work commissioning and 
management. It can be confusing for leaseholders and Tamworth should 
provide more explanation to assist resident understanding.

1.8 The QLTA procurement exercise is a competitive open market tender 
exercise and this mechanism together with the contract pricing structure 
should provide value. The specific management of programming and 
contracts will be key to delivering the best value available under the QLTA.

1.9 As part of the commission we inspected the roofs of a number of two storey 
blocks. The roof inspections suggest that the roof tiles will last 10 years, 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 3 of 24

Page 109



that a programme of remedial works will postpone replacement and that 
this approach this should provide value for the council and leaseholders. The 
council does need to consider future commitments and whether earlier 
replacement is necessary to align with its financial capacity and other 
priorities. Early replacement will require leaseholders to be offered a 
discount to reflect premature renewal. This approach is used to enable 
building owners to manage the peaks and troughs of expenditure.

1.10 Major works billable to leaseholders have no significant impact on long-term 
financial plans because the costs incurred are fully recovered. Depending on 
the payment options offered, recovery should predominantly be within 12 
months. The balance between recoverable and non-recoverable (i.e. 
tenanted properties) major works costs should be considered when 
assessing the financial aspects of planned works programmes.

2. The Commission

2.1 Campbell Tickell (CT) has been commissioned by Tamworth Borough Council 
(TBC) to review its engagement with leaseholders and its method for 
planning investment works.

2.2 The commission requires an assessment of the council’s approach to

 Leaseholder engagement

 Its Section 20 processes

 The FTT ruling from March 2022 

 Planning its investment in its stock

 The procurement of its contractor to deliver its investment programme

 The method of charging leaseholders and payment options

 The financial impact of its methods on leaseholders and its business 
plan 

2.3 It also requires a specific review of a selected group of properties and the 
necessity for replacing the roofs.

2.4 The CT analysis has been undertaken by a combination of document review 
and meetings with councillors, leaseholders and key staff preparing and 
delivering investment works. CT has also surveyed a selection of roofs 
chosen by TBC to ascertain condition and life expectancy. 

2.5 CT has also attended the Leaseholder Collaborative Working Group as part 
of its interaction with councillors and leaseholders to explain public sector 
procurement legislation and typical sector practices around investment, 
consultation and resident engagement.

2.6 CT thanks TBC officers and residents for their assistance in providing 
information and access. 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 4 of 24

Page 110



3. Recommendations

3.1 Following its analysis, CT has the following recommendations: 

a) Revise Section 20 notices so they are more customer friendly and the 
explanation of works goes beyond statutory requirements.

b) Ensure Section 20 notices are supported by additional information 
that explains the Section 20 process and answers questions 
commonly asked by leaseholders.

c) Update website to provide leaseholders with more detail on the 
Section 20 procedure.

d) Draft Section 20 policy and procedures to ensure Section 20 notices 
are completed and administered correctly and that officer 
responsibilities are defined for each stage of the process. Procedures 
should include some informal consultation with leaseholders before 
entering the formal Section 20 process.

e) TBC should clearly save the original, dated Section 20 consultation 
notices to ensure no ambiguity when subsequent queries are raised. 

f) Notices should be addressed to the leaseholder at the 
correspondence address.

g) Develop a Repayment Options policy that gives leaseholders 
repayment options for the cost of major works.

h) Review all lease agreements to ensure officers understand the terms 
of each, in particular the extent of the demise of the property.

i) Improve knowledge of leasehold legislation and practice across TBC 
by engaging a retained leasehold consultant to advise on leasehold 
matters.

j) Modernise lease agreements terms in order that leases issued moving 
forwards:

 Review RTB lease for new RTB sales to include renewal and 
improvement clauses and the ability to collect a management fee 
to deliver the leasehold service.

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 5 of 24

Page 111



 Review approach to lease extensions for existing leaseholders. 
Consider offering leaseholders a non-statutory route to lease 
extensions with incentives such as reduced premium costs, legal 
costs etc. if renewal, improvement and management fee clauses 
are included in the new lease.

 Explore whether legally it would be possible to introduce a 
management fee to existing leaseholders to pay for the delivery 
of the leasehold service. There is case law (Brent v Hamilton 
2006) that suggests that this may be possible.

k) Update the stock condition survey information with the outcomes of 
the roof inspections to provide a current data base to inform 
investment. 

l) Use repairs, void and other recent feedback information to update the 
stock condition data base with regular operational information.

m) Undertake on site sample inspections to validate the life cycle 
projections to inform the investment programme for imminent 
planned or major works

n) Identify the specific blocks that are likely to be in the following year’s 
programme and identify the number of leaseholders likely to be 
affected to assist with both consultation and cost and income analysis 

o) Prepare 5 year and 30 year investment plans to clarify potential 
investment decisions and financial impact. 

p) Publish indicative 5 year investment plans annually and ensure 
leaseholders are aware when works are planned for their building.

q) Following the recommendations in the roof report, assess the costs 
for each block for the remedial works to prolong the life of the roof for 
approximately 10 years and ensure this provides value in delaying 
roof works.

r) On an ‘asset by asset’ basis, either undertake the remedial works or 
replace the roof.

s) If remedial works are progressed, TBC should consider if other works 
can be undertaken while the access equipment is in place.

t) Advise residents of the proposed remedial works programme and 
likely timescale for roof renewal.

u) Review the condition of the roofs in five to seven years to assess the 
point renewal will be needed. 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 6 of 24

Page 112



4. Leaseholder Consultation

Background

4.1 Tamworth BC (TBC) manages around 4200 homes, of which 428 of the flats 
are held on a leasehold basis. TBC believes that around 193 (45 per cent) of 
these flats are sublet by the leaseholder as it holds correspondence 
addresses for these properties.

4.2 The leaseholder consultation concerned the replacement of roofs to 21 
buildings, comprising four flats in each building. One of the buildings 
contains four leasehold properties, while the others are mixed tenure. In 
total forty-four leaseholders are impacted by the consultation regarding the 
roof replacement.

Section 20 Consultation

4.3 The Section 20 consultation with leaseholders concerned TBC putting in 
place a Qualifying Long-Term Agreement (QLTA) for long term planned 
contract works to its housing stock. A QLTA is an agreement a landlord 
enters into with an independent contractor for a period of more than 12 
months. The landlord must consult on the QLTA with all leaseholders if the 
amount any one leaseholder must pay would be more than £100 in any one 
year. This includes VAT and any associated management or administrative 
costs which arise specifically from the proposed agreement. If the landlord 
does not consult leaseholders, they will not be able to collect service 
charges over £100 per leaseholder, per year. TBC asked interested 
contractors to quote rates that would apply to any works undertaken under 
the QLTA. The contract was awarded to Wates in January 2020 to commence 
on 1st April 2020 for all the properties owned by TBC for a 10-year period. 
The total value of the contract was estimated at £43m.

4.4 There is no written Section 20 procedure but CT was provided with copies of 
the template Section 20 consultation notices that related to the QLTA for the 
long term planned contract works. Officers were unable to provide us with 
the original copies that were sent to leaseholders. 

4.5 Due to the value of the contract, it had to be advertised publicly and the 
leaseholders did not have the right to nominate a contractor for this 
contract. The contract was covered by Schedule 2 of the 2003 service 
charge regulations and TBC was required to serve consultation notices on 
leaseholders:

 Before the tender was offered (the pre-tender stage), TBC was required 
to serve a ‘Notice of Intention’.

 During the tender (the tender stage), TBC was required to serve 
‘Notice of its Proposals’ (estimates) 

4.6 Our observations on the notices provided are as follows:

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 7 of 24

Page 113



 For both the Notice of Intention and Notice of Proposals, CT was 
advised by officers that they were unable to provide exact dates of 
issue for the Notices since whenever the copy notices are shared they 
update with the current date. We understand that this is the reason 
why when, in November 2019, leaseholders requested copies of the 
Section 20 notices originally issued in April and June 2019, the copies 
provided were dated November 2019. When Section 20 notices are 
issued to leaseholders, original copies should always be saved as PDF 
files so that they cannot be altered and the date of issue is clear.

 The notices meet the basic statutory requirements but they are poorly 
drafted and confusing in places. For instance, the different stages of 
the process are shown incorrectly on the notices. The notice of 
intention advises that the planned works being tendered for include 
‘improvements’ and ‘upgrading’, the cost of which cannot be recovered 
under the terms of the leases we have reviewed. This fact is not made 
clear for leaseholders in the notice.

 We understand from leaseholders that all notices were sent only to the 
leasehold property and addressed to the ‘owner’ rather than the 
name(s) of the leaseholder(s). It is good practice to ensure that notices 
are addressed to the leaseholder by name and also sent to their 
correspondence address to ensure effective communication, 
particularly given the high proportion of leaseholders that sublet. We 
understand that TBC now has a process in place to ensure that a 
database of leaseholder correspondence addresses is maintained, 
where these are known. These are now used for all communications 
with leaseholders i.e. Section 20 notices, service charge invoices etc.

 The notice of intention gave leaseholders the statutory 30 days to 
make observations but it is good practice to allow 35 days to allow 
delivery time for the notice.

 The notice of proposals does not include an example of the pricing 
schedule from the chosen contractor, which it is good practice to 
include. There is no mention in the notice of when and where a copy of 
the proposal can be inspected by leaseholders, although we 
understand from a leaseholder that it was possible to inspect the 
detailed proposal at TBC’s offices.

 The notices do not give information on the next steps once the QLTA is 
in place. For instance, there is no mention that a further notice will be 
issued when TBC intends to carry out works under the contract. No 
general explanatory information on the Section 20 process, frequently 
asked questions etc. was given to leaseholders.

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 8 of 24

Page 114



Lease Agreements

4.7 We reviewed the template lease agreement issued by TBC. We are advised 
by officers that all leaseholders have the same lease agreement, although 
this seems unlikely given that leases will have been issued at various times 
since the 1980s. It was beyond the scope of this commission to check all or 
a sample of lease wordings.

4.8 The lease provided to us requires the leaseholders to pay TBC a service 
charge for keeping their building in repair. The amounts actually spent on 
repairs must be certified by TBC. Bills are then issued to leaseholders, which 
the lease requires are paid by the leaseholder within 28 days. We 
understand from the Senior Revenues Income Assistant that some leases 
require payment within 14 days of a demand being issued.

4.9 The lease agreement only places a responsibility on TBC to ‘repair’ the 
building and does not refer to TBC being able to charge for the ‘renewal’ or 
‘improvement’ of building components. The definition of a ‘renewal’ is not 
the same as a ‘improvement’ and in our view if a component, such as a roof 
has reached the end of its life, it would be uneconomic and ineffective for 
TBC to continue to carry out repairs to the roof and a renewal would be 
required, the cost of which can be recovered from the leaseholders. Where 
future roof renewals are required we recommend that TBC makes an 
application for a determination at the First-tier Tribunal (FTT) that it is 
reasonable to renew the roof given the cost of historic patch repairs, the 
cost of scaffolding and evidence from independent surveyors. TBC should 
also meet with the impacted leaseholders to communicate its plans and 
explain the reasoning behind the necessary replacement of the roof. 
Hopefully this consultation will get the leaseholders ‘on board’ with TBC’s 
approach, they will not present a counter argument to the FTT and the case 
can be heard ‘on paper’ rather than in person, which will reduce the 
timescales.

4.10 The lease agreement does not specifically allow TBC to charge leaseholders 
a management fee to cover its costs of delivering day to day building 
management services. We understand that TBC has received legal advice 
that it could charge a management fee to cover its cost of managing major 
works. 

4.11 Although the lease does not allow TBC to charge leaseholders a 
management fee for the cost of delivering day to day building management 
costs, there is case law that suggests that it may still be possible to charge 
a fee. In Brent v Hamilton (2006) Court of Appeal, it was held that the 
landlord was entitled to imply a term requiring leaseholders to pay a fair 
proportion of management costs to avoid subsidisation from Brent BC’s 
general housing revenue account funds. 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 9 of 24

Page 115



Impact Assessment - HRA Business Plan

4.12 To date, it is understood that TBC has not fully recovered the costs of works 
on leaseholder homes, either through design or accident.  The QLTA gives 
TBC the opportunity to recover the costs of works to leaseholders 
properties, assuming that the Sc 20 consultation is appropriately executed.  
This should improve the levels of recovery and ensure that both residents 
and leaseholders are treated equitably when planning asset investment. CT 
has set out leaseholder payment options in ###.  There will be a delay 
between expenditure and cost recovery depending on the option(s) chosen. 
In most cases, recovery will be within 12 months which should not have a 
significant financial impact. TBC will know of any applications for extended 
payment and can factor this into financial planning. It should also allow for a 
small percentage of non-recovery. It needs to consider the cost balance of 
the legal costs of recovery against the sums owed. It is always a good plan 
to demonstrate recovery will be pursued to encourage all to pay and not 
assume that default is an option. 

4.13 Premature renewal will have an adverse impact on the Business Plan as it 
will reduce the recovery from leaseholders. This is because costs passed on 
to leaseholders will need to be discounted to take in to account the roof’s 
early renewal. This shortfall will need to be funded through tenant rents, 
which will reduce the volume of works that can be funded and will result in 
other works being deferred. If overall recovery improves by closer 
management of Sc 20 notification and seeking appropriate payments from 
leaseholders, this could be financially positive by removing the inherent 
subsidy applied to date. 

4.14 It may be expedient for works to be undertaken before the end of the 
component life if this is clearly to avoid repairs cost that will otherwise result 
or if TBC’s financial capacity requires works to be brought forward to smooth 
expenditure. If smoothing costs, it is preferable to bring forward works that 
do not affect leaseholders to avoid the potential under recovery.

4.15 At the moment, TBC officers have not been able to provide projected 
expenditure for the next few years and leaseholder impact. Overall, CT 
advises that leaseholder charges and recovery should have no impact on 
the 30 year financial plan as, if consultation is correct, TBC should fully 
recover any expenditure.

Impact Assessment Leaseholders 

4.16 The principal financial issue for leaseholders at the moment is the lack of 
notice of works and costs. The QLTA is general and not sufficiently specific 
to enable an individual lessee to know the likely timing and cost of works to 
their home. Leaseholders only become aware of the timing of works and 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 10 of 24

Page 116



likely costs when served with a Qualifying Works Notice prior to the works 
being executed, when TBC provides an estimate of costs. This does not 
enable them to plan their finances to meet the costs levied. 

4.17 If TBC prepares longer term forward investment plans and identifies the 
leaseholders likely to be impacted, this will enable earlier notice to be 
provided.

4.18 The notification of the QLTA should enable TBC to fully recover the costs of 
works to leaseholder premises. CT understands that this has not always 
happened previously and this improvement in procedures will result in 
additional costs for leaseholders, albeit correctly levied. CT has set out 
payment options for TBC to consider.

4.19 CT has explained in Section 7 below that the costs to leaseholders may be 
higher than they may expect using a small local contractor and the reasons 
for this. However, TBC is bound by public sector procurement legislation 
which, while providing competition to deliver value, may not provide the 
cheapest solution, but should provide a good quality solution that adheres 
to current regulations, with warranties.  

4.20 CT is recommending that remedial works be undertaken to prolong the lives 
of the roofs. Leaseholders will be liable for their due proportion of these 
costs. While these will be in addition to the future roof renewal costs, if the 
works delay renewal by seven to ten years they should provide value and 
enable leaseholders to budget for the future renewal costs. 

4.21 Timely renewal of key components is important to maintain the 
leaseholders’ asset value. As stated in the survey report, most of the 
surveyed buildings have minor works required which should not significantly 
affect the estimated value of the homes. Similarly, if the costs of roof 
renewal are not anticipated for ten years, rather than imminently, this 
should have a positive impact on asset value.

Statement of Means

4.22 Invoices for leaseholder service charges are raised by the Business Support 
team and the Revenues and Income team is responsible for ensuring that 
the invoices are paid. Invoices must be paid within 28 or 14 days, depending 
on the terms of the individual lease agreement. If any leaseholder cannot 
pay within this timescale, they are permitted to pay in instalments over (up 
to) 12 months with no interest.

4.23 If leaseholders advise that they cannot pay within 12 months and are unable 
to obtain a personal loan etc, they are sent a ‘Statement of Means’ form to 
complete. This form is used to detail the leaseholder’s income and 
expenditure so that TBC can understand the financial situation of the 
leaseholder and what they might be able to pay. We were advised that few 
‘Statement of Means’ forms are returned by leaseholders, but where they 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 11 of 24

Page 117



are, it is at the Revenue Manager’s discretion to offer other repayment 
options. There is no TBC guidance on where alternative repayment options 
might be offered or a methodology for officers to follow to make these 
decisions. In view of this, there is a danger that individual leaseholders may 
not all receive the same advice/options.  

4.24 There is no written advice available for leaseholders i.e. in a leaflet or on the 
website etc. regarding repayment options, should leaseholders be unable to 
pay invoices when due.

4.25 As part of this review we have drafted a Repayment Options Policy for 
consideration. Please see Appendix 1. 

Review of FTT Ruling

4.26 In March 2022 TBC was challenged by some leaseholders at the FTT on their 
liability to pay for works to replace the roof to their buildings and the 
reasonableness of the proposed charge for these works. The key outcomes 
from the Tribunal hearing were:

 The Section 20 notice for Qualifying Works under a QLTA was flawed as 
it did not invite leaseholders to make observations on the qualifying 
works and did not include TBC’s estimated cost for carrying out these 
works under the QLTA in place. Due to this, TBC sought dispensation 
from Section 20 from the Tribunal, which was granted.

 Leaseholders were concerned that the Notices of Intention for the QLTA 
were only sent to the property address and not to the leaseholder 
correspondence addresses. The notices were also addressed to the 
‘owner’, rather than to the named addressee. Although this approach 
to the service of notices is permitted under the terms of the lease, it is 
good practice to send notices to correspondence addresses and name 
the addressee. We understand that TBC now ensures that a database 
of leaseholder correspondence addresses is maintained and these are 
used when there are any communications with leaseholders.

 The Tribunal had no issue with the cost of the works but held that the 
roof tile covering had been replaced fourteen years too soon, due to 
the remaining life of the roof covering. To acknowledge this, service 
charge costs to the leaseholders were reduced by 14.29 per cent. This 
outcome is reflected in our advice regarding future roof replacement 
works and is discussed in paragraphs 8.6 and 8.7 below.

Knowledge of Leasehold Legislation and Good Practice

4.27 From our review it appears that generally officers have a limited knowledge 
of leasehold legislation and good practice, particularly in respect of 
administration and record keeping. We were provided with examples from 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 12 of 24

Page 118



leaseholders where they had been advised to carry out works themselves to 
building components that were the responsibility of TBC i.e. roof 
replacement and guttering replacement. 

4.28 Officer knowledge of imminent future works was also reported to be lacking. 
One leaseholder reported that when they were purchasing their flat, TBC 
responded to their solicitor’s enquiries regarding works planned in the next 
five years, that works were ‘not applicable’. Three months after they bought 
their flat they were advised by TBC that roof works would be carried out. 
Officers have advised that as budgets are prepared annually, five-year 
predictions are not available. This is standard information that solicitors will 
require as part of a conveyancing transaction so must be made available by 
TBC. If accurate estimates of future works are not provided this may impact 
on the ability of leaseholders to sell their properties and on the ability of 
TBC to recover the cost of future works from leaseholders.

4.29 There is evidence that leasehold practices have improved in recent years, 
particularly since the 2022 FTT hearing. For instance, the introduction of a 
database of leaseholder correspondence addresses and improving Section 
20 notices to ensure that they meet statutory requirements. However, we 
recommend that a retained leasehold consultant is engaged to advise TBC 
officers on leasehold matters, as required.

5. Tamworth Investment Planning

5.1 Tamworth officers have acknowledged that the data used to provide life 
cycle information is aged. The primary source is the Michael Dyson (MD) 
stock condition survey from 2018. A new survey is planned imminently to 
refresh the information. While the use of stock survey data is common 
practice in social landlords, it is typical to keep this data refreshed with 
more regular survey updates. It is usual to survey 20% of the stock each 
year to ensure that all information is within the last five years.

5.2 While the MD stock condition data is not current, it is still likely to be valid in 
most cases to project when items are likely to fail and can still be a valid 
source of information.  

5.3 The use of the life cycle information to plan future investment needs to be 
supplemented with on-site inspections to validate the proposed works. It is 
reasonable to use life cycles as indicators of replacement dates, but they 
will not always work, particularly for components’ with long lives, like roofs.

5.4 The principle of replacing elements just ahead of the lifecycle expiry date is 
sound as it reduces the chance of component failure and resulting repairs. 
This is common practice among social landlords. This has become less 
common in recent years as the financial challenges are leading to a more 
pragmatic approach to only replace/ renew items when essential. This can 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 13 of 24

Page 119



be after items have started to fail. Both approaches have merit but there 
needs to be clarity on the preferred approach to enable this to be explained 
to residents as part of the engagement process. Either process needs to be 
supported with on-site inspections to validate current condition and life 
expectancy and options for remedial works to extend life.

Programme impact on leaseholders 

5.5 Currently there is no consideration of the number of leaseholders impacted 
by specific works programmes. Officers could not advise on the number of 
leaseholders likely to be affected by the 2024/25 programme. While this 
means that priorities are not influenced by the number of leaseholders in 
particular blocks, it also means that the practicality of programme delivery 
is not considered. There are additional consultation stages to execute to 
meet Sc 20 obligations where leaseholders are involved, if the council 
wishes to recover costs. This will delay the start on site date. There will also 
be financial implications arising from the inclusion of leaseholders within 
schemes and the timing of cost recovery. This is covered in 4.12 – 4.15 
above. 

5.6 There needs to be more transparency of future investment plans and clear 
resident involvement in planning. This is a requirement of the new 
Consumer Standards which TBC needs to meet with effect from April 2024.

6. Works Procurement & Contract

6.1 TBC must comply with UK Procurement legislation. This requires a contract 
of this value to be advertised to enable open competition.  The procurement 
legislation is designed to provide open competition and prevent public 
sector organisations offering work to favoured companies. Large contracts 
cannot be broken down into smaller packages to enable them to be under 
the value guidelines. TBC must advertise its major investment contracts to 
ensure fair competition. This will tend to preclude small, local contractors 
competing. 

6.2 TBC has opted to enter into a Qualifying Long Term Agreement for its asset 
investment works on a 5 year plus 5 year basis, to provide a contractor to 
deliver its investment programmes.  This is a common route used in the 
public sector. 

6.3 This route has the advantages of a single procurement exercise to cover 
multiple trades and work streams. It gives the client a single point of contact 
for all works, which should reduce administration, compared to managing 
multiple contractors. The work volumes offered to the contractor should also 
bring economies of scale and a competitive price. The value for money may 
be adversely impacted by the timing and competition for the contract. CT is 
not aware of any adverse factors affecting Tamworth’s procurement.

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 14 of 24

Page 120



6.4 This single point contract also enables the consultation required with 
leaseholders as part of Sc 20 of the Landlord & Tenant Act to be covered for 
a single procurement rather than being undertaken several times for several 
procurements. 

6.5 There are elements of the single procurement which are challenging. The 
high contract value, believed to be in excess of £40m for TBC, significantly 
reduces the number of contractors with the capacity and resources to meet 
the pre-qualification tender criteria. It excludes local SMEs as primary 
contractors, although they may be able to work for the winning bidder 
within a sub-contractor framework. The contract also includes conditions, 
such as the Social Value criteria and reporting criteria, which are likely to 
preclude some contractors from applying, or qualifying if they do apply. It is 
unlikely that any contractor will have the inhouse resource to provide all 
services through directly employed staff so there is inevitably sub-
contracting. This is likely to make the method of delivery, at least in part, a 
management contract, co-ordinating various sub-contractors. This may be 
seen as adding additional management costs. 

6.6 While overall the procurement process tests the market and should give 
good value, it is inevitable that a contractor will have areas of work that it is 
able to deliver more economically than others. This pricing mechanism 
results in a competitive average cost and a levelling of prices across all work 
streams. Some may be more expensive than a trade specific procurement 
and some may be cheaper. 

6.7 Leaseholder consultation on a QLTA precludes the leaseholders from 
nominating contractors as the local contractors likely to be familiar to 
leaseholders will not meet the pre-qualification criteria. The council-wide, 
multi-works nature of the contract can also make it difficult for leaseholders 
to comment on the proposals as the consultation must be very general to 
cover all the work types and many may not be relevant to the individual. 
This complexity can be mitigated with additional explanatory information. 
The inference that CT has gained from attending meetings with leaseholders 
is that the consultation for this QLTA was confusing for leaseholders and 
meant some leaseholders felt unable to comment.

6.8 CT’s comments on the process and leaseholder reaction are covered 
separately in Section 4 – Leaseholder Consultation. 

 

7. Contract Prices & Management

7.1 The procurement exercise tested the market and should result in a 
competitive pricing structure for the full range of works. However, as stated 
in 6.6, by amalgamating a variety of trades into a wide ranging contract, the 
rates offered will be an average across trades and individual trades may be 
more or less competitive than a trade specific procurement as a result.

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 15 of 24

Page 121



7.2 Comparative roof pricing – CT has been advised that leaseholders have 
sought comparative costs from local roofing suppliers who appear to be 
offering much better value than the Wates price. It is often the case that a 
small local trader will apparently offer a more competitive price than the 
one obtained through the Council’s main procurement process. This can be 
for several reasons;

a) It is likely that the local contractor is working to a simpler 
specification than the one required by the council. It is unlikely that 
the leaseholder seeking the price will include all the conditions required 
by the council. This will typically include additional health and safety 
and working condition requirements. The council’s conditions are likely 
to be more stringent than those generally used by small traders for 
materials handling, disposal, working practices, supervision and quality 
control. 

b) The small local contractor will not need to consider for example adding 
social value or having apprenticeship programmes. While these may not 
individually add value to the job, they are an integral part of the 
council’s considerations and the method of operation it expects. These 
add cost.

c) The local contractor will have a simpler set up and lower overheads 
enabling a lower price to be offered. The large contractors need the 
administration to enable them to compete in the procurement market 
for these large contracts. This comes at a cost. The administration will 
probably include more rigorous health and safety requirements, social 
value employees, and more support staff, such as resident liaison.

d) The larger contractor will usually have better reporting mechanisms to 
provide performance information on the contract delivery.  Most large 
public sector contracts will have performance management information 
requirements within the contract. Again, these come at a cost. 

e) A smaller local contractor is more likely to have ad hoc employment 
arrangements for operatives to meet peak demand.  This is a potential 
risk in relation to H&S and delivery practices.

f) A large contractor, such as Wates, should be able to offer insurance 
backed guarantees for the roof renewal which should give leaseholders 
some comfort. This is less likely to be available from a smaller 
contractor. This guarantee also has a cost which will be included in the 
rates.

g) The overarching point is that a price from a small independent 
contractor does not contain many elements included in the price from 
the large contractor. Many small contractors are not able to compete for 
the larger contracts because they can not comply with those 
requirements. Moreover, those extra elements are not unreasonable.

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 16 of 24

Page 122



h) It is more relevant to ask: Has the QLTA been procured, and are its 
terms  in compliance with regulation? Our view is that the answer to 
both questions is: Yes.

7.3 Leaseholders have commented that they have been confused by letters 
from Wates around the extent of works shortly following the contract award. 
This appears to have been sent ahead of the formal contract agreement. 
Officers have not been able to clarify why these letters were sent by Wates. 
It is thought to relate to a previous contract. CT has sought but has not yet 
received clarity on this point.

7.4 The Council needs to set out the specific requirements for works covered 
within the procurement, such as remedial works or roof renewal. Wates will 
then prepare a cost for the works identified. It is important that this 
specification is site appropriate and does not allow the contractor to inflate 
the works and add to the cost. This will be key in estimating the cost of 
remedial works as there are a different sets of works to each roof. This will 
impact on the costs passed to leaseholders. Similarly, actual delivery must 
be closely managed to ensure that any variations from the specification are 
closely managed and costed. 

Inflation

7.5 Officers and leaseholders have both raised the price impact of work now as 
opposed to work in 10 years. TBC has advised that the Wates contract has a 
CPI factor to increase rates. In principle, with this in place spend now or 
spend later should be cost neutral on a Net Present Value basis. Although 
the actual cost will be higher later, if it aligns with inflation and TBC income 
it will be no different in real terms. If rents go up above CPI, TBC may be 
better off to defer based on the current Wates contract. It will impact 
differently for some leaseholders whose income may not align with moves in 
inflation.

7.6 CT considers that the main issue for TBC is its financial capacity. Spending 
will need to be smoothed to deal with peaks and troughs. This will mean 
that some works will be earlier than the life cycle replacement. TBC can plan 
which elements are replaced early. In practice something with a long life, 
such as a roof is less impacted in terms of its condition by a delay of a few 
years rather than something like heating systems and electrics which have 
a shorter life and may benefit from being brought forward. Also, items such 
as boilers and in-dwelling electrics do not have a leaseholder impact and 
there is no requirement to consider a discount for premature renewal. 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 17 of 24

Page 123



8. Roof Inspections 

8.1 TBC identified 39 homes in B78 and B79 post codes. These homes are 
typically four flats, two upstairs and two down, covered by a pitched roof 
with hip ends. The roof is shared although there are separate loft spaces on 
either side of the party wall. CT commissioned its partner surveying 
practice, Faithorn Farrell Timms (FFT), to undertake the roof inspections, 
including the loft space where access was provided.

8.2 Letters were sent to all homes and CT thanks TBC residents for assisting 
with door knocking to secure appointments for roof and loft inspections. We 
were able to gain access to 22 of the properties. The remaining properties 
were surveyed externally.

8.3 The full report is enclosed as Appendix 2 with the detail of each roof and 
recommended remedial works in Appendix 3. The headline position is that 
the existing roof coverings have circa 10 years life left in them. The roof 
coverings have reached the end of their estimated life expectancy, but 
there were no obvious signs of leaks and the roof coverings are in the main 
in good order. Other elements of some of the roofs, such as the sarking felt, 
the fascia’s and soffits have either perished or are in need of replacement. 

Remedial Works

8.4 The tile coverings to the roofs do not appear to need immediate 
replacement (there is one exception to this). Various remedial works have 
been identified to extend the life of the roofs and to provide an estimated 
10 year life. CT recommends that TBC assesses the costs of the remedial 
works to each, using its QLTA, to enable a decision to be made on the value 
of progressing with the remedial works rather than full replacement. Access 
equipment will be needed to undertake roof repairs. TBC should consider if 
other works are appropriate to be undertaken while access is in place.  

Further surveys

8.5 If remedial works are implemented, CT recommends that the roofs are 
inspected again in five to seven years to re assess the roof life and timing of 
renewal.  

Timing of full replacement

8.6 While the roof life can be extended, the council may decide that it is more 
economically beneficial to them to replace all the roofs as part of a single 
wider programme of replacements as opposed to replacing them on a more 
ad-hoc basis. It may be that the council has funding now but cannot 
guarantee future finances or has other works identified in future years that 
will preclude funding roof replacement. The council may therefore feel it is 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 18 of 24

Page 124



beneficial to replace all the roofs sooner. There is also the possible benefit 
that undertaking the works now, will mean they will be completed at a 
cheaper cost than in 10 years time. The relative real time costs will depend 
on inflation and the contract conditions. 

Premature renewal

8.7 If the roofs are replaced imminently, CT recommends that leaseholders 
should be offered a discount to reflect premature renewal of the roofs. The 
size of the discount will depend on the timing but if it is assumed that the 
roofs are renewed now, it is approximately 8 to 10 years ahead of the end of 
life date. Assuming the revised life is 80 years, the eight year early renewal 
is a 10% reduction in the roof life and a 10% discount could be offered. It 
must be remembered that the actual cost of the roof is not reduced and the 
discount will be funded from tenant’s rents. CT would not recommend 
replacing the roofs early as TBC will use rent income to subsidise 
leaseholders rather than waiting to the end of the component lifespan and 
fully recovering all qualifying costs. 

Sarking Felt

8.8 There has been discussion over the function of and need to replace the 
sarking felt as it is in poor condition on many roofs. It is not normal practice 
to retrofit sarking felt, as it would mean stripping the roof off. The felt would 
also end up getting replaced again when the roofs are renewed, which is 
likely significantly ahead of the felt’s life. Sarking felt is not an essential for 
pitched roofs and there will be many older properties without it. If the roof 
covering is in good order and there are no leaks the omission of sarking felt 
is not an issue, as it is basically a secondary measure to prevent any water 
ingress if the roof covering fails. It does prevent wind and dust entering the 
loft space, but its main function is to prevent water ingress. Sarking felt can 
also have a negative impact if it’s not breathable. It can create 
condensation in a loft space during cold spells. The retrofitting of sarking felt 
is likely to be complicated and not cost effective if the roof covering itself is 
not being replaced. It is therefore recommended to only deal with sarking 
felt failure when the roof is replaced in its entirety. 

Proposed Works

8.9 There is likely to be a benefit in undertaking remedial works costing no more 
than several thousand pounds per roof, rather than the estimated renewal 
cost of £40,000. This will extend roof life although the precise life extension 
cannot be guaranteed. It will give leaseholders a prolonged opportunity to 
plan for the expenditure. 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 19 of 24

Page 125



9. Conclusions

9.1 Tamworth Borough Council has followed common practice in the sector to 
seek a multi-works, multi-million pound contract to deliver its investment in 
its housing stock. This type of Qualifying Long Term Agreement (QLTA) 
contract must conform to the procurement regulations, which will usually 
exclude small, local contractors from applying.  The procurement is 
compliant from the evidence CT has seen.

9.2 Although the process is generally compliant, the information passed to 
leaseholders was confusing. The consultation would have benefitted from 
additional explanatory information to make it more relevant.

9.3 TBC’s record keeping has been poor and has on occasion caused confusion 
when supplementary information has been sent to leaseholders with 
incorrect dates.

9.4 TBC would also benefit from having a clear policy on payment options for 
leaseholders. 

9.5 TBC would also benefit from updating its lease conditions and having 
retained specialist advice. 

9.6 Officers acknowledge that stock condition information is aged and it is 
understood that there is a commission in place to rectify this. This does not 
preclude the use of this data to prepare investment plans. TBC’s method of 
using life cycle information and stock data to formulate its investment 
decisions is typical in the sector. 

9.7 The investment plans appear to be over reliant on life cycle information and 
would benefit from on-site surveys to validate proposed investment. 

9.8 Works programme planning and consequent financial planning appears to 
be short-term and is not published making it hard for tenants and 
leaseholders to know when works are planned to their homes. Better 
information needs to be disseminated to residents.

9.9 The QLTA agreement may result in price differences to what leaseholders 
may expect from local contractors, but TBC has followed a typical route and 
there are clear reasons for cost differences as set out in section 7. above.

9.10 The survey of the sample roofs suggest that, with minor remedial works, the 
roofs can expect to last another 10 years. TBC needs to assess the costs of 
these remedial works to validate their medium term value.

9.11 TBC may still wish to replace the roofs ahead of the end of life if this is 
necessary to smooth overall investment. Earlier renewal will result in the 
need to offer leaseholders a discount for premature renewal. TBC may also 
need to seek a determination from the Tribunal to progress the works and 
confirm that the level of discount offered is reasonable.

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 20 of 24

Page 126



9.12 TBC should inspect the loft interiors in five to seven years to check on 
condition and review the roofs life expectancy.

9.13 TBC has clearly tried to comply with legislation in procuring works and 
consulting leaseholders on timing and costing. While generally compliant, 
there is room for improvement in its processes, its investment planning and 
leaseholder consultation in ways we have outlined in the body of this report. 

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 21 of 24

Page 127



Appendix 1: Repayment Options Policy

Attached Separately

Appendix 2: Roof Condition Report

Attached Separately

Appendix 3: Schedule of Roof Survey data

Attached Separately

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 22 of 24

Page 128



Telephone +44 (0)20 8830 6777
Recruitment +44 (0)20 3434 0990

info@campbelltickell.com
www.campbelltickell.com
@CampbellTickel1

Section 20 Review                                                                                             
Page 0 of 24

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



  
 
 

1 
 

 Strategic Leasehold Review – Improvement Plan 

Project: Strategic Leasehold Review 

Lead: Paul Weston Date Complete: September 2024 

Workstream Progress Complete Actions 

Revise Section 20 notices so they are 
more customer friendly, and the 
explanation of works goes beyond 
statutory requirements. 

 COMPLETE 
• S.20 Notices drafted by Cambell Tickell and included at Appendix 3 

Ensure Section 20 notices are 
supported by additional information 
that explains the Section 20 process 
and answers questions commonly 
asked by leaseholders  

 COMPLETE 

• S.20 Notices drafted by Cambell Tickell and included at Appendix 3 

Update website to provide 
leaseholders with more detail on the 
Section 20 procedure. 

 DEC 2024 
• Develop Leaseholder policy and share via website. 

Draft Section 20 policy and 
procedures to ensure Section 20 
notices are completed and 
administered correctly and that officer 
responsibilities are defined for each 
stage of the process. Procedures 
should include some informal 
consultation with leaseholders before 
entering the formal Section 20 
process. 

 DEC 2024 

• Appoint Campbell Tickell to work with the Council to develop policy. 

The Council should clearly save the 
original, dated Section 20 consultation  COMPLETE • New notices will be properly recorded upon issue. 

• This will be applied to all new notices issued. 

P
age 131



  
 
 

2 
 

notices to ensure no ambiguity when 
subsequent queries are raised. 
Notices should be addressed to the 
leaseholder at the correspondence 
address. 

 COMPLETE 
• Where Leaseholders have given an alternative address for correspondence 

this is already being used. 

Develop a Repayment Options policy 
that gives leaseholders repayment 
options for the cost of major works 

 DEC 2024 

• AD Finance, s151 Officer, ED Communities and Portfolio Holder to 
consider options. 

• Initial view that current Corporate Credit Policy applies to Leasehold 
Service Charges. 

Review all lease agreements to ensure 
officers understand the terms of each, 
in particular the extent of the demise 
of the property. 

 APR 2025 

• In-house team to be developed, training and support to be provided. 
• As and when needed external support to be engaged to provide updates and 

training. 
• Annual review of processes to capture changing legislation. 

Improve knowledge of leasehold 
legislation and practice across TBC by 
engaging a retained leasehold 
consultant to advise on leasehold 
matters. 

 APR 2025 

• In-house team to be developed, training and support to be provided. 
• As and when needed external support to be engaged to provide updates 

and training. 
• Annual review of processes to capture changing legislation. 

Modernise lease agreements terms in 
order that leases issued moving 
forwards:  

• Review RTB lease for new RTB 
sales to include renewal and 
improvement clauses and the 
ability to collect a management 
fee to deliver the leasehold 
service.  

 APR 2025 

• Right to buy team to work with external legal support to review lease 
documents. 

• Leasehold Policy to include provisions for lease extensions and lease 
amendments. 

• External legal support to be commissioned to advise on the inclusion of 
management charges and the possible routes to achieving this. Further 
approvals for this to be sought from Cabinet once legal advice is 
available. 

P
age 132



  
 
 

3 
 

• Review approach to lease 
extensions for existing 
leaseholders. Consider offering 
leaseholders a non-statutory route 
to lease extensions with incentives 
such as reduced premium costs, 
legal costs etc. if renewal, 
improvement and management fee 
clauses are included in the new 
lease.  

 

Explore whether legally it would be 
possible to introduce a management 
fee to existing leaseholders to pay for 
the delivery of the leasehold service. 
There is case law (Brent v Hamilton 
2006) that suggests that this may be 
possible. 

 APR 2025 

• External legal support to be commissioned to advise on the inclusion of 
management charges and the possible routes to achieving this. Further 
approvals for this to be sought from Cabinet once legal advice is 
available 

Update the stock condition survey 
information with the outcomes of the 
roof inspections to provide a current 
data base to inform investment. 

 JAN 2025 

• Complete Stock Condition Survey and update all records within housing 
management system. 

• Update condition data on a regular basis 

Use repairs, void and other recent 
feedback information to update the 
stock condition data base with regular 
operational information. 

 JAN 2025 

• Complete Stock Condition Survey and update all records within housing 
management system. 

• Update condition data on a regular basis 

P
age 133



  
 
 

4 
 

Undertake on site sample inspections 
to validate the life cycle projections to 
inform the investment programme for 
imminent planned or major works 

 APR 2025 

• Update condition data on a regular basis 

Identify the specific blocks that are 
likely to be in the following year’s 
programme and identify the number of 
leaseholders likely to be affected to 
assist with both consultation and cost 
and income analysis 

 JAN 2025 

• Carry out stock condition survey and update records. 
• Condition survey will identify future programmes. 
• Condition survey will drive MTFS and HRA business plan 

Prepare 5 year and 30 year investment 
plans to clarify potential investment 
decisions and financial impact. 

 JAN 2025 
• Carry out stock condition survey and update records. 
• Condition survey will identify future programmes. 
• Condition survey will drive MTFS and HRA business plan 

Publish indicative 5 year investment 
plans annually and ensure leaseholders 
are aware when works are planned for 
their building. 

 MAR 2025 

• Indicative programmes to be published based on condition survey data, 
HRA Business plan and MTFS budget setting. 

Following the recommendations in the 
roof report, assess the costs for each 
block for the remedial works to 
prolong the life of the roof for 
approximately 10 years and ensure 
this provides value in delaying roof 
works. 

 COMPLETE 

• Costings for works identified from survey to be costed by the planned 
works contractor using the SOR and existing contracts. 

On an ‘asset by asset’ basis, either 
undertake the remedial works or 
replace the roof. 

 NOV 2024 
• Commence s20 stage 3 consultation process once approved by Cabinet. 
• Programming of works with contractor(s) 
• Commence works on site. 

P
age 134



  
 
 

5 
 

If remedial works are progressed, 
TBC should consider if other works 
can be undertaken while the access 
equipment is in place. 

  

• Work with contractor and condition data to identify additional works. 

Advise residents of the proposed 
remedial works programme and likely 
timescale for roof renewal.  MAR 2025 

• Commence s20 stage 3 consultation process once approved by Cabinet. 
• Programming of works with contractor(s) 
• Commence works on site. 
• Publish advance programme once 5-year capital budgets have been agreed 

and stock condition data is available. 

Review the condition of the roofs in 
five to seven years to assess the point 
renewal will be needed. 

 5-YEARS 
• Identify current condition of roofs through regular updates of condition 

data. 
• Diarise specific inspections through housing management system. 

 Planned Activities for next period 

•  Strategic review complete by Campbell Tickell. 
• Specific roofs inspected and works schedules produced/costed. 
• Revised suite of documents produced by Campbell Tickell 

• Production of policy 
• Update of website 
• Review of Leases 
• Commence works programme 
• Completion of Stock Condition Survey 
• Development and publication of planned works programme based on new condition 

survey 

Amber/Red Areas Risks including Stakeholder Issues 

• All workstreams are currently on track. • Financing options likely to be challenged 
• Leaseholders may still challenge process through the First Tier Tribunal 

Project Team Issues Resourcing Requirements 

None at this time • Use of Campbell Tickell to develop policy documents 
• Shared legal service to review current leases 

P
age 135



  
 
 

6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

• Shared legal service to advise on options to include management fee 
• Training and future support needs to be identified. 

P
age 136



Appendix A - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works

NAME
ADDRESS
ADDRESS
ADDRESS
POSTCODE

DATE

Dear «Name» (name of leaseholder/name of recognised tenants’ association)

LANDLORD’S NOTICE OF INTENT TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT FOR A 
QUALIFYING WORKS

Statutory Instrument 2003 No.1987 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002

Works ref Scheme ref Property Ref Property Address
«works 
ref»

«Scheme 
ref»

«Property 
Ref»

«Property Address»

I am writing to inform you that Tamworth BC intends to enter into an 
agreement to carry out works that relate to the building and/or estate (if 
applicable) that your property forms a part:

insert description of the works

These services are considered necessary for the following reason/s:

insert reason for the works

As the proposed services affect the building or estate that your property forms 
a part and under the terms of your lease you have an obligation to contribute 
towards the cost of these services, you have the right to tell us what you think 
of the proposal. If you do have any observations, you should submit these in 
writing to the address below. 

Please note that this is the first stage of consultation and estimates for these 
services will not be known until the contract is tendered. You will be notified of 
your individual estimated contribution during the second phase of consultation.

You also have the right to nominate a person or organisation that you would 
like us to approach for a tender. Please note that any nominated contractor 
that we approach may be rejected if they do not meet the reasonable 
requirements of Tamworth BC’s Procurement Policy which are:

Page 137



Appendix A - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works

The contractor should be able to provide evidence of public liability insurance, 
a valid tax exemption certificate, confirmation of VAT status, and copies of 
their health and safety policy. We may also ask for evidence of experience 
carrying out similar kinds of work and references. In some cases, we may also 
need to assess credit records.

Where a single nomination is made by only one leaseholder, we will try to 
obtain an estimate from this person/organisation.  Where a single nomination is 
made by more than one leaseholder, we shall try to obtain an estimate:

a.  from the person who received the most nominations; or
b.  if there is no such person, but two (or more) persons received the same 

number of  nominations and in excess of the nominations received by any 
other person, from one of those two (or more) persons; or

c. in any other case, from any nominated person

All comments, observations and or nominations must be received within 30 
days from the date of this notice. Please note that the consultation period will 
end on S20_30_Day_Expiration.

I attach for your information a leaflet which gives you more information on the 
Section 20 consultation process and explains the payment options available to 
you when you are invoiced for works carried out.

I hope this is information is clear but if you require any further clarification, 
please do not hesitate to contact insert name on «telephone number».

Yours sincerely,

«insert name»
insert job title

Please Note:

1)  If you are not the legal owner of this property, please forward this Notice to 
them as soon as possible - Leaseholders only.
2)  If you are in the process of selling your home, you should give a copy of this 
Notice to the prospective purchaser - Leaseholders only.
3)  This notice is issued pursuant to s20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 

1985 (as amended by, but not limited to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 
and the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002).

Notes

1) Section 20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 (as amended) provides 
that a landlord must consult leaseholders who are required under the terms 
of their leases to contribute to costs incurred under qualifying works, where 
the contribution of any one leaseholder will exceed £250.

Page 138



Appendix A - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works

2) Where a notice specifies a place and hours for inspection:
a. the place and hours so specified must be reasonable; and
b. a description of the proposed works must be available for inspection, free 

of charge, at that place and during those hours.  If facilities to enable copies 
to be taken are not made available at the times at which the description may 
be inspected, the landlord shall provide to any leaseholder, on request and 
free of charge, a copy of the description.

3) The landlord has a duty to have regard to written observations made 
within the consultation period by any leaseholder or recognised tenants’ 
association.  ‘Recognised tenants’ association’ is defined by Section 29 of the 
1985 Act.

Page 139



Appendix A - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works

Comments, Observations & Nominations Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO PROPOSED WORKS/SERVICES AND SHOULD BE RETURNED BEFORE 

THE END OF THE CONSULTATION PERIOD.

The consultation period for the proposed works ends on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration. If you would like to make any comments or 
observations about the work, please complete the section below and return it 
to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Any comments or observations must reach us by S20_30_Day_Expiration to be 
considered.

Scheme: «Scheme ref»
Works: «insert description of works»

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments/Observations

Page 140



Appendix A - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works

IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER

I would like to nominate a Contractor to bid for this work. The name and full 
address of the Company/person is:

Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:

Date:

Page 141



Appendix B - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works

NAME
ADDRESS
ADDRESS
ADDRESS
POSTCODE

DATE

Dear «Name»

LANDLORD’S PROPOSAL TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT FOR 
QUALIFYING WORKS

Statutory Instrument 2003 No.1987 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002

Works ref Scheme ref Property Ref Property Address
«works 
ref»

«Scheme 
ref»

«Property 
Ref»

«Property Address»

I am writing to inform you further to our letter of (insert date) that we intend to 
enter into an agreement for the following works that relate to the building 
and/or estate (if applicable) that your property forms a part.  The consultation 
period in respect of the notice of intention ended on (insert date):

«insert description of works»

These works are considered necessary for the following reason/s:

«insert reason for the works»

We have now obtained estimates for these works. We approached 
No_of_Contractors_Approached contractors to provide tenders and received 
No_of_Estimates_Returned returns. We have shortlisted two contractors and 
enclose details, as required by law, on the attached Statement of Estimates. 
This includes your estimated contribution towards the work. 

We currently propose to select Tender A.

As the proposed works affect the building that your property forms a part, you 
have the right to tell us what you think of the proposal. If you do have any 
observations, you should submit these in writing to the address below. 

All comments and observations must be received within 30 days from the date 
of this notice. Please note that the consultation period will end on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration.

You can view the actual estimates and any supporting documentation at this 
office. If this isn’t too large, we are happy, on request, to send you a copy. If 
this isn’t practical, or you would like to see further evidence of the supporting 
documentation, you can make an appointment to inspect the priced 

Page 142



Appendix B - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works

specification, the estimates and all relevant documentation at this office from 
Monday to Friday between the hours of 9am-5pm. If you would like to arrange 
an appointment, please contact «insert name» beforehand on «telephone 
number». 

Please note that this is not a demand for payment. An invoice for these works 
will only be produced on practical completion of these works. 

Below is a summary of the written observations received during the 
consultation period of the Landlords Notice of Intent and a summary of our 
response.

No written observations were received during the consultation period.

I attach for your information a leaflet which gives you more information on the 
Section 20 consultation process and explains the payment options available to 
you when you are invoiced for works carried out.

I hope this is information is clear but if you require any further clarification, 
please do not hesitate to contact insert name on «telephone number».

Yours sincerely,

«insert name»
insert job title

Please Note:
1)  If you are not the legal owner of this property, please forward this Notice to 
them as soon as possible.
2)  If you are in the process of selling your home, you should give a copy of this 
Notice to the prospective purchaser.

Page 143



Appendix B - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works

3)  This notice is issued pursuant to s20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 
(as amended by, but not limited to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 and the 
Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002).

Page 144



Appendix B - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works

STATEMENT OF ESTIMATE

This Statement of Estimates provides detail of the two estimates short-listed 
from the tenders received. We presently propose to accept «Contractor A» as 
we believe that contractor offers the best value for money. We are unaware of 
any relationship as defined by SI 2003 No1987 Schedule 1 (5) (5) between the 
proposed contractor and members of Tamworth BC or its subsidiaries.

Your proportion of costs is calculated by distinguishing the amount 
rechargeable to your block and apportioning costs using the formula laid down 
in your lease agreement. Under the terms of your lease, you will be required to 
contribute approximately Percentage% towards these costs. Your contribution 
is also subject to a «10%» management fee.

TENDER A

CONTRACTOR: Name of Contractor A of Address

CONTRACT COST: £Value of Tender A inclusive of VAT

CONSULTANT: Name of Consultant

CONSULTANT’S RATE: £Professional fees inclusive of VAT

CONTRACT COST (INCL): £Total Value of Tender A including Professional 
fees inclusive of VAT

Estimated cost of work to your block

Estimated Cost to Block: £Tender A Block Cost
Estimated Cost to Block (incl): £Tender A Block Cost including Professional 

Fees
Your total estimated cost: £Estimate A including Professional fees inclusive 

of VAT

Your estimated contribution (including management fee at 10 per cent 
management fee)

£Estimate A including Professional Fees and Management 
Fee

Page 145



Appendix B - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works

TENDER B

CONTRACTOR: Name of Contractor B of Address

CONTRACT COST: £Value of Tender B inclusive of VAT

CONSULTANT: Name of Consultant

CONSULTANT’S RATE: £Professional fees inclusive of VAT

CONTRACT COST (INCL): £Total Value of Tender B including Professional 
fees inclusive of VAT

Estimated cost of work to your block

Estimated Cost to Block: £Tender B Block Cost
Estimated Cost to Block (incl): £Tender B Block Cost including Professional 

Fees
Your total estimated cost: £Estimate B including Professional fees inclusive 

of VAT

Your estimated contribution (including management fee at 10 per cent 
management fee)

£Estimate B including Professional Fees and Management 
Fee

Page 146



Appendix B - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works

Delete if not applicable Please note that as you are within the initial or 
reference period of your purchases under the Right to Buy or Right to Acquire 
scheme your contribution for these works is « S125_Cap_»

Page 147



Appendix B - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works

Payment Options

It is recognised that charges arising from works can cause hardship and, 
although you are not required to pay anything on the enclosed estimate, an 
invoice will be sent to you once the works have been completed. 

The invoice will be payable within 28 days therefore it is important that you 
begin to consider how you will finance your share of the costs. If you believe 
that you will not have sufficient funds to pay the invoice when it is sent the 
following options may be of assistance to you:

1) You could consider setting up a savings account in the interim that you 
can make regular payments into and those savings would normally earn 
you interest.

2) If you have a mortgage from a Building Society or Bank, you can 
approach them to extend your mortgage to cover the cost of the works.

3) You may want to investigate whether you can secure a loan with a lower 
rate of interest from a reputable external provider.

4) If you are on a low income (whether you are already in receipt of benefits 
or not), the charge may sufficiently increase your housing costs to qualify 
you for further assistance.

You will be sent the telephone numbers of those agencies that may be able 
to assist in assessing your situation when you are sent your invoice. 

Are you in debt and in need of advice?

For basic advice on debt, please contact insert name.

For specialist independent debt advice, you can call the National Debt helpline free on 
0808 808 4000 Monday to Friday 9am to 9pm and Saturday 9.30am to 1pm. Or visit 
www.nationaldebtline.co.uk

The National Debt line is a national telephone help line for people with debt problems. 
The service is free, confidential and independent. The service provides self-help advice 
to its callers and also produces booklets and fact sheets on managing debt. The 
service can also help callers with Debt Management Plans

Page 148

http://www.nationaldebtline.co.uk/


Appendix B - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works

Comments and Observations Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO PROPOSED WORKS AND SHOULD BE RETURNED BEFORE 

THE END OF THE CONSULTATION PERIOD.

The consultation period for the proposed works ends on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration.

If you would like to make any comments or observations about the work, 
please complete the section below and return it to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Any comments or observations must reach us by S20_30_Day_Expiration to be 
considered.

Scheme: «Scheme ref»
Works: «insert description of works»

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments/Observations

IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER

Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:

Date:

Page 149



Appendix B - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works

Quality of Works Feedback Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO ONGOING WORKS AND SHOULD NOT BE 

RETURNED BEFORE THE WORKS COMMENCE.

We want you to be happy with the quality of works we intend to carry out. 

If you are therefore dissatisfied with any aspect of the works, please complete 
the section below and return it to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

It is important that you contact us at the earliest possible opportunity so the 
matter can be investigated promptly.

Scheme: Scheme ref
Works: insert description of works

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments Location Date of 
Observation

Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:
This will only be used if we need to contact you for clarification.

Date:

Page 150



Appendix D - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works where Public 
Notice is required

NAME
ADDRESS
ADDRESS
ADDRESS
POSTCODE

DATE

Dear «Name» (name of leaseholder/name of recognised tenants’ association)

LANDLORD’S NOTICE OF INTENT TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT FOR A 
QUALIFYING WORKS

Statutory Instrument 2003 No.1987 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002

Works ref Scheme ref Property Ref Property Address
«works 
ref»

«Scheme 
ref»

«Property 
Ref»

«Property Address»

I am writing to inform you that Tamworth BC intends to enter into an 
agreement to carry out works that relate to the building and/or estate (if 
applicable) that your property forms a part:

insert description of the works

These services are considered necessary for the following reason/s:

insert reason for the works

As the proposed services affect the building or estate that your property forms 
a part and under the terms of your lease, you have an obligation to contribute 
towards the cost of these services, you have the right to tell us what you think 
of the proposal. If you do have any observations, you should submit these in 
writing to the address below. 

Please note that this is the first stage of consultation and estimates for these 
services will not be known until the contract is tendered. You will be notified of 
your individual estimated contribution during the second phase of consultation.

Please note that you DO NOT have the right in this instance to nominate a 
person or organisation that you would like us to approach for a tender.  This is 
because under UK procurement rules, due to the value of the contract we are 
required to advertise the contract by public notice using the Find A Tender 
service.   

Page 151



Appendix D - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works where Public 
Notice is required

All comments and observations must be received within 30 days from the date 
of this notice. Please note that the consultation period will end on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration.

I attach for your information a leaflet which gives you more information on the 
Section 20 consultation process and explains the payment options available to 
you when you are invoiced for works carried out.

I hope this is information is clear but if you require any further clarification, 
please do not hesitate to contact insert name on «telephone number».

Yours sincerely,

«insert name»
insert job title

Please Note:

1)  If you are not the legal owner of this property, please forward this Notice to 
them as soon as possible - Leaseholders only.
2)  If you are in the process of selling your home, you should give a copy of this 
Notice to the prospective purchaser - Leaseholders only.
3)  This notice is issued pursuant to s20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 

1985 (as amended by, but not limited to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 
and the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002).

Notes

1) Section 20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 (as amended) provides 
that a landlord must consult leaseholders who are required under the terms 
of their leases to contribute to costs incurred under qualifying works, where 
the contribution of any one leaseholder will exceed £250.

2) Where a notice specifies a place and hours for inspection:
a. the place and hours so specified must be reasonable; and
b. a description of the proposed works must be available for inspection, free 

of charge, at that place and during those hours.  If facilities to enable copies 
to be taken are not made available at the times at which the description may 
be inspected, the landlord shall provide to any leaseholder, on request and 
free of charge, a copy of the description.

3) The landlord has a duty to have regard to written observations made 
within the consultation period by any leaseholder or recognised tenants’ 

Page 152



Appendix D - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works where Public 
Notice is required

association.  ‘Recognised tenants’ association’ is defined by Section 29 of the 
1985 Act.

Comments and Observations Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO PROPOSED WORKS/SERVICES AND SHOULD BE RETURNED BEFORE 

THE END OF THE CONSULTATION PERIOD.

The consultation period for the proposed works ends on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration. If you would like to make any comments or 
observations about the work, please complete the section below and return it 
to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Any comments or observations must reach us by S20_30_Day_Expiration to be 
considered.

Scheme: «Scheme ref»
Works: «insert description of works»

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments/Observations

Page 153



Appendix D - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works where Public 
Notice is required

IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER

Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:

Date:

Page 154



Appendix C - Notification of Award of Contract - Qualifying Works

Name
Address
Address
Address
Postcode

DATE

Dear «Name»  (name of leaseholder/name of recognised tenants’ association)

LANDLORD’S NOTICE OF REASONS FOR AWARDING A CONTRACT
TO CARRY OUT WORKS

Statutory Instrument 2003 No.1987 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002

Works ref Scheme ref Property Ref Property Address
«works 
ref»

«Scheme 
ref»

«Property 
Ref»

«Property Address»

This notice is given following the statement of estimates issued on (insert date 
of notice of proposals).  The consultation period in respect of the notice of 
proposals ended on (insert relevant date).

We have now entered into an agreement for provision of the (insert description 
of the works) first described in the notice of intention dated (insert date of 
notice of intention) with (name of chosen contractor).

Our reasons for doing so are (state reasons) (see Note 1 below)

or

A statement of our reasons for doing so may be inspected at (specify place and 
hours for inspection) (see Notes 1 and 2 below)

We did not receive within the consultation period any written observations in 
relation to the statement of estimates given on (insert date of notice of 
proposals) (see Note 3 below)

The written observations in relation to the proposals received during the 
consultation period may be summarised as follows: (insert summary of 
observations).  Our response to the observations is (state response) (see Note 
3 below)

or

A summary of the written observations received during the consultation period, 
together with our response to them may be inspected at (specify place and 
hours for inspection)  (see Notes 2 and 3 below)

Page 155



Appendix C - Notification of Award of Contract - Qualifying Works

I attach for your information a leaflet which gives you more information on the 
Section 20 consultation process and explains the payment options available to 
you when you are invoiced for works carried out.

I hope this information is clear but if you require any further clarification, 
please do not hesitate to contact insert name on «telephone number».

Yours sincerely,

«insert name»
insert job title

Please Note:

1)  If you are not the legal owner of this property, please forward this Notice to 
them as soon as possible - Leaseholders only.
2)  If you are in the process of selling your home, you should give a copy of this 
Notice to the prospective purchaser - Leaseholders only.
3)  This notice is issued pursuant to s20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 
(as amended by, but not limited to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 and the 
Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002).

Notes

1.  Landlords do not need to send out this notice of reasons and 
summary/responses if:

a.  the chosen contractor was nominated by a leaseholder, or

b.  the chosen contractor was the person who submitted the lowest 
estimate.

2.  Where a notice specifies a place and hours for inspection:
a.  the place and hours so specified must be reasonable; and

b.  copies of the documents must be available for inspection, free of charge, 
at that place and during those hours.  If facilities to enable copies to be taken 
are not made available and at the times at which the documents may be 
inspected, the landlord shall provide to any leaseholder, on request and free 
of charge, a copy of the documents.

3.  Where a landlord has received written observations within a consultation 
period in relation to a statement of estimates in relation to proposed works, he 
is required to summarise the observations and respond to them within a notice 
of his reasons for awarding a contract.

Page 156



Appendix C - Notification of Award of Contract - Qualifying Works

 

Page 157



Appendix J - Qualifying LTA – Services or Works - Notification of Proposals 
where Public Notice required

DATE

Dear (Name)

LANDLORD’S PROPOSAL TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT FOR A QUALIFYING 
LONG-TERM AGREEMENT FOR WORKS/SERVICES

Statutory Instrument 2003 No.1987 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002

Works ref Scheme ref Property Ref Property Address
«works 
ref»

«Scheme 
ref»

«Property 
Ref»

«Property Address»

We wrote to you on (insert date) to let you know of our intention to enter 
into a new long-term agreement to make sure that you home is properly 
maintained. I am writing to inform you that, subject to your observations, 
we intend to enter into an agreement for the following works/services that 
relate to the building and/or estate (if applicable) that your property forms a 
part:

«insert description of works/services»

These works are considered necessary for the following reason/s:

«insert reason for the works/services»

We have now obtained estimates for these works. We approached 
No_of_Contractors_Approached contractors to provide tenders and received 
No_of_Estimates_Returned returns. We have shortlisted two contractors and 
enclose details, as required by law, on the attached Statement of Estimates. 
This includes your estimated contribution towards the work. 

We currently propose to select Tender A.

This Notice is the second stage in the process and does not mean 
that any works are due to take place on your building imminently.  
This process is to put in place the contracts, which will allow us to 
deliver our (insert description of contract here i.e. major and 
planned works) in the future, as part of our planned investment 
programme.

_______________________________________________________________________________________________________
1 of 11

Name 
of the Current Homeowner
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Page 158



At the point we identify any works that are required to your 
building, there will be a further consultation notice when the 
programme is agreed, prior to commencement of any works (where 
the cost to you of the works would exceed the relevant threshold – 
currently £250).  This will provide details of the proposed works 
and the estimated costs and you will again be invited to submit 
observations before the works are carried out.

As the proposed works/services affect the building that your 
property forms a part, you have the right to tell us what you 
think of the proposal. If you do have any observations, you 
should submit these in writing to the address below. 

All comments and observations must be received within 30 days from the 
date of this notice. Please note that the consultation period will end on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration.

You can view the actual estimates and any supporting documentation at this 
office. If this isn’t too large, we are happy, on request, to send you a copy. If 
this isn’t practical, or you would like to see further evidence of the 
supporting documentation, you can make an appointment to inspect the 
priced specification, the estimates and all relevant documentation at this 
office from Monday to Friday between the hours of 9am-5pm. If you would 
like to arrange an appointment, please contact «insert name» beforehand 
on «telephone number». 

Below is a summary of the written observations received during the 
consultation period of the Landlords Notice of Intent and a summary of our 
response.

No written observations were received during the consultation period.

I attach for your information a leaflet which gives you more information on 
the Section 20 consultation process and explains the payment options 
available to you when you are invoiced for works carried out.

I hope this is clear but if you require any further clarification, please do not 
hesitate to contact insert name on «telephone number».
________________________________________________________________________________________________________

2 of 11

«Contact 
Name»
Address_Line_
1
Address_Line_
2
Address_Line_

Page 159



Yours sincerely,

«insert name»
insert job title

Please Note:
1)  If you are not the legal owner of this property, please forward this Notice 
to them as soon as possible.
2)  If you are in the process of selling your home, you should give a copy of 
this Notice to the prospective purchaser.
3)  This notice is issued pursuant to s20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 
1985 (as amended by, but not limited to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 
and the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002).

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
3 of 11

Page 160



STATEMENT OF ESTIMATE

This Statement of Estimates provides detail of the two estimates short-listed 
from the tenders received. We presently propose to accept «Contractor A» 
as we believe that contractor offers the best value for money. We are 
unaware of any relationship as defined by SI 2003 No1987 Schedule 1 (5) 
(5) between the proposed contractor and Tamworth BC.

Your proportion of costs is calculated by distinguishing the amount 
rechargeable to your block and apportioning costs using the formula laid 
down in your lease agreement. Under the terms of your lease, you will be 
required to contribute approximately Percentage% towards these costs. 
Your contribution is also subject to a «10%» management fee.

TENDER A

CONTRACTOR: Name of Contractor A of Address

CONTRACT COST: £Value of Tender A inclusive of VAT

CONSULTANT: Name of Consultant

CONSULTANT’S RATE: £Professional fees inclusive of VAT

CONTRACT COST (INCL): £Total Value of Tender A including 
Professional fees inclusive of VAT

Estimated cost of work to your block

Estimated Cost to Block: £Tender A Block Cost
Estimated Cost to Block (incl): £Tender A Block Cost including 

Professional Fees
Your total estimated cost: £Estimate A including Professional fees 

inclusive of VAT

Your estimated contribution (including management fee at 10 per cent 
management fee)

£Estimate A including Professional Fees and Management 
Fee

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
4 of 11

Page 161



TENDER B

CONTRACTOR: Name of Contractor B of Address

CONTRACT COST: £Value of Tender B inclusive of VAT

CONSULTANT: Name of Consultant

CONSULTANT’S RATE: £Professional fees inclusive of VAT

CONTRACT COST (INCL): £Total Value of Tender B including 
Professional fees inclusive of VAT

Estimated cost of work to your block

Estimated Cost to Block: £Tender B Block Cost
Estimated Cost to Block (incl): £Tender B Block Cost including 

Professional Fees
Your total estimated cost: £Estimate B including Professional fees 

inclusive of VAT

Your estimated contribution (including management fee at 10 per cent 
management fee)
£Estimate B including Professional Fees and Management 

Fee

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
5 of 11

Page 162



Delete if not applicable Please note that as you are within the initial or 
reference period of your purchases under the Right to Buy or Right to 
Acquire scheme your contribution for these works is « S125_Cap_»

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
6 of 11

Page 163



Payment Options

It is recognised that charges arising from works can cause hardship and, 
although you are not required to pay anything on the enclosed estimate, an 
invoice will be sent to you once the works have been completed. 

The invoice will be payable within 28 days therefore it is important that you 
begin to consider how you will finance your share of the costs. If you believe 
that you will not have sufficient funds to pay the invoice when it is sent the 
following options may be of assistance to you:

1) You could consider setting up a savings account in the interim that 
you can make regular payments into and those savings would 
normally earn you interest.

2) If you have a mortgage from a Building Society or Bank, you can 
approach them to extend your mortgage to cover the cost of the 
works.

3) You may want to investigate whether you can secure a loan with a 
lower rate of interest from a reputable external provider.

4) If you are on a low income (whether you are already in receipt of 
benefits or not), the charge may sufficiently increase your housing 
costs to qualify you for further assistance.

5) Leaseholders who have exercised their Right to Buy as a secure 
tenant within the last 10 years may have the Right to a Loan from 
their Local Authority under s450(A) of the Housing Act 1985 (as 
amended). It is only available for service charges relating to repairs, 
renewal and maintenance and if the demand is for more than £1,500 
(value as at 1992, which is updated annually for inflation).

You will be sent the telephone numbers of those agencies that may be 
able to assist in assessing your situation when you are sent your invoice. 

Are you in debt and in need of advice?

For basic advice on debt, please contact insert name.

For specialist independent debt advice, you can call the National Debt helpline free 
on 0808 808 4000 Monday to Friday 9am to 9pm and Saturday 9.30am to 1pm. Or 
visit www.nationaldebtline.co.uk

The National Debt line is a national telephone help line for people with debt 
problems. The service is free, confidential and independent. The service provides 
self-help advice to its callers and also produces booklets and fact sheets on 
managing debt. The service can also help callers with Debt Management Plans

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
7 of 11

Page 164

http://www.nationaldebtline.co.uk/


Comments and Observations Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO PROPOSED WORKS AND SHOULD BE RETURNED BEFORE 

THE END OF THE CONSULTATION PERIOD.

The consultation period for the proposed works ends on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration.

If you would like to make any comments or observations about the work, 
please complete the section below and return it to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Any comments or observations must reach us by S20_30_Day_Expiration to 
be considered.

Scheme: «Scheme ref»
Works: «insert description of works»

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments/Observations

IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
8 of 11

Page 165



Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:

Date:

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
9 of 11

Page 166



Quality of Works Feedback Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO ONGOING WORKS AND SHOULD NOT BE 

RETURNED BEFORE THE WORKS COMMENCE.

We want you to be happy with the quality of works we intend to carry out. 

If you are therefore dissatisfied with any aspect of the works, please 
complete the section below and return it to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

It is important that you contact us at the earliest possible opportunity so the 
matter can be investigated promptly.

Scheme: Scheme ref
Works: insert description of works

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments Location Date of 
Observation

Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:
This will only be used if we need to contact you for clarification.

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
10 of 11

Page 167



Date:

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
11 of 11

Page 168



Section 20 Consultation Explained

Introduction
Consultation around costs which affect Leaseholders can be a complicated 
subject. We have written this guidance in order to give you a better 
understanding of the legislation involved and processes Tamworth BC follows in 
order to carry out work or enter into long-term agreements with contractors. 

Most properties will, at some point, need more than day-to-day maintenance 
work in order to remain in good condition. Some Leases will define exactly what 
Tamworth’s obligations are in relation to carrying out ‘major work’ but in other 
circumstances Tamworth will make an informed decision on whether this work is 
required, which may involve third party consultants’ professional opinions and 
recommendations. 

What do you mean by ‘Major Works’?
We define Major Works as repair work which could not be accurately described 
as day-to-day maintenance and which would cost any one leaseholder more than 
the statutory threshold of £250. Examples could include the replacement of 
common parts lighting, re-decoration of internal common parts or a replacement 
roof. 

What is Section 20?
Section 20 is a specific part of housing law, namely, Section 20 of the Landlord & 
Tenant Act 1985 (amended by section 151 of the Commonhold & Leasehold 
Reform Act 2002).  Under the terms of your lease, you must pay towards the cost 
of services or work to the building your home is in or the estate it is on.  You do 
this by paying a service charge.  Under Section 20, we must consult you about 
some of the work and services you must pay for.  

What do you mean by ‘Consultation’ ? 
Tamworth BC is committed to involving our leaseholders in every stage of works 
which may affect their home. The consultation process is an invaluable 
opportunity to provide a two-way dialogue, which allows us to keep you informed 
of our plans, timescales and the costs involved in any work. 

As well as the formal consultation under Section 20 that we are required to carry 
out, we aim to ensure you are involved in the following key stages:

 When the works are first planned
 Before the works start
 While the works are in progress 
 When the works have been completed

When is Tamworth BC required to consult with me about work under 
Section 20?
We must consult with leaseholders when one, or more, of the following 
conditions are met: 

 If we plan to carry out work which will cost any one leaseholder more than 
£250. This includes repairs and maintenance to your building and estate. 

 If we plan to enter into a long-term agreement (for more than 12 months) 
with outside contractors for work, supplies or services which will cost any 

Page 169



one leaseholder more than £100 a year. Examples include servicing 
contracts, responsive repairs contracts, planned maintenance contracts. 

 If we plan to carry out work under a long-term agreement where the work 
will cost any one leaseholder more than £250.

 
How can I take part in the consultation?
The consultation notices will contain information about what we plan to do, why 
it is necessary and also give you the opportunity to send us written comments 
about the proposals within 30 days.  We must carefully consider any 
observations we receive from leaseholders during the consultation period and 
respond within 21 days.

How are leaseholders consulted about work Tamworth BC wishes to do 
under a long-term agreement ?
We will carry out work or provide a service that is covered under a long-term 
agreement with a contractor, for example day-to-day repairs, planned 
maintenance works.  We will have consulted with you about the original 
agreement, perhaps some years ago, but we must consult with you again if we 
are going to do work using a long-term agreement.  You will be able to comment 
on the work  but you will not be able to nominate a contractor because we have 
already chosen one.

Does Tamworth BC have any long-term agreements in place currently?
Yes, we have a long-term agreement for planned maintenance works with the 
Wates Group and one with Engie for day-to-day repairs, which includes those to 
communal areas.  These agreements are for 10 years and started on 1st April 
2020.  We consulted with you on the agreements in 2019.

If we are intending to do work under either of these agreements, that will cost 
any one leaseholder more that £250, we will always consult with you on specific 
works planned.

Why are you doing such large contracts – couldn’t you just consult my 
individual building?
Procuring individual works contracts causes delays and can add substantial 
costs.  It also brings greater uncertainty on tender rates in a changing market.  
These long-term agreements should allow us to better use our purchasing power 
to secure more competitive rates and provide greater cost certainty and stability 
over time.

Can I nominate my own contractor? 
In some circumstances you will have the right to nominate a contractor to tender 
for the works.  This does not apply to in cases where we have to advertise 
contracts by way of public notice.  We will advise you in the relevant notice if you 
are able to nominate a contractor.

We will try to obtain a quote from a nominated contractor. However, it should be 
noted that we will need proposed contractors to meet certain requirements 
before being considered. The nominated contractor should be able to provide 
evidence of public liability insurance, a valid tax exemption certificate, 
confirmation of VAT status, and copies of their health and safety policy. We may 
also ask for evidence of experience carrying out similar kinds of work and 
references. In some cases, we may also need to assess credit records.

Page 170



What is a ‘public notice’? 
Sometimes the value of a contract, we intend to enter into, will exceed the set 
procurement threshold of £5,372,609 for Works or £214,904 for Supplies and 
Services. In this circumstance Tamworth must issue a public notice, which allows 
tenders to be invited from contractors from across the UK. 

What is a ‘Notice of Intention’? 
This is a formal letter which we send to you, which specifically outlines the 
nature of the work or service we plan to carry out. Once a 30 day consultation 
period has expired a ‘Notice of Estimate’ or ‘Notice of Proposal’ (in the case of 
services, rather than works) is sent to you outlining what costs we expect in 
relation to the work. 

What is a ‘Notice of Estimate’ or ‘Notice of Proposal’ ?
This is a formal letter which sets out the details of the winning and second place 
contractors/service providers, details of the works/services as well as estimated 
costs.

How long will consultation take?
There are a few different scenarios which can be followed which relate to the 
four schedules for differing Section 20 Consultation processes and it will depend 
to some extent, which route Tamworth is taking, but in general a typical 
consultation process may take around three to four months. 

What happens if Tamworth BC doesn’t consult with its leaseholders?
If we do not follow the regulations, we are limited to how much we can charge 
you for the work or service.  Currently, the limits are £250 per item of repair 
works and £100 for services that we provide under a long-term agreement.  In 
certain circumstances, we can apply to the First tier Tribunal (FtT) for 
‘dispensation’.  If the FtT give us dispensation, we would not have to follow the 
rules fully.  However, we would have to satisfy the FtT that we had taken all 
reasonable steps to make leaseholders aware of our plans or that the situation 
was an emergency.

Where can I get further independent advice? 
There are many reliable and accurate resources available online. The Leasehold 
Advisory Service (LEASE) and Citizens Advice both provide independent advice. 
LEASE is an independent organisation set-up by Government to provide impartial 
advice and around matters concerning Leaseholders 
(http://www.leaseadvice.org/).

If you prefer to talk to someone in person you may like to visit your local Citizens 
Advice Centre. 

Page 171

http://www.leaseadvice.org/


Appendix H
Stage 3 - Award of contract -  long-term agreement

Name
Address
Address
Address
Postcode

DATE

Dear «Name»

LANDLORD’S NOTICE OF REASONS FOR MAKING A LONG-TERM AGREEMENT
Statutory Instrument 2003 No.1987 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002

Works ref Scheme ref Property Ref Property Address
«works 
ref»

«Scheme 
ref»

«Property 
Ref»

«Property Address»

This notice is given following the consultation with leaseholders on a notice of 
proposals to enter into a long-term agreement issued on (insert date of notice 
of proposals).  The consultation period in respect of the notice of proposals 
ended on (insert relevant date).

We have now entered into an agreement for provision of the (insert description 
of the goods/services/works) first described in the notice of intention dated 
(insert date of notice of intention) with (name of chosen contractor).

Our reasons for doing so are (state reasons) (see Note 1 below)

or

A statement of our reasons for doing so may be inspected at (specify place and 
hours for inspection) (see Notes 1 and 2 below)

We did not receive within the consultation period any written observations in 
relation to the notice of proposals given on (insert date of notice of proposals) 
(see Note 3 below)

The written observations in relation to the proposals received during the 
consultation period may be summarised as follows: (insert summary of 
observations).  Our response to the observations is (state response) (see Note 
3 below)

or

A summary of the written observations received during the consultation period, 
together with our response to them may be inspected at (specify place and 
hours for inspection)  (see Notes 2 and 3 below)

Page 172



Appendix H
Stage 3 - Award of contract -  long-term agreement

I attach for your information a leaflet which gives you more information on the 
Section 20 consultation process and explains the payment options available to 
you when you are invoiced for works carried out.

I hope this information is useful but if you require any further clarification, 
please do not hesitate to contact insert name on «telephone number».

Yours sincerely,

«insert name»
insert job title

Please Note:

1)  If you are not the legal owner of this property, please forward this Notice to 
them as soon as possible - Leaseholders only.
2)  If you are in the process of selling your home, you should give a copy of this 
Notice to the prospective purchaser - Leaseholders only.
3)  This notice is issued pursuant to s20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 
(as amended by, but not limited to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 and the 
Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002).

Notes

1.  Landlords do not need to send out this notice of reasons and 
summary/responses if:

a.  the chosen contractor was nominated by a leaseholder, or

b.  the chosen contractor was the person who submitted the lowest 
estimate.

2.  Where a notice specifies a place and hours for inspection:
a.  the place and hours so specified must be reasonable; and

b.  copies of the documents must be available for inspection, free of charge, 
at that place and during those hours.  If facilities to enable copies to be taken 
are not made available and at the times at which the documents may be 
inspected, the landlord shall provide to any leaseholder, on request and free 
of charge, a copy of the documents.

3.  Where a landlord has received written observations within a consultation 
period in relation to a notice of proposals to enter into a long-term agreement, 

Page 173



Appendix H
Stage 3 - Award of contract -  long-term agreement
he is required to summarise the observations and respond to them within a 
notice of his reasons for making the agreement or specify the place and hours 
at which that summary and response may be inspected.

 

Page 174



Appendix F   Long Term Qualifying Agreement - Notice of Intention

DATE

Dear «Name»

LANDLORD’S NOTICE OF INTENT TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT FOR A 
QUALIFYING LONG-TERM AGREEMENT FOR SERVICES

Statutory Instrument 2003 No.1987 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002

Works ref Scheme ref Property Ref Property Address
«works 
ref»

«Scheme 
ref»

«Property 
Ref»

«Property Address»

I am writing to inform you that Tamworth BC intends to enter into an 
agreement for services that relate to the building and/or estate (if 
applicable) that your property forms a part:

«insert description of /services»

These services are considered necessary for the following reason/s:

«insert reason for the /services»

As the proposed services affect the building or estate that your property 
forms a part and under the terms of your lease, or tenancy agreement you 
have an obligation to contribute towards the cost of these services, you 
have the right to tell us what you think of the proposal. If you do have any 

observations, you should submit these in writing to the 
address below. 

Please note that this is the first stage of consultation and estimates for 
these services will not be known until the contract is tendered. You will be 
notified of your individual estimated contribution during the second phase of 
consultation.

_______________________________________________________________________________________________________
1 of 4

Name 
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

«Contact 
Name»
Address_Line_
1
Address_Line_
2
Address_Line_

Page 175



You also have the right to nominate a person or organisation that you would 
like us to approach for a tender. Please note that any nominated contractor 
that we approach may be rejected if they do not meet the reasonable 
requirements of Tamworth BC’s Procurement Policy which include:

The contractor should be able to provide evidence of public liability 
insurance, a valid tax exemption certificate, confirmation of VAT status, and 
copies of their health and safety policy. We may also ask for evidence of 
experience carrying out similar kinds of work and references. In some cases, 
we may also need to assess credit records.

All comments, observations and or nominations must be received within 30 
days from the date of this notice. Please note that the consultation period 
will end on S20_30_Day_Expiration.

I attach for your information a leaflet which gives you more information on 
the Section 20 consultation process and explains the payment options 
available to you when you are invoiced for works carried out.

I hope this information is useful but if you require any further clarification, 
please do not hesitate to contact insert name on «telephone number».

Yours sincerely,

«insert name»
insert job title

Please Note:

1)  If you are not the legal owner of this property, please forward this Notice 
to them as soon as possible - Leaseholders only.
2)  If you are in the process of selling your home, you should give a copy of 
this Notice to the prospective purchaser - Leaseholders only.
3)  This notice is issued pursuant to s20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 
1985 (as amended by, but not limited to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 
and the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002).

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
2 of 4

Page 176



Comments, Observations & Nominations Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO PROPOSED WORKS/SERVICES AND SHOULD BE RETURNED BEFORE 

THE END OF THE CONSULTATION PERIOD.

The consultation period for the proposed works ends on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration. If you would like to make any comments or 
observations about the work, please complete the section below and return 
it to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Any comments or observations must reach us by S20_30_Day_Expiration to 
be considered.

Scheme: «Scheme ref»
Works: «insert description of works»

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments/Observations

IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER

I would like to nominate a Contractor to bid for this work. The name and full 
address of the Company/person is:

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
3 of 4

Page 177



Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:

Date:

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
4 of 4

Page 178



Appendix E - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works 
where Public Notice required

NAME
ADDRESS
ADDRESS
ADDRESS
POSTCODE

DATE

Dear «Name»

LANDLORD’S PROPOSAL TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT FOR 
QUALIFYING WORKS

Statutory Instrument 2003 No.1987 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002

Works ref Scheme ref Property Ref Property Address
«works 
ref»

«Scheme 
ref»

«Property 
Ref»

«Property Address»

I am writing to inform you further to our letter of (insert date) that we intend to 
enter into an agreement for the following works that relate to the building 
and/or estate (if applicable) that your property forms a part.  The consultation 
period in respect of the notice of intention ended on (insert date):

«insert description of works»

These works are considered necessary for the following reason/s:

«insert reason for the works»

We have now obtained estimates for these works. We approached 
No_of_Contractors_Approached contractors to provide tenders and received 
No_of_Estimates_Returned returns. We have shortlisted two contractors and 
enclose details, as required by law, on the attached Statement of Estimates. 
This includes your estimated contribution towards the work. 

We currently propose to select Tender A.

You can view the actual estimates and any supporting documentation at this 
office. If this isn’t too large, we are happy, on request, to send you a copy. If 
this isn’t practical, or you would like to see further evidence of the supporting 
documentation, you can make an appointment to inspect the priced 
specification, the estimates and all relevant documentation at this office from 
Monday to Friday between the hours of 9am-5pm. If you would like to arrange 
an appointment, please contact «insert name» beforehand on «telephone 
number». 

Page 179



Appendix E - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works 
where Public Notice required

Please note that this is not a demand for payment. An invoice for these works 
will only be produced on practical completion of these works. 

Below is a summary of the written observations received during the 
consultation period of the Landlords Notice of Intent and a summary of our 
response.

No written observations were received during the consultation period.

I attach for your information a leaflet which gives you more information on the 
Section 20 consultation process and explains the payment options available to 
you when you are invoiced for works carried out.

I hope this is clear but if you require any further clarification, please do not 
hesitate to contact insert name on «telephone number».

Yours sincerely,

«insert name»
insert job title

Please Note:
1)  If you are not the legal owner of this property, please forward this Notice to 
them as soon as possible.
2)  If you are in the process of selling your home, you should give a copy of this 
Notice to the prospective purchaser.
3)  This notice is issued pursuant to s20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 
(as amended by, but not limited to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 and the 
Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002).

Page 180



Appendix E - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works 
where Public Notice required

Page 181



Appendix E - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works 
where Public Notice required

STATEMENT OF ESTIMATE

This Statement of Estimates provides detail of the two estimates short-listed 
from the tenders received. We presently propose to accept «Contractor A» as 
we believe that contractor offers the best value for money. We are unaware of 
any relationship as defined by SI 2003 No1987 Schedule 1 (5) (5) between the 
proposed contractor and members of Tamworth BC or its subsidiaries.

Your proportion of costs is calculated by distinguishing the amount 
rechargeable to your block and apportioning costs using the formula laid down 
in your lease agreement. Under the terms of your lease, you will be required to 
contribute approximately Percentage% towards these costs. Your contribution 
is also subject to a «10%» management fee.

TENDER A

CONTRACTOR: Name of Contractor A of Address

CONTRACT COST: £Value of Tender A inclusive of VAT

CONSULTANT: Name of Consultant

CONSULTANT’S RATE: £Professional fees inclusive of VAT

CONTRACT COST (INCL): £Total Value of Tender A including Professional 
fees inclusive of VAT

Estimated cost of work to your block

Estimated Cost to Block: £Tender A Block Cost
Estimated Cost to Block (incl): £Tender A Block Cost including Professional 

Fees
Your total estimated cost: £Estimate A including Professional fees inclusive 

of VAT

Your estimated contribution (including management fee at 10 per cent 
management fee)

£Estimate A including Professional Fees and Management 
Fee

Page 182



Appendix E - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works 
where Public Notice required

TENDER B

CONTRACTOR: Name of Contractor B of Address

CONTRACT COST: £Value of Tender B inclusive of VAT

CONSULTANT: Name of Consultant

CONSULTANT’S RATE: £Professional fees inclusive of VAT

CONTRACT COST (INCL): £Total Value of Tender B including Professional 
fees inclusive of VAT

Estimated cost of work to your block

Estimated Cost to Block: £Tender B Block Cost
Estimated Cost to Block (incl): £Tender B Block Cost including Professional 

Fees
Your total estimated cost: £Estimate B including Professional fees inclusive 

of VAT

Your estimated contribution (including management fee at 10 per cent 
management fee)

£Estimate B including Professional Fees and Management 
Fee

Page 183



Appendix E - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works 
where Public Notice required

Delete if not applicable Please note that as you are within the initial or 
reference period of your purchases under the Right to Buy or Right to Acquire 
scheme your contribution for these works is « S125_Cap_»

Page 184



Appendix E - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works 
where Public Notice required

Payment Options

It is recognised that charges arising from works can cause hardship and, 
although you are not required to pay anything on the enclosed estimate, an 
invoice will be sent to you once the works have been completed. If you 
contribute to a reserve or provision (sinking fund) for these types of works your 
payment amount will be reduced by that amount.

The invoice will be payable within 28 days therefore important that you begin 
to consider how you will finance your share of the costs. If you believe that you 
will not have sufficient funds to pay the invoice when it is sent the following 
options may be of assistance to you:

1) You could consider setting up a savings account in the interim that you 
can make regular payments into and those savings would normally earn 
you interest.

2) If you have a mortgage from a Building Society or Bank, you can 
approach them to extend your mortgage to cover the cost of the works.

3) You may want to investigate whether you can secure a loan with a lower 
rate of interest from a reputable external provider.

4) If you are on a low income (whether you are already in receipt of benefits 
or not), the charge may sufficiently increase your housing costs to qualify 
you for further assistance.

You will be sent the telephone numbers of those agencies that may be able 
to assist in assessing your situation when you are sent your invoice. 

Are you in debt and in need of advice?

For basic advice on debt, please contact insert name.

For specialist independent debt advice, you can call the National Debt helpline free on 
0808 808 4000 Monday to Friday 9am to 9pm and Saturday 9.30am to 1pm. Or visit 
www.nationaldebtline.co.uk

The National Debt line is a national telephone help line for people with debt problems. 
The service is free, confidential and independent. The service provides self-help advice 
to its callers and also produces booklets and fact sheets on managing debt. The 
service can also help callers with Debt Management Plans

Page 185

http://www.nationaldebtline.co.uk/


Appendix E - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works 
where Public Notice required

Comments and Observations Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO PROPOSED WORKS AND SHOULD BE RETURNED BEFORE 

THE END OF THE CONSULTATION PERIOD.

The consultation period for the proposed works ends on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration.

If you would like to make any comments or observations about the work, 
please complete the section below and return it to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Any comments or observations must reach us by S20_30_Day_Expiration to be 
considered.

Scheme: «Scheme ref»
Works: «insert description of works»

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments/Observations

IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER

Page 186



Appendix E - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works 
where Public Notice required

Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:

Date:

Page 187



Appendix E - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works 
where Public Notice required

Quality of Works Feedback Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO ONGOING WORKS AND SHOULD NOT BE 

RETURNED BEFORE THE WORKS COMMENCE.

We want you to be happy with the quality of works we intend to carry out. 

If you are therefore dissatisfied with any aspect of the works, please complete 
the section below and return it to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

It is important that you contact us at the earliest possible opportunity so the 
matter can be investigated promptly.

Scheme: Scheme ref
Works: insert description of works

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments Location Date of 
Observation

Page 188



Appendix E - Notification of Proposed Contract - Qualifying Works 
where Public Notice required

Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:
This will only be used if we need to contact you for clarification.

Date:

Page 189



Appendix G - Qualifying LTA or Works - Notification of Proposals

DATE

Dear (name)

LANDLORD’S PROPOSAL TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT FOR A QUALIFYING 
LONG-TERM AGREEMENT FOR WORKS/SERVICES

Statutory Instrument 2003 No.1987 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002

Works ref Scheme ref Property Ref Property Address
«works 
ref»

«Scheme 
ref»

«Property 
Ref»

«Property Address»

I am writing to inform you further to our letter of insert date that subject to 
your observations we intend to enter into an agreement for the following 
works/services that relate to the building and/or estate (if applicable) that 
your property forms a part:

«insert description of works/services»

These works/services are considered necessary for the following reason/s:

«insert reason for the works»

We have now obtained estimates for these works/services. We approached 
No_of_Contractors_Approached contractors to provide tenders and received 
No_of_Estimates_Returned returns. We have shortlisted two contractors and 
enclose details, as required by law, on the attached Statement of Estimates. 
This includes your estimated contribution towards the work. 

We currently propose to select Tender A.

This Notice is the second stage in the process and does not mean 
that any works are due to take place on your building imminently.  
This process is to put in place the contracts which will allow us to 
deliver our (insert description of contract here i.e. major and 
planned works) in the future, as part of our planned investment 
programme.

At the point we identify any works that are required to your 
building, there will be a further consultation notice when the 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________

1 of 11

Name 
or the  Current Homeowner
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Page 190



programme is agreed, prior to commencement of any works (where 
the cost to you of the works would exceed the relevant threshold – 
currently £250).  This will provide details of the proposed works 
and the estimated costs and you will again be invited to submit 
observations before the works are carried out.

As the proposed works affect the building 
that your property forms a part, you have the 
right to tell us what you think of the proposal. 
If you do have any observations, you should 
submit these in writing to the address below. 

All comments and observations must be received within 30 days from the 
date of this notice. Please note that the consultation period will end on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration.

TENDER A

CONTRACTOR: Name of Contractor A of Address

CONTRACT COST: £Value of Tender A inclusive of VAT

CONSULTANT: Name of Consultant

CONSULTANT’S RATE: £Professional fees inclusive of VAT

CONTRACT COST (INCL): £Total Value of Tender A including 
Professional fees inclusive of VAT

Estimated cost of work to your block

Estimated Cost to Block: £Tender A Block Cost
Estimated Cost to Block (incl): £Tender A Block Cost including 

Professional Fees
Your total estimated cost: £Estimate A including Professional fees 

inclusive of VAT

Your estimated contribution (including management fee at 10 per cent 
management fee)

£Estimate A including Professional Fees and Management 
Fee

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
2 of 11

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Page 191



TENDER B

CONTRACTOR: Name of Contractor B of Address

CONTRACT COST: £Value of Tender B inclusive of VAT

CONSULTANT: Name of Consultant

CONSULTANT’S RATE: £Professional fees inclusive of VAT

CONTRACT COST (INCL): £Total Value of Tender B including 
Professional fees inclusive of VAT

Estimated cost of work to your block

Estimated Cost to Block: £Tender B Block Cost
Estimated Cost to Block (incl): £Tender B Block Cost including 

Professional Fees
Your total estimated cost: £Estimate B including Professional fees 

inclusive of VAT

Your estimated contribution (including management fee at 10 per cent 
management fee)
£Estimate B including Professional Fees and Management 

Fee

You can view the actual estimates and any supporting documentation at this 
office. If this isn’t too large, we are happy, on request, to send you a copy. If 
this isn’t practical, or you would like to see further evidence of the 
supporting documentation, you can make an appointment to inspect the 
priced specification, the estimates and all relevant documentation at this 
office from Monday to Friday between the hours of 9am-5pm. If you would 
like to arrange an appointment, please contact «insert name» beforehand 
on «telephone number». 

Please note that this is not a demand for payment. An invoice for these 
works will only be produced on practical completion of these works. 

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
3 of 11

Page 192



Below is a summary of the written observations received during the 
consultation period of the Landlords Notice of Intent and a summary of our 
response.

No written observations were received during the consultation period.

I attach for your information a leaflet which gives you more information on 
the Section 20 consultation process and explains the payment options 
available to you when you are invoiced for works carried out.

I hope this is clear but if you require any further clarification, please do not 
hesitate to contact insert name on «telephone number».

Yours sincerely,

«insert name»
insert job title

Please Note:
1)  If you are not the legal owner of this property, please forward this Notice 
to them as soon as possible.
2)  If you are in the process of selling your home, you should give a copy of 
this Notice to the prospective purchaser.
3)  This notice is issued pursuant to s20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 
1985 (as amended by, but not limited to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 
and the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002).

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
4 of 11

Page 193



STATEMENT OF ESTIMATE

This Statement of Estimates provides detail of the two estimates short-listed 
from the tenders received. We presently propose to accept «Contractor A» 
as we believe that contractor offers the best value for money. We are 
unaware of any relationship as defined by SI 2003 No1987 Schedule 1 (5) 
(5) between the proposed contractor and members of Tamworth BC or its 
subsidiaries.

Your proportion of costs is calculated by distinguishing the amount 
rechargeable to your block and apportioning costs using the formula laid 
down in your lease agreement. Under the terms of your lease, you will be 
required to contribute approximately Percentage% towards these costs. 
Your contribution is also subject to a «10%» management fee.

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
5 of 11

Page 194



Delete if not applicable Please note that as you are within the initial or 
reference period of your purchases under the Right to Buy or Right to 
Acquire scheme your contribution for these works is « S125_Cap_»

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
6 of 11

Page 195



Payment Options

It is recognised that charges arising from works can cause hardship and, 
although you are not required to pay anything on the enclosed estimate, an 
invoice will be sent to you once the works have been completed. 

The invoice will be payable within 28 days therefore it is important that you 
begin to consider how you will finance your share of the costs. If you believe 
that you will not have sufficient funds to pay the invoice when it is sent the 
following options may be of assistance to you:

1) You could consider setting up a savings account in the interim that 
you can make regular payments into and those savings would 
normally earn you interest.

2) If you have a mortgage from a Building Society or Bank, you can 
approach them to extend your mortgage to cover the cost of the 
works.

3) You may want to investigate whether you can secure a loan with a 
lower rate of interest from a reputable external provider.

4) If you are on a low income (whether you are already in receipt of 
benefits or not), the charge may sufficiently increase your housing 
costs to qualify you for further assistance.

5) Leaseholders who have exercised their Right to Buy as a secure 
tenant within the last 10 years may have the Right to a Loan from 
their Local Authority under s450(A) of the Housing Act 1985 (as 
amended). It is only available for service charges relating to repairs, 
renewal and maintenance and if the demand is for more than £1,500 
(value as at 1992, which is updated annually for inflation).

You will be sent the telephone numbers of those agencies that may be 
able to assist in assessing your situation when you are sent your invoice. 

Are you in debt and in need of advice?

For basic advice on debt, please contact insert name.

For specialist independent debt advice, you can call the National Debt helpline free 
on 0808 808 4000 Monday to Friday 9am to 9pm and Saturday 9.30am to 1pm. Or 
visit www.nationaldebtline.co.uk

The National Debt line is a national telephone help line for people with debt 
problems. The service is free, confidential and independent. The service provides 
self-help advice to its callers and also produces booklets and fact sheets on 
managing debt. The service can also help callers with Debt Management Plans

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
7 of 11

Page 196

http://www.nationaldebtline.co.uk/


Comments and Observations Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO PROPOSED WORKS AND SHOULD BE RETURNED BEFORE 

THE END OF THE CONSULTATION PERIOD.

The consultation period for the proposed works ends on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration.

If you would like to make any comments or observations about the work, 
please complete the section below and return it to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Any comments or observations must reach us by S20_30_Day_Expiration to 
be considered.

Scheme: «Scheme ref»
Works: «insert description of works»

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments/Observations

IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
8 of 11

Page 197



Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:

Date:

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
9 of 11

Page 198



Quality of Works Feedback Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO ONGOING WORKS AND SHOULD NOT BE 

RETURNED BEFORE THE WORKS COMMENCE.

We want you to be happy with the quality of works we intend to carry out. 

If you are therefore dissatisfied with any aspect of the works, please 
complete the section below and return it to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

It is important that you contact us at the earliest possible opportunity so the 
matter can be investigated promptly.

Scheme: Scheme ref
Works: insert description of works

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments Location Date of 
Observation

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
10 of 11

Page 199



Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:
This will only be used if we need to contact you for clarification.

Date:

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
11 of 11

Page 200



Appendix K - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works under a Qualifying 
Long-Term Agreement

NAME
ADDRESS
ADDRESS
ADDRESS
POSTCODE

DATE

Dear «Name» (name of leaseholder/name of recognised tenants’ association)

LANDLORD’S NOTICE OF INTENT TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT FOR A 
QUALIFYING WORKS UNDER A QUALIFYING LONG-TERM AGREEMENT

Statutory Instrument 2003 No.1987 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002

Works ref Scheme ref Property Ref Property Address
«works 
ref»

«Scheme 
ref»

«Property 
Ref»

«Property Address»

I am writing to inform you that Tamworth BC intends to carry out works under 
an existing long-term agreement previously consulted upon with insert name of 
contractor. The works relate to the building and/or estate (if applicable) that 
your property forms a part and we are required to consult with you on these 
works:

insert description of the works

These works are considered necessary for the following reason/s:

insert reason for the works

We estimate the total amount of expenditure likely to be incurred on or in 
connection with the proposed works is insert estimated figure.

As the proposed services affect the building or estate that your property forms 
a part and under the terms of your lease, you have an obligation to contribute 
towards the cost of these services, you have the right to tell us what you think 
of the proposal. If you do have any observations, you should submit these in 
writing to the address below. 

All comments, observations and or nominations must be received within 30 
days from the date of this notice. Please note that the consultation period will 
end on S20_30_Day_Expiration.

Page 201



Appendix K - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works under a Qualifying 
Long-Term Agreement
I attach for your information a leaflet which gives you more information on the 
Section 20 consultation process and explains the payment options available to 
you when you are invoiced for works carried out.

I hope this is information is clear but if you require any further clarification, 
please do not hesitate to contact insert name on «telephone number».

Yours sincerely,

«insert name»
insert job title

Please Note:

1)  If you are not the legal owner of this property, please forward this Notice to 
them as soon as possible - Leaseholders only.
2)  If you are in the process of selling your home, you should give a copy of this 
Notice to the prospective purchaser - Leaseholders only.
3)  This notice is issued pursuant to s20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 

1985 (as amended by, but not limited to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 
and the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002).

Notes

1) Section 20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 (as amended) provides 
that a landlord must consult leaseholders who are required under the terms 
of their leases to contribute to costs incurred under qualifying works, where 
the contribution of any one leaseholder will exceed £250.

2) Where a notice specifies a place and hours for inspection:
a. the place and hours so specified must be reasonable; and
b. a description of the proposed works must be available for inspection, free 

of charge, at that place and during those hours.  If facilities to enable copies 
to be taken are not made available at the times at which the description may 
be inspected, the landlord shall provide to any leaseholder, on request and 
free of charge, a copy of the description.

3) The landlord has a duty to have regard to written observations made 
within the consultation period by any leaseholder or recognised tenants’ 
association.  ‘Recognised tenants’ association’ is defined by Section 29 of the 
1985 Act.

Page 202



Appendix K - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works under a Qualifying 
Long-Term Agreement

Comments & Observations Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO PROPOSED WORKS/SERVICES AND SHOULD BE RETURNED BEFORE 

THE END OF THE CONSULTATION PERIOD.

The consultation period for the proposed works ends on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration. If you would like to make any comments or 
observations about the work, please complete the section below and return it 
to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Any comments or observations must reach us by S20_30_Day_Expiration to be 
considered.

Scheme: «Scheme ref»
Works: «insert description of works»

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments/Observations

Page 203



Appendix K - Notice of Intention - Qualifying Works under a Qualifying 
Long-Term Agreement

IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER

Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:

Date:

Page 204



Appendix I - Qualifying LTA or Works - Pre Tender Consultation where Public 
Notice is required

DATE

Dear «Name»

LANDLORD’S NOTICE OF INTENT TO ENTER INTO A CONTRACT FOR A 
QUALIFYING LONG-TERM AGREEMENT FOR WORKS/SERVICES

Statutory Instrument 2003 No.1987 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002

Works ref Scheme ref Property Ref Property Address
«works 
ref»

«Scheme 
ref»

«Property 
Ref»

«Property Address»

I am writing to inform you that Tamworth BC intends to enter into an 
agreement for works/services that relate to the building and/or estate (if 
applicable) that your property forms a part:

«insert description of works/services»

These works/services are considered necessary for the following reason/s:

«insert reason for the works »

As the proposed works affect the building or estate that your property forms 
a part and under the terms of your lease you have an obligation to 
contribute towards the cost of these works or services, you have the right to 
tell us what you think of the proposal. If you do have any observations, you 
should submit these in writing to the address below. 

Please note that this is the first stage of consultation and estimates 
for these works will not be known until the contract is tendered. 
You will be notified of the details of the cost proposals received 
from contractors that have tendered for the work during the second 
phase of consultation.

You do not have the right to nominate a person or organisation for us to 
approach for a tender as the value of this contract is above limits that under 
UK legislation require us to advertise the contract using the Find A Tender 
service. 
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________

1 of 4

Name 
of the Current Homeowner
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Page 205



All comments and observations must be received within 30 days from the 
date of this notice. Please note that the consultation period will end on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration.

Please find enclosed a leaflet that gives you more information on the 
Section 20 Consultation process.  I hope this is helpful but if you require any 
further clarification, please do not hesitate to contact insert name on 
«telephone number».  

Yours sincerely,

«insert name»
insert job title

Please Note:

1)  If you are not the legal owner of this property, please forward this Notice 
to them as soon as possible.
2)  If you are in the process of selling your home, you should give a copy of 
this Notice to the prospective purchaser.
3)  This notice is issued pursuant to s20 of the Landlord and Tenant Act 
1985 (as amended by, but not limited to the Landlord and Tenant Act 1987 
and the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform Act 2002).

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
2 of 4

Page 206



Comments and Observations Form
THIS FORM RELATES TO PROPOSED WORKS/SERVICES AND SHOULD BE RETURNED BEFORE 

THE END OF THE CONSULTATION PERIOD.

The consultation period for the proposed works ends on 
S20_30_Day_Expiration. If you would like to make any comments or 
observations about the work, please complete the section below and return 
it to us at:

«Contact Name»
Address_Line_1
Address_Line_2
Address_Line_3
Address_Line_4
Postcode

Any comments or observations must reach us by S20_30_Day_Expiration to 
be considered.

Scheme: «Scheme ref»
Works: «insert description of works»

Works Ref: «works ref»
Name: Name
Address: «Property Address»

Comments/Observations

IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
3 of 4

Page 207



Name (please print): Signed:

Contact Telephone Number:

Date:

________________________________________________________________________________________________________
4 of 4

Page 208



  1 of 10 

 
 
Part 1 – Details  
What Policy/ Procedure/ 
Strategy/Project/Service 
is being assessed? 

Strategic Review of Leasehold Service 
Charges 

Date Conducted 
 

August 2024 

Name of Lead Officer and 
Service Area 

Paul Weston 
Assets 

Commissioning Team 
(if applicable) 

 

Director Responsible for  
project/service area 

Executive Director, Communities 

Who are the main 
stakeholders 

Leaseholders 

Describe what 
consultation has been 
undertaken.  Who was 
involved and what was 
the outcome 

A working group under the Corporate Scrutiny 
Committee was established to oversee a 
strategic review of Leaseholder Service 
Charges. 

Outline the wider 
research that has taken 
place (E.G. 
commissioners, partners, 
other providers etc) 

Under the Leaseholder Working Group an 
external consultant was appointed to review the 
data and information, to engage with 
Leaseholders and undertake a technical 
assessment.  
A decision to review or 
change a service 
 

 

A 
Strategy/Policy/Procedure 
 
 

 

What are you assessing? 
Indicate with an ‘x’ which 
applies 
 

A function, service or 
project 
 

 

New 
 

 
Existing 
 

 
Being reviewed 
 

 

What kind of assessment 
is it?  Indicate with an ‘x’ 
which applies 
 

Being reviewed as a 
result of budget 

 

Page 209



  2 of 10 

constraints / End of 
Contract 

 
 
Part 2 – Summary of Assessment  
Give a summary of your proposal and set out the aims/ objectives/ 
purposes/ and outcomes of the area you are impact assessing. 
 
A decision was made at Full Council that a strategic level review of 
Leaseholder Service Charges should be carried out following the issue of a 
number of consultation notices. The review was aimed at establishing the 
legality and legitimacy of service charges, the process taken in relation to 
consultation and the nature of communications with Leaseholders. 
 
Who will be affected and how? 
 
The policy will impact on all Leaseholders in Council blocks. 
 
Are there any other functions, policies or services linked to this impact 
assessment? 
 
Yes    No   
 
If you answered ‘Yes’, please indicate what they are? 
 
Council Housing Repairs Policy 
Tenancy Agreement 
Complaints Policy 
 

 
 
Part 3 – Impact on the Community  
Thinking about each of the Areas below, does or could the Policy 
function, or service have a direct impact on them? 
 
Impact Area Yes No Reason (provide brief 

explanation ) 
Age 
 

  This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Elderly Leaseholders are 
more likely to be on a fixed 
income and may struggle to 
meet the financial obligations 

Page 210



  3 of 10 

of Leasehold Service 
Charges. 
 
People in this group may 
need more support in 
understanding the service 
charge process. 

Disability   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 
 
People in this group may 
need more support in 
understanding the service 
charge process. 

Gender Reassignment   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

  This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 

Page 211



  4 of 10 

general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Pregnancy & Maternity   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Race   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 
Consideration needs to be 
given to ensuring that notices 
comply with the Council’s 
approach to written 
communication with people 
who don’t have English as 
their first language. 

Religion or belief   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Sexual orientation   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 

Page 212



  5 of 10 

property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Sex   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 

Gypsy/Travelling 
Community 

  This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 

Those with 
caring/dependent 
responsibilities  

  This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Those having an offending 
past 

  This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Children   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 

Page 213



  6 of 10 

Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Children couldn’t be 
Leaseholders in their own 
right. 

Vulnerable Adults   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
People in this group may 
need more support in 
understanding the service 
charge process. 

Families   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Those who are homeless   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
People who are homeless 
would not be Leaseholders. 

Those on low income   This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Leaseholders in this group 
are more likely to be on a 
fixed income and may 

Page 214



  7 of 10 

struggle to meet the financial 
obligations 

Those with drug or alcohol 
problems 

  This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Those with mental health 
issues 

  This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Those with physical health 
issues 

  This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Social inclusion 
Please include refugees 
and asylum seekers,  

  This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 

Page 215



  8 of 10 

general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Social inclusion: Armed 
Forces 
The Armed Forces 
Covenant is a pledge that 
together we acknowledge 
and understand that those 
who have served in the 
armed forces, and their 
families, should be treated 
with fairness and respect 
and any impact should be 
considered 

  This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Health and Wellbeing 
 

  This review only affects those 
people with a Leasehold 
property where Tamworth 
Borough Council is the 
Landlord. 
 
Service charges would not 
adversely impact on people 
in this group beyond the 
general financial impact that 
would apply to all groups. 

Climate Change    This review in and of itself 
would not have any impact 
on climate change although 
works completed that lead to 
service charges may. 

 
Part 4 – Risk Assessment 
From evidence given from previous question, please detail what 
measures or changes will be put in place to mitigate adverse 
implications. this includes climate change considerations 
 
This is the section in which to please outline any actions to mitigate 
negative or enhance positive impacts in terms of economic, 
environmental or wider societal considerations, and actions to review 
and monitor the overall impact of the change accordingly. 
Impact Area 
 

Details of the 
Impact 

Action to reduce risk 

Financial People in some 
groups are likely to 
have limited and/or 
fixed incomes and 
financial means. 

Any future policy will need to 
consider payment mechanisms 
to support people in these groups 
so far as is practicable. 

Page 216



  9 of 10 

People falling into 
these categories 
may struggle to 
meet the financial 
commitments of 
Leasehold 
ownership. 

Understanding Notices can be 
complex and some 
people may need 
additional support 
in understanding 
what is being 
communicated to 
them and being 
asked of them. 

The new processes/policy will 
include updated notice letters 
that have been simplified and set 
out in a much clearer manner. 
 
Additional resourcing may be 
required to provide more ‘hands 
on’ support to Leaseholders. 

Page 217



  10 of 10 

Part 5 - Action Plan and Review  
 
Detail in the plan below, actions that you have identified in your Community Impact Assessment, which will eliminate discrimination, advance 
equality of opportunity and/or foster good relations. 
 
If you are unable to eliminate or reduce negative impact on any of the impact areas, you should explain why 
 
Impact (positive or 
negative) identified 

Action Person(s) 
responsible 

Target date Required outcome 

Finances 
 

Any policy will need to take account 
of individual financial circumstances 
and make provision to agree 
payment terms that compliant with 
financial regulations whilst meeting 
Leaseholder expectations so far as 
possible. 

AD Assets/AD 
Finance 

TBA Clear financial policy that sets 
out payment options for 
Leaseholders. 

 
 

    

 
Date of Review (If applicable) ……………………………………………….. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Guidance and form updated July 2023 following CMT approval. 

P
age 218



Document is Restricted

Page 219

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 227

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 237

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 243

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 251

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 263

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 265

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 273

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 311

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 329

By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 347

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 353

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Matters Referred to the Cabinet in Accordance with the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules
	6 Nature Declaration update
	7 Social Housing Regulatory Programme Update
	Appendix 1 Progress update to the RSH 300924
	Appendix 2 Asset Compliance update to the RSH 300924
	Annex F - Example compliance data template

	Appendix 3 Equality Community Impact Assessment including Health and Safety risk assessment
	Appendix 4 Homelessness Housing Advisory Board Update on Tenant Conference
	Appendix 5 Tamworth letter of Self-referral to the RSH
	Sent via email


	9 Update on Strategic Review of Leasehold Service Charges
	Appendix 1 - Campbell Tickell Report
	1. Executive Summary
	2. The Commission
	3. Recommendations
	4. Leaseholder Consultation
	Background
	Section 20 Consultation
	Lease Agreements
	Impact Assessment - HRA Business Plan
	Impact Assessment Leaseholders
	Statement of Means
	Review of FTT Ruling
	Knowledge of Leasehold Legislation and Good Practice

	5. Tamworth Investment Planning
	Programme impact on leaseholders

	6. Works Procurement & Contract
	7. Contract Prices & Management
	Inflation

	8. Roof Inspections
	Remedial Works
	Further surveys
	Timing of full replacement
	Premature renewal
	Sarking Felt
	Proposed Works

	9. Conclusions
	Appendix 1: Repayment Options Policy
	Appendix 2: Roof Condition Report
	Appendix 3: Schedule of Roof Survey data

	Appendix 2 - Draft Service Improvement Plan
	Appendix 3 - Suite of letters produced by Campbell Tickell
	IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER
	IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER
	IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER
	IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER
	IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER
	IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER
	IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER
	IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER
	IF YOU NEED TO, PLEASE CONTINUE ON A SEPARATE SHEET OF PAPER

	Appendix 4 - Impact Assessment

	11 House Project with Staffordshire County Council
	Appendix 1 TBC Equality Impact Assessment
	Appendix 2 SCC EQIA Phase 1 from Staffordshire County Council
	Appendix 3 SCC EQIA Phase 3 House Project with Staffordshire County Council
	Appendix 4 House Project Proposal  with Staffordshire County Council
	Appendix 5 Case Study House Project with Staffordshire County Council

	12 Update on Housing Repairs Contract
	Appendix 1 – ARK Consulting Report
	Appendix 2 – Equans contract proposals
	Appendix 3 – Community Impact Assessment

	13 Update on commercial Lease
	Appendix 1 - Community Impact Assessment


	Widget: April 2024


